
Notice of Meeting

Executive
Thursday 20 October 2016 at 5.00pm
in the Council Chamber, Council Offices,
Market Street, Newbury

Date of despatch of Agenda:  Wednesday, 12 October 2016

For further information about this Agenda, or to inspect any background documents 
referred to in Part I reports, please contact Democratic Services Team on (01635) 
519462
e-mail: executivecycle@westberks.gov.uk

Further information and Minutes are also available on the Council’s website at 
www.westberks.gov.uk 

Public Document Pack

http://www.westberks.gov.uk/


Agenda - Executive to be held on Thursday, 20 October 2016 (continued)

To: Councillors Dominic Boeck, Anthony Chadley, Jeanette Clifford, Hilary Cole, 
Roger Croft, Lynne Doherty, Marcus Franks, James Fredrickson, 
Graham Jones and Rick Jones

Agenda
Part I Pages

1.   Apologies for Absence
To receive apologies for inability to attend the meeting (if any).

2.   Minutes 7 - 14
To approve as a correct record the Minutes of the meeting of the 
Committee held on 8 September 2016.

3.   Declarations of Interest
To remind Members of the need to record the existence and nature of any 
Personal, Disclosable Pecuniary or other interests in items on the 
agenda, in accordance with the Members’ Code of Conduct.

4.   Public Questions
Members of the Executive to answer questions submitted by members of 
the public in accordance with the Executive Procedure Rules contained in 
the Council’s Constitution. 

(a)   Question submitted by Mr Jeffrey Kent to the Portfolio Holder for Culture 
and Environment  
“What is the target date for Padworth recycling tip to accept general rubbish 
and why does Padworth recycling tip not open before midday on weekdays?”

5.   Petitions
Councillors or members of the public may present any petition which they 
have received. These will normally be referred to the appropriate 
Committee without discussion.

Items as timetabled in the Forward Plan
Pages

6.   Library Service Proposals (EX3181) 15 - 134
(CSP: HQL1)
Purpose: To consider the recent Needs Assessment and proposals for 
the future shape of the Council’s Library Service by consultants 
RedQuadrant and approve public consultation.

http://info.westberks.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=38477&p=0


Agenda - Executive to be held on Thursday, 20 October 2016 (continued)

7.   Adoption of the Temporary Accommodation Strategy (EX3166) 135 - 150
(CSP: P&S)
Purpose: To approve and adopt the Temporary Accommodation Strategy. 

8.   Adoption of the Decant Policy (EX3168) 151 - 174
(CSP: P&S)
Purpose: To adopt the Decant Policy. 

9.   Joint Case Management Unit (EX3184) 175 - 182
(CSP: MEC & MEC1)
Purpose: To set out the rationale for a joint case management unit with 
Oxfordshire County Council and Royal Berkshire Fire and Rescue 
Authority and to seek the relevant delegated authority to enter into this 
arrangement.

10.   Berkshire Community Equipment Service Contract Award (EX3162a) 183 - 194
(CSP: P&S, MEC, P&S1, HQL1, MEC1)
Purpose: To inform the Executive of the intention to award a 5 year 
contract for the provision of the Berkshire Community Equipment Service 
commencing April 2017, with West Berkshire Council acting as Lead 
Authority under an existing S75 (NHS Act 2006) agreement on behalf of 
the 6 Berkshire Unitary Authorities and the 7 Berkshire Clinical 
Commissioning Groups.

11.   Contract Award – Complex Needs Service for Clients with a Learning 
Disability (EX3175a)

195 - 204

(CSP: P&S, P&S1)
Purpose: To inform Executive of the intention to award a contract for the 
complex needs learning disability service at Blagden Close Newbury.

12.   Members' Questions
Members of the Executive to answer questions submitted by Councillors 
in accordance with the Executive Procedure Rules contained in the 
Council’s Constitution.

(a) Question to be answered by the Portfolio Holder for Culture 
and Environment submitted by Councillor Alan Macro  
“When did the Executive Member become aware that there would be a delay in 
residents receiving their permits to use the West Berkshire waste and recycling 
sites?”

(b) Question to be answered by the Portfolio Holder for Culture 
and Environment submitted by Councillor Alan Macro  
“What was the total cost of producing and distributing the permits to use the 
waste and recycling sites?”



Agenda - Executive to be held on Thursday, 20 October 2016 (continued)

(c) Question to be answered by the Portfolio Holder for Culture 
and Environment submitted by Councillor Alan Macro  
“What progress has been made in expanding the Padworth recycling centre to 
take general household waste?”

(d) Question to be answered by the Portfolio Holder for Culture 
and Environment submitted by Councillor Alan Macro  
“How many residents pay for an additional green recycling bin?”

13.   Exclusion of Press and Public
RECOMMENDATION: That members of the press and public be excluded 
from the meeting during consideration of the following items as it is likely 
that there would be disclosure of exempt information of the description 
contained in the paragraphs of Schedule 12A of the Local Government 
Act 1972 specified in brackets in the heading of each item. Rule 8.10.4 of 
the Constitution refers.

Part II
14.   Berkshire Community Equipment Service Contract Award (EX3162b) 205 - 216

(Paragraph 3 – information relating to financial/business affairs of particular 
person)
(CSP: P&S, MEC, P&S1, HQL1, MEC1)
Purpose: To inform the Executive of the intention to award a 5 year 
contract for the provision of the Berkshire Community Equipment Service 
commencing April 2017, with West Berkshire Council acting as Lead 
Authority under an existing S75 (NHS Act 2006) agreement on behalf of 
the 6 Berkshire Unitary Authorities and the 7 Berkshire Clinical 
Commissioning Groups.

15.   Contract Award – Complex Needs Service for Clients with a Learning 
Disability (EX3175b)

217 - 228

(Paragraph 3 - information relating to financial/business affairs of particular 
person)
(CSP: P&S, P&S1)
Purpose: To inform Executive of the intention to award a contract for the 
complex needs learning disability service at Blagden Close Newbury.

Andy Day
Head of Strategic Support

West Berkshire Council Strategy Aims and Priorities
Council Strategy Aims:
BEC – Better educated communities
SLE – A stronger local economy
P&S – Protect and support those who need it
HQL – Maintain a high quality of life within our communities
MEC – Become an even more effective Council

http://decisionmaking.westberks.gov.uk/ecCatDisplay.aspx?sch=doc&cat=13206&path=13197
http://decisionmaking.westberks.gov.uk/ecCatDisplay.aspx?sch=doc&cat=13206&path=13197


Agenda - Executive to be held on Thursday, 20 October 2016 (continued)

Council Strategy Priorities:
BEC1 – Improve educational attainment
BEC2 – Close the educational attainment gap
SLE1 – Enable the completion of more affordable housing
SLE2 – Deliver or enable key infrastructure improvements in relation to roads, rail, flood 

prevention, regeneration and the digital economy
P&S1 – Good at safeguarding children and vulnerable adults
HQL1 – Support communities to do more to help themselves
MEC1 – Become an even more effective Council

If you require this information in a different format or translation, please contact 
Moira Fraser on telephone (01635) 519045.



This page is intentionally left blank



DRAFT
Note: These Minutes will remain DRAFT until approved at the next meeting of the Committee

EXECUTIVE
MINUTES OF THE MEETING HELD ON

THURSDAY 8 SEPTEMBER 2016
Councillors Present: Dominic Boeck, Jeanette Clifford, Hilary Cole, Roger Croft, 
Lynne Doherty, Marcus Franks, James Fredrickson, Graham Jones and Rick Jones

Also Present: Andy Day (Head of Strategic Support), Martin Dunscombe (Communications 
Manager), Melanie Ellis (Chief Accountant), Gary Lugg (Head of Planning & Countryside), 
Rachael Wardell (Corporate Director - Communities), Robert Alexander (Group Executive 
(Conservatives)), Stephen Chard (Policy Officer), Councillor Lee Dillon, Councillor Billy 
Drummond and Councillor Alan Macro

Apologies for inability to attend the meeting: Councillor Anthony Chadley

PART I
Councillor Roger Croft took the opportunity of welcoming two new Members to the 
Executive: Councillor Jeanette Clifford (new Portfolio Holder for Highways and Transport) 
and Councillor Rick Jones (new Portfolio Holder for Adult Social Care). The Portfolios of 
some of the other Executive Members had also been amended as recently publicised. 

37. Minutes
Councillor Roger Croft took the opportunity of welcoming two new Members to the 
Executive: Councillor Jeanette Clifford (new Portfolio Holder for Highways and Transport) 
and Councillor Rick Jones (new Portfolio Holder for Adult Social Care). The Portfolios of 
some of the other Executive Members had also been amended as recently publicised. 
The Minutes of the meetings held on 28 July 2016 were approved as a true and correct 
record and signed by the Leader, subject to the following amendment to the Minutes of 
the Special Executive:
Item 28 – Declarations of Interest – second paragraph - Councillor Lee Dillon 
declared an interest at this special meeting by virtue of the fact that he worked for 
Sovereign Housing Association. He determined to remain to take part in the debate on 
the matter but no mention should have been made to him voting on the matter as he was 
not eligible to vote. Reference to Councillor Dillon voting would therefore be removed. 

38. Declarations of Interest
Councillor Marcus Franks declared an interest should Sovereign Housing Association be 
referred to during debate on any of the agenda items by virtue of the fact that he was an 
employee of Sovereign, but reported that, as his interest was personal and not prejudicial 
or a disclosable pecuniary interest, he determined to remain to take part in the debate 
and vote on the matter.
Councillor Lee Dillon declared an interest should Sovereign Housing Association be 
referred to during debate on any of the agenda items by virtue of the fact that he was an 
employee of Sovereign, but reported that, as his interest was personal and not prejudicial 
or a disclosable pecuniary interest, he determined to remain to take part in the debate.

39. Public Questions
There were no public questions submitted.

Page 7

Agenda Item 2.



EXECUTIVE - 8 SEPTEMBER 2016 - MINUTES

40. Petitions
There were no petitions presented to the Executive. 

41. Council Performance Report 2016/17: Q1 (Key Accountable Measures 
and Activities) (EX3109)
The Executive considered a report (Agenda Item 6) concerning the quarter one outturns 
for the Key Accountable Measures which monitored performance against the 2016/17 
Council Performance Framework. The report sought to provide assurance that the 
objectives laid out in the Council Strategy and other areas of significance/importance 
across the Council were being delivered. The report also presented, by exception, those 
measures that were currently ‘amber’ and the remedial action being taken/its impact. 
Councillor Roger Croft reported that 80% of reported measures were rated ‘green’ (16 
measures) and were therefore on target to be achieved. The remaining 20% (4 
measures) were rated ‘amber’ and therefore required further work. 
Councillor Croft highlighted that the number of Jobseekers Allowance claimants aged 
between 16 and 24 was at its lowest point for a number of years with only 45 people in 
this age range claiming Jobseekers Allowance. Councillor Croft was hopeful that this 
level could be maintained. 
Members then commented on the measure to increase the number of West Berkshire 
premises able to receive Superfast Broadband services which was currently reporting 
‘amber’. Councillor Hilary Cole reported on the ongoing work in Chieveley by the 
contractor, Gigaclear, to deliver Superfast Broadband to residents and Councillor 
Dominic Boeck added his pleasure with the progress being made in the west of the 
District. 
Councillor Billy Drummond highlighted that improvement was needed in Greenham and 
Councillor Boeck confirmed that improvements in Greenham were part of Gigaclear’s 
programme. Councillor Croft added that Gigaclear’s programme was due to conclude 
within 2017. 
Councillor Lynne Doherty congratulated West Berkshire’s schools and pupils for the 
improvement made in educational attainment. West Berkshire’s GCSE and A Level 
results were above the national average. 
(Councillor Marcus Franks joined the meeting at 5.08pm). 
Councillor Alan Macro commended Officers in Housing Operations after their work had 
led to them being awarded the Silver Standard. 
Councillor Macro expressed disappointment that measures for Children and Family 
Services were not as yet available when this was an area of high priority. He noted that 
this was due to the focus given to supporting the safeguarding peer review, but this was 
conducted in mid July 2016. Councillor Macro requested that this information be provided 
as soon as it had been finalised, rather then waiting until the Quarter Two report was 
provided to the Executive. Councillor Doherty advised that Quarter One performance in 
Children and Family Services would be reported to the Corporate Parenting Panel and 
agreed that this information would be made public/available to Members at that time. 
Councillor Macro then pointed out that data was not available for another area of 
challenge, the measure for Delayed Transfers of Care (DTOC). Councillor Rick Jones 
responded by explaining that performance data in this area would be available prior to 
the Quarter Two report and agreed that this information would be shared as soon as 
possible. Councillor Graham Jones added that performance in this area fluctuated but 
was being managed with the NHS. 

Page 8



EXECUTIVE - 8 SEPTEMBER 2016 - MINUTES

Councillor Macro referred to the point made in the report that the additional work required 
on the Housing Site Allocations Development Plan Document (DPD) would delay its 
adoption by approximately six months. He therefore echoed the concern noted in the 
report that this delay could create problems achieving the five year land supply and 
potentially the risk of planning by appeal. Councillor Macro questioned therefore whether 
the adoption of the DPD could be considered as a ‘green’ indicator. 
In response, Councillor Hilary Cole explained that the ‘homework’ required on the DPD 
by the Planning Inspector had been completed. This would reduce the delay in adopting 
the DPD. In terms of the five year land supply, Councillor Cole confirmed that this supply 
was assured at the present time following the recent decision of the District Planning 
Committee to approve two outline planning applications for preferred sites in the DPD. 
Councillor Croft added the view that while the target date to adopt the DPD of December 
2016 was tight, it could still be achieved as the Planning Inspector was due to report back 
to the Council in November 2016. 
Councillor Lee Dillon was pleased to note the many areas of progress within the report. 
He did however have some queries to raise. 
The average number of days to make a full decision on new benefit claims and on 
changes in a benefit claimant’s circumstances had increased and Councillor Dillon was 
concerned at the impact this delay could have on the lives of residents. The indicator that 
sought to maintain the time within which Discretionary Housing Payment (DHP) claims 
were determined was also reported as ‘amber’. The exception reports for these 
measures highlighted that reducing resources were a contributing factor with staff 
sickness and vacancies during the first quarter, and that work would take place to review 
these targets and potentially propose alternatives. Councillor Dillon noted these points 
but queried what action could be taken to ensure claims were assessed more quickly. 
Councillor James Fredrickson advised that the delays to assessing benefit claims were 
minimal, but agreed that any delay was a matter of importance for the residents 
concerned. The ‘amber’ performance was a combination of increased demand and, as 
mentioned, sickness absence/vacancies, but Councillor Fredrickson provided assurance 
that recruitment in this area was at an advanced stage. The review of targets would 
involve a comparison with the thresholds set by other local authorities for their 
performance measures in this area of activity. 
Councillor Fredrickson continued by explaining that delays in assessing DHP claims, 
another area where it was vital to minimise waiting times, was also due to reducing hours 
of a team member and sickness absence. However, recruitment was in process and this 
was seen as a short term ‘blip’. 
Councillor Dillon was also disappointed to note that the completion of affordable housing 
was below an average annual or quarterly level required to deliver 1000 affordable 
homes by 2020. Councillor Dillon noted that an action plan would be developed to focus 
on ways to enable this target to be achieved and asked when this would be completed. In 
response, Councillor Cole was pleased to report that 30 affordable homes would soon be 
occupied within Parkway and added that the action plan was being 
progressed/implemented. 
Councillor Dillon referred to the ‘homework’ set by the Planning Inspector for the DPD 
and queried what further work could have been done prior to submitting the DPD to 
lessen the amount of ‘homework’. Councillor Cole explained that much of the ‘homework’ 
involved signposting the Planning Inspector through the detailed and high level 
documents provided to support the DPD. The requirement for public consultation referred 

Page 9



EXECUTIVE - 8 SEPTEMBER 2016 - MINUTES

to in the report, on the back of the ‘homework’ information provided, would be conducted 
by the Planning Inspector. 
Councillor Dillon concluded his points by praising the activity of the Corporate 
Programme Board. The activity of this Board would look to progress the Council Strategy 
aim to become a more effective Council and Councillor Dillon felt this was a positive 
approach.
Councillor Graham Jones made the point that the Council set itself ambitious targets, but 
the fact that these targets were stretching meant that not all targets would be achieved. 
An example of this was provision of affordable homes and further work was taking place 
to improve performance in this area of high importance. 
Councillor Fredrickson highlighted that record numbers were accessing services via the 
Council’s website and he gave thanks to Officers in Communications, Customer Services 
and ICT for their help in achieving this and making key services easy to access. 
RESOLVED that:
 progress made against the Council Strategy Priorities for improvement be noted and 

achievements celebrated.
 those areas reporting as ‘amber’ were reviewed to ensure that appropriate action 

was in place. 
Reason for the decision: To note quarter one outturns against the Key Accountable 
Measures contained in the 2016/17 Council Performance Framework and any additional 
performance intelligence.
To provide assurance to Members that the Strategic Priorities laid out in the Council 
Strategy and other areas of significance / importance across the council (core business) 
are being delivered.
To note those measures/milestones behind schedule or not achieved and remedial action 
taken/its impact, to allow the scrutiny and approval of the corrective or remedial action 
put in place.
Other options considered: None

42. Financial Performance Report 2016/17 - Quarter One (EX3135)
The Executive considered a report (Agenda Item 7) concerning the latest financial 
performance of the Council. 
Councillor Roger Croft presented the report and firstly highlighted the recommendation 
for the Executive to transfer, in line with Financial Regulations, £657k from Care 
Commissioning, Housing and Safeguarding to Adult Social Care (ASC).
At Quarter One, the forecast revenue position was an overspend of £1.28m against a net 
budget of £116.8m. This was a matter of some concern and significant effort would be 
given to reducing this deficit during the course of the financial year. 
The majority of the overspend was attributed to the Communities Directorate which was 
forecasting an overspend of £1.033m. £996k of this related to ASC and was as a result of 
an increase in client numbers and the complexity of their needs, together with an upward 
trend in the cost of commissioning nursing and residential care services. Councillor Croft 
pointed out that a risk reserve of £1.1m had been set aside at the start of the financial 
year to allow for unforeseen pressures such as these on the ASC budget. It might 
therefore prove necessary for this risk reserve to be utilised, but Councillor Croft 
reiterated that efforts would firstly be made to reduce the deficit. 

Page 10



EXECUTIVE - 8 SEPTEMBER 2016 - MINUTES

Children and Family Services (CFS) were forecasting an overspend of £37k due to 
pressure on the Adoption Panel Joint Arrangement. This pressure could be met from the 
£500k risk reserve set up for unforeseen costs in CFS. 
An overspend of £259k was also being forecast in Legal Services due to cost pressures 
as a result of the London Road Industrial Estate (LRIE) procurement challenge and 
pressure on fee income. The Legal Services risk reserve of £50k could be used to help 
offset this pressure, but the Council was also looking to reclaim its costs from the LRIE 
judicial review. 
Councillor Croft also took the opportunity to highlight that the Council’s 2015/16 financial 
statements had been approved with no significant issues raised by the Council’s external 
auditors (KPMG). 
Councillor Alan Macro referred to the point made that the ASC overspend was partly due 
to an increase in client numbers. However, Councillor Macro pointed out that increases 
had occurred on many occasions in recent years and queried whether more accurate 
forecasting was needed. He also made the point that the ASC risk reserve had been 
used to support CFS budgets in recent years and this could not be the case in 2016/17 
due to the ASC pressures. 
Rachael Wardell explained that the ASC risk reserve had been formed to help manage 
volatile areas and the majority of items contributing to the overspend were of that type. 
Therefore the risk reserve could be used for this purpose if necessary. 
Councillor Lynne Doherty acknowledged that pressures in CFS had been offset in 
previous years by the ASC risk reserve, but CFS had its own reserve making this action 
unnecessary. She did however add that areas of pressure previously experienced, i.e. 
agency spend, was being well managed. 
Councillor Macro then queried the level of confidence in reclaiming the costs incurred 
from defending the LRIE judicial review. Councillor James Fredrickson explained that a 
timeframe had been established for recouping costs and the first instalment of £70k had 
been received. 
Councillor Macro’s final query related to the £44k pressure in Culture and Environmental 
Protection and whether this was accurate when considering that the savings identified for 
the Library Service for 2016/17 could not be realised when the service was continuing 
pending the outcome of the needs assessment. Councillor Dominic Boeck pointed out 
that transitional funding had been allocated to the Library Service for 2016/17. 
Councillor Lee Dillon noted that £6.6m of capital expenditure would be re-profiled into 
2017/18 and queried whether this could relieve in year revenue budget pressures from 
reduced revenue contributions to capital. Councillor Croft felt that the impact of this re-
profiling on the revenue budget would be minimal, but agreed to provide a written answer 
on this point. 
Councillor Macro pointed out a typographical error in the supporting information (within 
paragraph 1.19(4)). ‘Theale Green Primary School’ needed to be amended to ‘Theale 
Church of England Primary School’. 
RESOLVED that the transfer of £657k from Care Commissioning, Housing and 
Safeguarding to Adult Social Care be approved, as detailed in paragraph 5.8 of the report 
and in line with Financial Regulations.
Reason for the decision: To inform Members of the latest financial performance of the 
Council.
Other options considered: None.

Page 11



EXECUTIVE - 8 SEPTEMBER 2016 - MINUTES

43. Treasury Management Annual Report 2015/16 (EX3160)
The Executive considered a report (Agenda Item 8) which provided information on 
treasury management activity and performance of the Council’s investments for the 
2015/16 financial year.
Councillor Roger Croft referred to the good work conducted by the cross party Treasury 
Management Group to scrutinise and review the Council’s investments and borrowing, 
and to ensure that treasury activities continued in line with the approved Treasury 
Management Strategy. 
The average level of funds invested by the Council in 2015/16 (net of short term 
borrowing) was £12.3m. The Council earned total interest on its investments of around 
0.9%. 
Councillor Croft added that a discount of £293k had been achieved on West Berkshire’s 
contributions to the Berkshire Pension Fund by paying contributions in advance. 
Councillor Lee Dillon formed part of the cross party group and commented that the report 
gave a true reflection of treasury management activity for 2015/16. He felt that an area of 
work for the Treasury Management Group moving forward was the action that could be 
taken forward in terms of investment etc on a Berkshire wide basis. Councillor Croft 
agreed this would be a sensible approach. 
Councillor Alan Macro referred to the fact that in general Council Tax was paid over ten 
months of the year, however residents had the option to spread payments over the full 
year and Councillor Macro queried whether this would aid cash flow and, if so, take up 
should be encouraged. Councillor Croft felt that the impact of this would be minimal but 
agreed that the Portfolio Holder for Finance would be asked to take this forward via the 
Treasury Management Group. 
RESOLVED that the report be noted.
Reason for the decision: To inform Members of the treasury management activity and 
performance of the Council’s investments for the 2015/16 financial year.
Other options considered: None

44. Members' Questions
A full transcription of the public and Member question and answer sessions are available 
from the following link: Transcription of Q&As. (right click on link and ‘Edit Hyperlink’. 
Insert URL to pdf on website in ‘address’ field)
(a) Question to be answered by the Portfolio Holder for Corporate Services and 

External Affairs submitted by Councillor Alan Macro
A question standing in the name of Councillor Alan Macro on the subject of the legal and 
professional fees incurred to date on the project to develop the London Road Industrial 
Estate was answered by the Portfolio Holder for Corporate Services and External Affairs.
(b) Question to be answered by the Portfolio Holder for Highways and Transport 

submitted by Councillor Alan Macro
A question standing in the name of Councillor Alan Macro on the subject of how often the 
number plate recognition camera monitoring the Parkway Bridge had not been working 
was answered by the Portfolio Holder for Highways and Transport.

Page 12

http://www.westberks.gov.uk/


EXECUTIVE - 8 SEPTEMBER 2016 - MINUTES

(c) Question to be answered by the Portfolio Holder for Planning and Housing 
submitted by Councillor Lee Dillon

A question standing in the name of Councillor Lee Dillon on the subject of the anticipated 
percentage of affordable housing units at the Market Street redevelopment was 
answered by the Portfolio Holder for Planning and Housing.
(d) Question to be answered by the Portfolio Holder for Planning and Housing 

submitted by Councillor Lee Dillon
A question standing in the name of Councillor Lee Dillon on the subject of the acceptable 
level of profit for developers when considering viability assessments was answered by 
the Portfolio Holder for Planning and Housing.
(e) Question to be answered by the Portfolio Holder for Planning and Housing 

submitted by Councillor Lee Dillon
A question standing in the name of Councillor Lee Dillon on the subject of whether sites 
had been secured for additional temporary accommodation units was answered by the 
Portfolio Holder for Planning and Housing.
(f) Question to be answered by the Portfolio Holder for Community Resilience 

and Partnerships submitted by Councillor Lee Dillon
A question standing in the name of Councillor Lee Dillon on the subject of plans to 
support smaller towns in the District was answered by the Portfolio Holder for Community 
Resilience and Partnerships. 

45. Approved Provider List (APL) Intention to Award Contract
Prior to excluding the press and public and entering into the Part II debate on this item, 
Councillor Roger Croft explained that he had asked Officers in future to split exempt 
reports to enable public debate in Part I where possible prior to commencing private 
discussions in Part II. Councillor Alan Macro welcomed this approach. 
Councillor Croft then presented information which related to the Part II item on the 
agenda (Agenda Item 11) but which could be made public. 
West Berkshire Council currently operated an Approved Provider List (APL) for 
Domiciliary Care Services for adults either delivered to people in their own home or 
accompanying people to other locations as specified in the Service User’s Care Plan. 
The full scope of the required care was defined in the Service User’s Care Plan but might 
include the following elements:

 Domiciliary/Home care
 Personal care
 Live in care
 End of life care
 Reablement/Enablement

There was a requirement to renew the APL as the old one was due to expire in March 
2017. The Council, like may other councils, was finding it difficult to recruit and retain 
carers, and it was hoped therefore that the new APL would enable new providers to 
come forward to provide services in what was a challenging market.
Councillor Croft added that he wanted to share the basis of the report in public so as to 
be open and transparent but given that there were commercially sensitive matters set out 
in the report these would be considered by the Executive this evening in Part II.  

Page 13



EXECUTIVE - 8 SEPTEMBER 2016 - MINUTES

46. Exclusion of Press and Public
RESOLVED that members of the press and public be excluded from the meeting for the 
under-mentioned item of business on the grounds that it involves the likely disclosure of 
exempt information as contained in Paragraph 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Local 
Government Act 1972, as amended by the Local Government (Access to 
Information)(Variation) Order 2006. Rule 8.10.4 of the Constitution also refers.

47. Approved Provider List (APL) Intention to Award Contract
(Paragraph 3 - information relating to financial/business affairs of particular person)
The Executive considered an exempt report (Agenda Item 11) which outlined the 
intention to award a framework contract for the Adult Social Care Domiciliary Care 
Approved Provider Framework. It was proposed that a three year framework agreement 
would commence in autumn 2016. 
RESOLVED that the recommendations in the exempt report be agreed.
Reason for the decision: as set out in the exempt report. 
Other options considered: as set out in the exempt report. 

(The meeting commenced at 5.00pm and closed at 5.55pm)

CHAIRMAN …………………………………………….
Date of Signature …………………………………………….

Page 14

http://www.opsi.gov.uk/si/si2006/20060088.htm
http://www.opsi.gov.uk/si/si2006/20060088.htm
http://decisionmaking.westberks.gov.uk/ecCatDisplay.aspx?sch=doc&cat=13206&path=13197


West Berkshire Council Executive 20 October 2016

Library Service Proposals
Committee considering 
report: Executive

Date of Committee: 20 October 2016
Portfolio Member: Councillor Dominic Boeck
Date Portfolio Member 
agreed report: 11 October 2016

Report Author: Mike Brook
Forward Plan Ref: EX3181

1. Purpose of the Report

1.1 To consider the recent Needs Assessment and proposals for the future shape of the 
Council’s Library Service by consultants RedQuadrant and approve public 
consultation.

2. Recommendations

2.1 Executive note the three options suggested by RedQuadrant regarding the future 
shape of the library service and that they be put to the public in accordance with the 
Council’s usual consultation policy and that consultation should take place 
simultaneously with the publication of the Needs Assessment report to inform 
responses from stakeholders.  

3. Implications

3.1 Financial: Efficiency savings have been identified which achieve 
within the region of £250k by retaining Newbury Library 
with reduced staffing, closing Wash Common library, 
merging the two mobile libraries and retaining a further 7 
branches with different options for reduced staffing.  
Opportunities to increase income through a charge for 
book reservations and extra room hire could offer potential 
savings of up to £30k, but this is not easy to predict and is 
dependent on issues around take-up and building security. 
The indicative savings figures given in this report all 
assume contributions from parish/town councils in the 
region of £150k in total.
It is considered that the target saving of £690k is unlikely to 
be realised in full.
Option A provides reduced staffing at branch libraries with 
volunteers replacing half the staff, achieving an estimated 
total saving of £580k.
Option B provides a “hub and spoke” network with reduced 
staffing and volunteers replacing half the staff at two 
branches, and the remaining five branches run by 

Page 15

Agenda Item 6.



Library Service Proposals

West Berkshire Council Executive 20 October 2016

volunteers with no day to day paid staffing on site, with an 
estimated total saving of £620k.
Option C replaces all staff in the seven branches with 
volunteers, with an estimated total saving of £645k.

3.2 Policy: The Council remains committed to meeting its statutory 
responsibilities under the relevant legislation, the Public 
Library and Museum Act 1964 and the Public Sector 
Equality Duty in the Equality Act 2010.

3.3 Personnel: All options will include a need for a number of 
redundancies.

3.4 Legal: The provision of a “comprehensive and efficient service” is 
a requirement of the Public Library and Museums Act 
1964.  All three options suggested by RedQuadrant carry 
potential risks of challenge of varying degrees.  There will 
be a loss of staff which may give rise to redundancies and 
will need to be carefully handled. Service level agreements 
with local communities would need careful drafting in order 
to maintain the Council’s statutory duties.)

3.5 Risk Management: Risk of community groups not coming forward to provide 
volunteer support at branch libraries.
Risk of parish/town councils not providing financial 
contributions.

3.6 Property: All options involve the closure of one branch library at 
Wash Common.

3.7 Other:

4. Other options considered

4.1 The scale of savings required means that continuing to run our libraries the way we 
do now is not a viable option. 

4.2 This paper contains 3 options for the transformation of the library service. 

Page 16



Library Service Proposals

West Berkshire Council Executive 20 October 2016

5. Executive Summary

5.1 In order to make savings of up to £690k pa from the Libraries revenue budget, the 
Council commissioned library consultants RedQuadrant to conduct a Needs 
Assessment and report on how the Council could retain a legally compliant library 
service which meets community needs.

5.2 RedQuadrant were also asked to provide guidance on options for the future shape 
of the library service to achieve savings whilst maintaining compliance with the Act. 

5.3 A Project Board provided oversight during the process and considered options 
identified by the consultants for the reshaping of the service.  It is unlikely that the 
full target saving of £690k can be delivered.  The strengths and risks of each of the 
three options are detailed in the supporting information at 5.1. 

5.4 The Needs Assessment considered demographic and performance data which 
showed the extent to which West Berkshire’s libraries are currently meeting the 
needs of communities, including data used by the service in drawing up initial 
savings proposals prior to the Revenue Support Grant decision of December 2015.

5.5 The consultants agreed with the earlier savings proposals relating to efficiencies 
around the reduction of staffing at Newbury library and the reduction of the two 
mobile libraries into one.  They further suggested the Council seek financial 
contributions from parish and town councils, especially in view of the fact that they 
have shown a strong will to support their local library.

5.6 Having analysed the needs, the consultants identified four options for the future 
direction of the library service. 

(1) Closure of a majority of libraries.  This option did not give details of 
which libraries should close or of how the target saving could be 
achieved.  It carried a strong warning that this option would leave the 
Council exposed to challenge.

(2) Reduced staffing at branch libraries with volunteers replacing half the 
staff.

(3) A “hub and spoke” network, with reduced staffing at two branches with 
volunteers replacing half the staff, and with volunteers replacing all staff 
at five branches.

(4) Volunteers replacing all staff at seven branch libraries

All options assume streamlining of staffing at the centre and at Newbury 
Library, closure of Wash Common library, a reduction from two mobile 
libraries to one vehicle, and increased income generation.

Options 2, 3 and 4 assume an annual financial contribution to Libraries by 
parish/town councils in the region of £150k.

6. Conclusion

6.1 This report recommends that Executive note the options for re-shaping the library 
service and the estimated savings.

Page 17



Library Service Proposals

West Berkshire Council Executive 20 October 2016

6.2 That public consultation be undertaken on these options, in accordance with the 
Council’s consultation policy.

6.3 This report notes that Project Board believes it is unlikely that the full target saving 
of £690k can be achieved.

7. Appendices

7.1 Appendix A - Supporting Information

7.2 Appendix B – Equalities Impact Assessment

7.3 Appendix C – West Berkshire Libraries Needs Assessment

Page 18



West Berkshire Council Executive 20 October 2016

Appendix A

Library Service Proposals – Supporting 
Information

1. Introduction/Background

1.1 The provision of a local authority library is covered by statute, the Libraries and 
Museum Act 1964 (the Act) which requires the provision of a comprehensive and 
efficient service.  Despite being over 50 years old this piece of legislation still 
applies today.

1.2 Since 2012 the Library Service’s Net Revenue budget has been reduced from 
£1,809k to £1,576k.  A staff restructure of branch libraries took place in 2014,

1.3 Subsequently, in anticipation of the need for further savings, the service considered 
performance data and the needs in West Berkshire’s communities.  Key elements of 
the work included consideration of the network of branch libraries, the mobile 
service and staffing within central support and at Newbury Library.

1.4 During 2015/16 the 3 year savings target was amalgamated into one year to meet 
greater savings needs.  The Revenue Support Grant provision announced in 
December 2015 increased the savings need within library services to £690k in 
2016/17. To meet these savings, a reduction in the library service was proposed 
including closing all branch and mobile libraries except for Newbury. 

1.5 There was a high level of response to the public consultation a majority of which 
was in objection to the proposal. The Department of Culture, Media and Sport 
(DCMS) also contacted the Council expressing their concerns and advised that a 
more detailed Needs Assessment would be expected to support a proposal of this 
level. The Council decided to commission a fuller, externally led Needs Assessment 
to advise on ways to re-shape the service to make savings whilst remaining 
compliant with the legislation.

2. The Needs Assessment Process

2.1 RedQuadrant, a consultancy which is active in the library field, was commissioned 
to carry out the Needs Assessment.  This assessment analysed demographic data 
and performance statistics from the existing library service to determine the needs 
of each community across the district.  In addition to the Needs Assessment, 
RedQuadrant were also asked to assist with options for a transformed service that 
made savings whilst remaining compliant with the Act and accordingly reducing the 
likelihood of challenge against the Council for reducing the library service.

2.2 The Council continued to receive correspondence from the community following the 
public consultation exercise, some of it indicating a strong interest in working with 
the Council to retain branch libraries. As part of the Needs Assessment 
RedQuadrant engaged with community groups and parish/town councils through a 
meeting.

Page 19



Library Service Proposals – Supporting Information

West Berkshire Council Executive 20 October 2016

2.3 A Project Board provided oversight during the Needs Assessment process and 
considered the options for a new library service.

2.4 Project Board concluded that, whilst significant savings are achievable, it is unlikely 
that the full target saving of £690k can be delivered.

3. Supporting Information – Future Options for Service Delivery

3.1 The Council recently conducted two public consultations about its library service.  In 
Autumn 2015 the public were consulted on a proposal to close Burghfield Common 
library and one mobile library.  In February 2016 they were consulted on a proposal 
to close eight branches and one mobile library, thus retaining the central library at 
Newbury.  

3.2 Now that there are new proposals, a further public consultation is required in 
accordance with the Council’s consultation policy to give all stakeholders an 
opportunity to see the details of the proposals and to comment. 

3.3 The level of savings for each option assumes implementation of efficiency savings.  
They include streamlining the way the frontline service is offered at Newbury Library 
and reorganising the mobile service into a single vehicle.  These actions should 
deliver a saving in the region of £230k.

3.4 The proposed levels of savings attributed to each option assume that parish/town 
councils, who have generally shown strong interest in maintaining their local library, 
will be prepared to make an annual financial contribution to support the service.  
The total of these contributions is assessed at the present stage as contributing 
about £150k in total to the saving.

4. Options for Consideration

4.1 Options for the future make efficiency savings by  a reduction to one mobile library,  
streamlining staffing at Newbury library, closing Wash Common library and seeking 
increased income.

4.2 The consultants acknowledged the willingness of parish and town councils to 
support their local library, and calculated that a financial contribution from councils 
with a library in their area could deliver at least £150k towards achieving the 
Council’s target saving.

4.3 On top of these economies and contributions, they identified four options for making 
savings, a choice between closing libraries or running them in a different way.

4.4 One option would require closure of a number of libraries.  This option contains 
serious risk of challenge and does not move the Council forward sufficiently from 
the position which was consulted on in February.  This option is rejected.  The 
remaining three options suggest that all branch libraries remain open, except Wash 
Common, but be run with reduced staffing and the use of volunteers from 
community groups.

4.5 Libraries run by volunteers would need to be under direction of a local community 
group, with support from the Council including stock, training and advice.  It should 
be remembered that the support from the Council must enable the Council to prove 

Page 20



Library Service Proposals – Supporting Information

West Berkshire Council Executive 20 October 2016

their accountability for the service provided in order for that library to be considered 
part of the statutory duty.

4.6 Libraries run by volunteers would require a service level agreement to clarify both 
the core library service offer to be delivered and the Council’s support for the library.  
The service level agreement should cover a period of about 3 years.

5. Proposals

5.1 The following table sets out the merits of each of three options identified in the 
Needs Assessment for managing branch libraries.  This table includes an estimated 
saving for each option;

Options

A.   50% Reduced Staffing in Branch Libraries.

Eight static libraries retained, Wash Common closed

Newbury Library run by paid staff

Seven branch libraries run by paid staff, assisted by volunteers, with 
their staffing reduced by half.

Benefits

Minimum risk of legal challenge

Retained staff expertise in all libraries and thus much reduced chance of 
reputational damage to the Council. 

Maximum sustainability and scope to extend services through libraries as 
the Council’s front door.

Responsive to stakeholder feedback from recent public consultation and 
engagement

Risks

Full savings target not achieved (estimated £580k).

Community groups may be less attracted to this model, as it may frustrate 
their ambitions to influence and run their local library.

Increased pressure on branch staff to deliver services if volunteers are not 
forthcoming or are not retained.

B.   Hub and Spoke Library Network

Eight static libraries retained, Wash Common closed

Newbury Library run by paid staff

Two “hub” branches run by staff, assisted by volunteers, with their 

Page 21



Library Service Proposals – Supporting Information

West Berkshire Council Executive 20 October 2016

staffing reduced by half.

Five “spoke” libraries run by volunteers, with appropriate support 
from a Libraries Team, but with no paid staff present day to day.

Strengths

Provides a hub library in the West and East of district.

Allows distribution of staff to East, West and Centre of the district.

More flexibility than Option C to manage resilience issues.

Achieves greater savings than Option A.  (estimated £620k)

Blends staff expertise and volunteer enthusiasm.

Risks

Potential risk of challenge to service offer in the five spoke libraries.

Risk of challenge if the Council’s agreed support is not fully provided or is 
seen not to be fully provided.

Service level agreements would need to be in place with community 
groups at spoke libraries to clarify the responsibilities of all parties and to 
cover sustainability issues, including “what happens?” when volunteers 
don’t fulfil their responsibilities.

Reduced level of expertise in customer service across five libraries.

Community groups may be less attracted to this model than Option C.

C.   Seven branches fully volunteer run   

Eight static libraries retained, Wash Common closed

Newbury Library run by paid staff

Seven branches run by volunteers, with appropriate support from a 
Libraries Team, but with no paid staff present day-to-day.

Strengths

A greater financial saving (estimated £645k)

Local community groups and councils may find this model attractive

Risks

Higher risk of challenge.

Risk of challenge if the Council’s agreed support is not fully provided or is 
seen not to be fully provided.

Page 22



Library Service Proposals – Supporting Information

West Berkshire Council Executive 20 October 2016

Service level agreements would need to be in place with community 
groups at spoke libraries to clarify the responsibilities of all parties and to 
cover sustainability issues, including “what happens?” when volunteers 
don’t fulfil their responsibilities.

Reduced level of expertise in customer service across seven libraries.

Less opportunity for extra services to be delivered through libraries.

5.2 As stated above at 4.1 and 4.2, as well as assuming the adoption of efficiency 
measures, all the Options rely on financial contributions from parish and town 
councils to help achieve the target savings.  Engagement before and during the 
Needs Assessment process would indicate willingness among parishes to support 
their library. 

6. Conclusion

6.1 The Library service is a statutory service within the provisions of the Libraries and 
Museums Act 1964.  The Act defines this as providing a comprehensive and 
efficient service.   

6.2 A Needs Assessment provides an analysis of community needs to inform proposals 
to change service provision.

6.3 There are a number of efficiency measures that can be introduced immediately and 
these are estimated to achieve in the region of £250k without affecting compliance 
with the Act.

6.4 To achieve the estimated savings, these options rely both on frontline work by 
volunteers and financial contributions from parish/town councils.  Accordingly they 
do come with the risk of ongoing resilience to frontline operations and the chance of 
not securing the assumed level of financial support from councils

6.5 All of the options propose a change to the frontline service and accordingly should 
be subject to public consultation.

7. Consultation and Engagement

7.1 RedQuadrant engaged with stakeholders but did not carry out any formal 
consultation.  

7.2 They held a meeting to which Friends of Libraries groups and representatives of 
Parish and Town Councils with a static library were invited.

7.3 A drop-in event was held in all 9 static libraries to encourage anyone from the 
community to call in and speak to a consultant.  People who could not attend these 
sessions were invited to contact RedQuadrant by email or hand in written 
comments.

Page 23



Library Service Proposals – Supporting Information

West Berkshire Council Executive 20 October 2016

Subject to Call-In:
Yes:  No:  
The item is due to be referred to Council for final approval
Delays in implementation could have serious financial implications for the Council
Delays in implementation could compromise the Council’s position
Considered or reviewed by Overview and Scrutiny Management Commission or 
associated Task Groups within preceding six months
Item is Urgent Key Decision
Report is to note only

Wards affected:
Whole district.
Strategic Aims and PrioritiesSupported:
The proposals contained in this report will help to achieve the following Council Strategy 
priority:

HQL1 – Support communities to do more to help themselves
Officer details:
Name: Mike Brook
Job Title: Library Service Manager
Tel No: 503672
E-mail Address: mike.brook@westberks.gov.uk

Page 24

mailto:mike.brook@westberks.gov.uk


Library Service Proposals – Supporting Information

West Berkshire Council Executive 20 October 2016

Appendix B
Equality Impact Assessment – Stage One

We need to ensure that our strategies, polices, functions and services, current and 
proposed have given due regard to equality and diversity.  

Please complete the following questions to determine whether a Stage 2, Equality 
Impact Assessment is required.

Name of policy, strategy or function: Library Service Restructure

Version and release date of item (if 
applicable):

Owner of item being assessed: Mike Brook

Name of assessor: Mike Brook

Date of assessment: 31.08.2016

Is this a: Is this:

Policy No New or proposed No

Strategy No Already exists and is being 
reviewed Yes

Function No Is changing Yes

Service Yes

1. What are the main aims, objectives and intended outcomes of the policy, 
strategy function or service and who is likely to benefit from it?

Aims: To achieve a saving of up to £690k

Objectives: To achieve the savings and retain a legally compliant 
library service that is comprehensive and efficient and 
which meets the public sector equality duty

Outcomes: Transition library service to a hub and spoke structure 
with reduced staffing and increased use of volunteers

Benefits: Financial saving

2. Note which groups may be affected by the policy, strategy, function or 
service.  Consider how they may be affected, whether it is positively or 
negatively and what sources of information have been used to determine 
this.

(Please demonstrate consideration of all strands – Age, Disability, Gender 
Reassignment, Marriage and Civil Partnership, Pregnancy and Maternity, Race, 
Religion or Belief, Sex and Sexual Orientation.)

Page 25



Library Service Proposals – Supporting Information

West Berkshire Council Executive 20 October 2016

Group 
Affected What might be the effect? Information to support this

Older people, 
children and 
families

Loss of service where a library 
fails would impact more on older 
people, who often rely on their 
library for social interaction, and 
on families, who source cheap 
and accessible activities at the 
library. 

Library Drop-in sessions and 
previous consultations have 
found that local libraries 
contribute to health and 
wellbeing and combat social 
isolation and loneliness.  
Families with young children 
often rely on opportunities 
delivered by the service.

Households 
without IT

Loss of service would impact 
more on families reliant on their 
library for IT access, either for 
homework, access to 
government services and 
general information

In a generally wealthy area, 
West Berkshire has some small 
pockets of high need and 
deprivation.  Lack of a PC at 
home is a disadvantage to 
children and families, and still 
often to older people who 
would suffer from the removal 
of a soft learning environment 
to learn about IT.

Further Comments relating to the item:

The proposal does not envisage closure of libraries, but the new model for the service 
includes a risk that libraries which no longer have staff may 

a) fail to deliver because a suitable community group does not come forward to 
run the service

b) suffer interruptions to service if volunteer scheduling arrangements fail on 
specific days

3. Result 

Are there any aspects of the policy, strategy, function or service, 
including how it is delivered or accessed, that could contribute to 
inequality?

Yes

Please provide an explanation for your answer:
Reliance on volunteers to provide the day to day service in the majority of 
libraries could lead to less fair treatment of some groups of customers.  This 
would be mitigated by effective recruitment and training of volunteers

Will the policy, strategy, function or service have an adverse impact 
upon the lives of people, including employees and service users? Yes

Please provide an explanation for your answer:
Employment opportunities will be greatly reduced by the removal of paid staff 
from the majority of libraries and the reduction in staffing levels at other 
libraries.

Page 26



Library Service Proposals – Supporting Information

West Berkshire Council Executive 20 October 2016

Staff who retain a post should be energised by the new service, but it is also 
very possible they could become overworked and de-motivated if the process of 
culture change is not handled sympathetically.

If your answers to question 2 have identified potential adverse impacts and you 
have answered ‘yes’ to either of the sections at question 3, or you are unsure about 
the impact, then you should carry out a Stage 2 Equality Impact Assessment.

If a Stage Two Equality Impact Assessment is required, before proceeding you 
should discuss the scope of the Assessment with service managers in your area.  
You will also need to refer to the Equality Impact Assessment guidance and Stage 
Two template.

4. Identify next steps as appropriate:

Stage Two required Yes

Owner of Stage Two assessment: Mike Brook

Timescale for Stage Two assessment:

Stage Two not required:

Name:    Mike Brook Date:   31.08.2016

Please now forward this completed form to Rachel Craggs, the Principal Policy 
Officer (Equality and Diversity) for publication on the WBC website.

Page 27



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 28



 

 

West Berkshire Libraries: 

Needs assessment  

 

 

September 2016 

 
© RedQuadrant 2016 
 

Photos by Wendy Crosson-Smith 

Page 29



 

2 
 

Contents 

Executive summary .................................................................................................................... 4 

Introduction ............................................................................................................................... 5 

1 Background: the value of libraries .......................................................................................... 6 

1.1 The Libraries Taskforce .................................................................................................... 7 

1.2 Universal Offers ............................................................................................................... 7 

2 Background: meeting residents’ needs .................................................................................. 9 

2.1 Understanding the impact of libraries on needs ............................................................. 9 

3 West Berkshire: library service aims and objectives ............................................................ 12 

4 West Berkshire: needs assessment ...................................................................................... 14 

4.1 What we did ................................................................................................................... 14 

4.2 Financial summary: value for money appraisal ............................................................. 14 

4.3 Demographic summary .................................................................................................. 17 

4.4 Use of libraries ............................................................................................................... 19 

4.5 What people told us ....................................................................................................... 22 

4.5.1 Users ........................................................................................................................... 22 

4.5.2 Staff ............................................................................................................................. 23 

4.5.3 Partners and potential partners ................................................................................. 25 

5 Library profiles ...................................................................................................................... 28 

Burghfield Common Library ................................................................................................. 28 

Hungerford Library ............................................................................................................... 29 

Lambourn Library ................................................................................................................. 30 

Mortimer Library .................................................................................................................. 31 

Newbury Library ................................................................................................................... 32 

Pangbourne Library .............................................................................................................. 33 

Thatcham Library ................................................................................................................. 34 

Theale Library....................................................................................................................... 34 

Wash Common Library......................................................................................................... 36 

Mobile Libraries ................................................................................................................... 37 

At Home Service ................................................................................................................... 38 

6 Conclusions and recommendations ...................................................................................... 39 

Appendix A: defining branch catchment areas ........................................................................ 40 

Appendix B: detailed demographic report .............................................................................. 42 

Population breakdown by ward: ......................................................................................... 42 

Ethnic breakdown by ward: ................................................................................................. 43 

Page 30



 

3 
 

Deprivation indices by ward: ............................................................................................... 43 

Appendix C: full financial summary ......................................................................................... 45 

West Berkshire Libraries – value for money appraisal ........................................................ 45 

Comparison with other authorities ..................................................................................... 45 

Appendix D: all library datasheets ........................................................................................... 57 

Burghfield Common Library ................................................................................................. 57 

Hungerford Library ............................................................................................................... 60 

Lambourn Library ................................................................................................................. 63 

Mortimer Library .................................................................................................................. 66 

Newbury Library ................................................................................................................... 69 

Pangbourne Library .............................................................................................................. 72 

Thatcham Library ................................................................................................................. 75 

Theale Library....................................................................................................................... 78 

Wash Common Library......................................................................................................... 81 

Mobile Libraries ................................................................................................................... 86 

At Home Service ................................................................................................................... 89 

Appendix E: summary of key points raised by users ............................................................... 91 

 

Page 31



 

4 
 

Executive summary  

You have asked us to conduct a needs assessment for your library service to inform the 
decisions you will be taking in meeting your target of a significant reduction in the service 
budget, while continuing to provide a service that is compliant with your statutory 
obligations and is focused on the needs of the community and relevant demographic 
groups. 

We have found that the network of libraries as it currently stands is able to meet people’s 
needs and is compliant with the Public Library and Museums Act 1964, and the current 
service is highly valued by communities. Libraries are seen as providing a place (sometimes 
the only place) where local people can meet, access services and come together as a 
community.  

Our analysis of the library service budgets shows that the service is relatively expensive to 
run and there is scope for in-house savings. These could make a useful contribution to the 
savings needed. However, it is clear to us that you cannot continue to maintain a network of 
nine libraries in the same way as you have done in the past within the new budget 
constraints. 

To continue to meet community needs you should make every effort to maintain the 
current network, or if that is not possible, reduce it as little as possible. Your aim must be to 
have a network of library branches that are accessible to residents and which provide a core 
library service as well as targeted offers to meet specific needs.  

You may wish to explore different ways to provide the service, as have been adopted 
elsewhere in the country, drawing on the goodwill of your communities to support you, 
which we have observed throughout our engagement. 

Should it prove necessary to close any libraries, despite your best efforts, then mitigating 
action should be taken to meet needs through, for example, a review of mobile library stops 
(location, frequency, duration). 

Page 32



 

5 
 

Introduction 

You have asked us to conduct a needs assessment for your library service to inform the 
decisions you will be taking in meeting your target of a significant reduction in the service 
budget (currently £1.5M). You want to be sure that you can continue to provide a service 
that is compliant with your statutory obligations under the Public Library and Museums Act 
1964 and the Equality Act 2010, and to focus provision on the needs of the community and 
relevant demographic groups. 

In this report we consider the value to communities of public libraries and the way in which 
their services can be targeted at meeting community needs – and hence, the importance of 
properly assessing those needs and shaping services around them. We describe our 
approach to understanding needs in West Berkshire and provide a library by library analysis 
of needs in each catchment area and current service provision to meet those needs.  

In compiling this report, we are grateful to Mike Brook and his team in the library service for 
responding promptly and fully to all requests for information and data. We are also grateful 
for the willingness of many people to make themselves available to talk about the service, 
including: 

 Project board members; 

 Users at all the libraries; 

 Library staff; 

 Representatives of WBC services: 
o Adult Community and Family Learning; 
o Adult and Children’s Services; 
o Leisure; 
o Heritage and Culture; 
o Public Health attendees at Shaw House meeting; and 

 Representatives of parish councils and friends’ groups at the same meeting 

Page 33



 

6 
 

1 Background: the value of libraries 

In the current financial climate, local authorities are facing unprecedented savings targets. 
The challenge now is no longer to do more with less, but to innovate and do things 
differently with less. Looking at efficiencies in a positive way can be challenging, and 
collaborative ventures can be a way forward in ensuring that high quality and value for 
money services are maintained. Alternative models of governance and service delivery are 
emerging across the country and there are many examples, good and not so good, to learn 
from. However hard they are, we believe that these challenges can be approached with 
creativity and innovation.  

The way library services are provided is developing rapidly as technology, communities and 
expectations change. We believe that the strategic priorities of the public library sector are 
increasingly in line with those of national and local government and that this is a positive 
development.  

In addition to the traditional focus on books and information (while these are still of course 
core business), library services now can and often do play a key role in delivering against 
council priorities – a role that is increasingly recognised within the local authority. For 
example: 

 With the decrease of face to face contact with customers in many parts of local 
authorities, libraries now have an increasing role as the public face of the council; 

 Digital empowerment, especially in rural areas, is a key priority for local 
authorities and libraries can be instrumental in both providing free internet 
access, wifi and training for customers; 

 Reading, writing, cultural and social activities all contribute to improving people’s 
wellbeing. The successful projects between libraries and mental health 
organisations are a good example of this; 

 Libraries provide access to learning for all ages and opportunities for 
volunteering and work experience. All this improves education and employment 
opportunities for residents;  

 Libraries make a substantial contribution to early years’ provision and family 
literacy through regular events and national schemes, such as the summer 
reading challenge; and 

 The safe neutral space of a library is ideal for communities to get together and 
get involved. Library-based activities, whether organised by the staff or by 
communities themselves, provide an important opportunity for local people to 
interact, build mutual understanding and trust, and minimise the impacts of 
loneliness and isolation. 

One of the most exciting recent developments is the emergence of a more cohesive, largely 
practitioner led, national strategy for public libraries. Perhaps reflecting the closer allegiance 
between public libraries and other public services, a number of national initiatives are 
championing the wider role that libraries can play in daily life. 

Page 34



 

7 
 

1.1 The Libraries Taskforce 

The DCMS Libraries Taskforce has recently issued the draft of its Ambition strategy for 
public libraries and says: 

‘In our vision for the 21st century, we see the purpose of the public library network as 
contributing to the delivery of 7 areas: 

 reading and literacy; 

 digital literacy; 

 health and wellbeing; 

 economic growth; 

 culture and creativity; 

 communities; and 

 learning 

The basic offer from public libraries is set out in a new way that reflects the priorities of 
local authorities, illustrated in the image below: 

 

Publication of the final Ambition document, following extensive consultation, has been 
delayed by changes at DCMS following the Brexit vote which led to a new Prime Minister in 
Theresa May, and a government reshuffle that has seen Rob Wilson take over as the 
Minister responsible for libraries, moving from the Cabinet Office to do so (and bringing 
with him his previous role as Minister for Civil Society). The new minister has said that he 
wishes to take a bit of time to review the document, visit some libraries and talk to 
colleagues, before publication. 

1.2 Universal Offers 

The Society of Chief Librarians has, in partnership with others (including Arts Council 
England and The Reading Agency) developed five Universal Offers. These cover the five key 

Page 35



 

8 
 

areas of service which customers and stakeholders see as essential to a 21st century library 
service: 

 Reading; 

 Information; 

 Digital; 

 Health; and 

 Learning 

The aim of the offers is to develop a core package of partnerships, resources and advocacy 
messages at a national level which can then be delivered locally and shaped to meet 
differing local needs. The Universal Offers provide a positive vision for the future of public 
libraries and a commitment to quality provision across these five core areas of our service. 
This national approach brings consistency and is cost effective. SCL coordinate activity to 
ensure that costs and resources are shared and that the offers provide value for money. The 
aim is to avoid the duplication of energy and funds that would be needed to develop 
individual offers/schemes across 151 individual library authorities.  

The national approach also attracts funding, such as the recent backing of the health and 
reading offers from Arts Council England and the Wellcome Trust. The Universal Offers also 
provide a platform for coordinated advocacy for the sector, joining up national and local 
messages about the contribution public libraries make. 

You are already working with these national offers in West Berkshire and we would 
recommend that you continue to do so. A national approach brings consistency and is cost 
effective. 

Page 36



 

9 
 

2 Background: meeting residents’ needs  

As a universal service with statutory obligations, public library services need to ensure that 
they are providing a ‘comprehensive and efficient’ service that meets the needs of the 
population.  When significant changes are planned to a library service, especially reductions 
in service (closure of library branches, curtailment of opening hours, removal of some 
service offers) it is essential that these are based on a clear understanding of local needs 
and that any negative impact on the service’s ability to respond to those needs is minimised. 
Additionally, any new service strategy should similarly be underpinned by an evidence based 
analysis of need. 

A needs assessment also helps ensure compliance with the public sector equality duty 
(PSED) set out in Section 149 of the Equality Act 2010. The duty relates to different groups 
who share any of the “protective characteristic” of age, sex, pregnancy and maternity, 
disability, race, marriage and civil partnership, religion or belief, sexual orientation. The 
Equality Act outlines that due regard involves:  

 Removing or minimising disadvantages suffered by people due to their protected 
characteristics; 

 Taking steps to meet the needs of people with certain protected characteristics 
where these are different from the needs of other people; and 

 Encouraging people with certain protected characteristics to participate in public 
life or in other activities where their participation is disproportionately low.   

2.1 Understanding the impact of libraries on needs 

There have been a number of reports and studies looking at the impact of libraries on 
various areas of need. A selection of these are summarised below.  

Economic/financial impact 
Literacy skills whether traditional or digital, underpin success in all walks of life, and libraries 
have a key role to play in ensuring that children in particular have the building-blocks for 
future academic and employment success. A longitudinal study by Nuffield College, Oxford1, 
found that, of all the free-time activities teenagers do, reading is the only activity that 
appears to help them secure a good job.  

A 2011 research report by the DFE, ‘Investigating the role of language in children’s early 
educational outcomes’2, looked at the importance of early communication skills in preparing 
children for school, and concluded that ‘The number of books available to the child, the 
frequency of visits to the library, parents teaching a range of activities and the number of 
toys available are all important predictors of the child’s expressive vocabulary at 2 years.’ 
Furthermore, creating a good communication environment through these activities is ‘a 
more dominant predictor of early language than social background’.  

                                                     
1 http://www.telegraph.co.uk/foodanddrink/8435031/Reading-as-teenager-gets-you-a-better-job.html 
2 https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/181549/DFE-RR134.pdf 

Page 37



 

10 
 

This report drew on data from the Avon Longitudinal Study of Parents and Children 
(ALSPAC), ‘Children of the Nineties’, a study of a birth cohort initiated in the early 1990s, 
which provides one of the richest sources of data about the home background and early 
experiences of children as well as assessment of their abilities as they enter school. It 
recognises that, ‘those children who owned more books and were taken to the library more 
frequently at age 2 achieved higher scores on the school assessment when entering primary 
school’.  

In December 2011 the Department of Business, Innovation & Skills (BIS) published a report, 
‘New Challenges, New Chances; the Further Education and Skills System Reform Plan: 
Building a World Class Skills System’3. The objectives cited included focusing public funding 
on people who are disadvantaged and least likely to participate, including those in rural 
areas and people on low incomes with low skills, with the intention to ‘support access, and 
progression in its widest sense, for people who are disadvantaged and who are furthest 
from learning and therefore least likely to participate.’ These audiences for learning are 
among those whom public libraries are arguably well-positioned to serve. 

Social/community impact 
To quote Public Library News4:  

‘Life is unequal because prices and incomes are unequal.  Public libraries partially 
came about because it was recognised that this inequality meant that some people 
who most needed books were being denied them.  This was not an altruistic act on 
the part of the Victorians and later generations.  Rather, it was an enlightened 
realisation that the country would benefit if all could have access to the immense 
educational, democratic and social welfare advantages of the book and the 
newspaper.  Children of even the very poor could, with the help of their local public 
library, learn all that even the most privileged child could and thus go on to great 
things, providing a meritocracy of great economic benefit to the nation.  Similarly, 
working people would have a positive outlet for their energies and could learn what 
they needed to learn, regardless of their financial resources. They could then go on 
to better things, again to the nation’s benefit.  Finally, the elderly could have access 
to the universe of knowledge and fiction, which would be of immense benefit to 
their social welfare.’ 

A 2010 study by researchers at the University of Strathclyde, ‘Public libraries as impartial 
spaces in a consumer society: possible, plausible, desirable?’5, looked at the changing role of 
public libraries in an increasingly commercial world and concluded that ‘the role of the 
public library is to provide a space promoting community knowledge, citizenship, personal 
growth, democratic access to information, building trust and challenging preconceived 
ideas’ and that therefore they ‘should strive to retain their impartiality’.   

 
 
 

                                                     
3 http://www.publications.parliament.uk/pa/cm201415/cmselect/cmbis/557/55702.htm 
4 http://www.publiclibrariesnews.com/ 
5 http://www.emeraldinsight.com/doi/full/10.1108/03074801011094831 

Page 38



 

11 
 

Personal/individual impact 
Libraries have a positive impact on individuals’ health and well-being. The Reading Agency’s 
evaluation of the first year of the Reading Well Books on Prescription scheme found that: 

 91% of service users surveyed said the book they had read had been helpful; 79% 
said it had helped them understand more about their condition, 73% said it had 
helped them feel more confident about managing their symptoms, and 37% said that 
their symptoms had reduced or got better. 

 All prescribers surveyed agreed the scheme had been helpful for patients. Nearly all 
said that the recommended reading had helped people feel more confident about 
managing their symptoms. 

 Just under half of prescribers surveyed felt the scheme had saved them consultation 
time. Other identified benefits include greater patient insight and learning, help with 
recovery, treatment in line with the stepped care model, and reduction in the need 
to refer on for further care. 

As well as the individual impact there is also of course a societal impact here, as keeping 
people healthy reduces pressure on the NHS and its funding. Public Health Devon carried 
out an evaluation of the scheme there6 and concluded that ‘working in partnership with the 
libraries is an effective delivery model to reaches all groups of the population including 
those in lower socioeconomic groups’ and that ‘there is reasonable evidence that the 
scheme reaches those where the prevalence of mental ill health is higher.’ 

Understanding where libraries make the difference 
While most of the studies cited above, and many others, are focused on understanding the 
impact of public libraries, it is important to note that it can be difficult to isolate their impact 
from that of other institutions working to similar objectives. Studies that use qualitative 
evidence, that involve participants and that are carried out over a period of time tend all to 
be more successful in identifying library-specific benefits. It is also helpful to make use of 
proxy measures where appropriate; for example, if reading books has a beneficial impact on 
a teenager’s chances of employment success, as described above, and if public libraries lend 
books to teenagers and provide programmes that encourage them to read, which they do, 
we can conclude that public libraries make an important contribution to young people’s 
employability and life chances.  

Studies which don’t show a causal link between public library activity and impacts, and 
which cannot demonstrate clear proxies, should be regarded with caution, but may not 
necessarily be wrong in their claims.   

                                                     
6 Available to download from https://readingagency.org.uk/adults/impact/research/reading-well-books-on-
prescription-scheme-evidence-base.html 

Page 39



 

12 
 

3 West Berkshire: library service aims and objectives 

The service aims to provide an effective, modern and relevant library service to the people 
of West Berkshire, contributing to the Council’s key objectives: 

Corporate objective     Library purpose  Activities 

Better educated 
communities 

Encourage literacy, 
learning and access to 
knowledge 

Provide a good range of digital and print 
resources 

Employ staff with the expertise to help 

Facilitate study and research  

Provide activities targeted at early years 
and school-age children, e.g. Bookstart, 
Rhyme-time and Storytime, Family 
Learning, Summer Reading Challenge, class 
visits etc. 

Work with partners to provide learning 
opportunities 

A stronger local 
economy 

Provide information and 
services to help 
individuals to thrive 

Mediated access to a wide range of 
information 

Digital access 

Teach ICT skills 

Access to information for those seeking 
employment 

Support for SMEs and business start-ups 

Supporting those who 
need it 

Provide libraries as safe, 
welcoming and inclusive 
places and services that 
support the most 
vulnerable 

Targeted services for vulnerable people, e.g. 

 Books on Prescription 

 Reminiscence work 
Enable more vulnerable to access universal 
services via Mobile and At Home library 
services Health information and signposting 
to health services 

Stronger, more 
resilient communities 

Libraries as hubs of their 
community, contributing 
to quality of life and sense 
of place 

Provide activities that bring local people 
together 

Host events and activities for adults and 
children run by local groups 

Facilitate interest groups for adults and 
children 

Page 40



 

13 
 

Provide volunteering opportunities and 
support volunteers 

Help communities learn about their past 
through collections and events 

A more effective 
Council 

Libraries as the front door 
to the council 

Work with council partners to widen access 
to council services 

Offer venues and facilities for a wide range 
of activities 

 

The assessment of needs which follows must be seen in the context of the above, which 
helps to illustrate those needs to which the library service is best placed to respond. 

 

Page 41



 

14 
 

4 West Berkshire: needs assessment 

4.1 What we did 

In order to develop a full picture of those needs of West Berkshire communities to which 
the library service does and/or could provide a response, we reviewed all available data on 
the library service and on the authority as a whole, including: 

 service-specific policies and plans; 

 relevant council-wide reports;  

 reports of recent user feedback: 

 CIPFA returns; 

 demographic information; 

 active users v. total population per library catchment area and across the 
borough as a whole, as well as for the home library service; 

 usage patterns of each library (overall levels of use broken down by broad 
demographic groups); 

 overall budget broken down against main headings (staff, buildings, stock, IT, 
council recharges, etc.); and 

 income levels 

We produced detailed datasets for each library (included in Appendix D) as well as an 
overall financial review of the current service (Appendix C). Our analysis of financial and 
service data informed a ‘value for money’ assessment of the current library service which 
can be used to benchmark proposed future alternative models 

We engaged with a number of internal stakeholders across the council including staff, in 
order to explore the role libraries can play in delivering other services. While public 
consultation did not form part of this assessment, we also engaged with a number of 
external stakeholders and library users via drop-in sessions in each library. An initial meeting 
was held for those town and parish councils where libraries are currently located, and 
friends’ groups were also invited to this meeting. The purpose of this meeting was to inform 
attendees about the process taking place and also to gauge support from these 
stakeholders. 

We also reviewed good practice in the public sector elsewhere, looking in particular at 
where innovation had enabled efficiency savings as well as service enhancements, and this 
has informed our recommendations for possible future service models. 

4.2 Financial summary: value for money appraisal 

This section focuses on comparisons between West Berkshire Library Service (WBLS) and 
other library authorities that are similar both demographically and in the pressures that 
they face. This gives an indication of the value for money which WBLS provides. 

Page 42



 

15 
 

Within individual library authorities there are often considerable variations between the 
performance and costs of individual library branches and services. Also, these are generally 
not reported through CIPFA but can be analysed through internal service data. The second 
part of this section therefore focuses on variations within WBLS and gives an indication of 
how effective spending is within the service. 

However, any comparisons either at a local or wider level can only be regarded as indicative. 
Different accounting regimes in different authorities can distort the picture and the exact 
nature and quality of the service provided is not always reflected in derived figures. The 
latest available CIPFA comparative data is also for 2014/15, and in a world where local 
government resources are shrinking quickly other authorities are likely to have changed 
during the last year. It is nonetheless possible to identify areas where costs are considerably 
different from the average to determine relative value for money and to indicate areas for 
improvement. 

To establish value for money West Berkshire Library Service was compared with a number 
of other services in southern England serving similar areas and populations. West Berkshire 
is providing slightly more libraries per resident than the average for the group, although the 
opening hours per resident are slightly lower than average. Visits per resident were low 
compared to the average for the comparator group, although issues were above average 

A full summary of our work in respect of the value for money assessment is included as 
Appendix C, while here we pick out some of the most significant points. 

Expenditure by population 
We examined how West Berkshire invests in its library service compared to the average for 
other authorities in the group and relative to their populations. Whilst nowhere near as high 
as Bracknell Forest or Windsor and Maidenhead, you are spending considerably more per 
capita than most authorities in the comparator group, and investing above the average in 
most spending categories; this is particularly the case in staffing and premises. Investment 
in transport, whilst only a very small proportion of the overall investment, is four times the 
average for the group.  

Provision of libraries 
West Berkshire is providing slightly more libraries per resident than the average for the 
group, although the opening hours per resident are slightly lower than average. The number 
of visits per hour offered is low although the issues per hour is above average.  

Usage by population 
Visits to West Berkshire libraries per resident are low compared to the average for the 
comparator group, although issues are above average. The usage of library computers is on 
the low side and the number of housebound users below average, although this figure is 
distorted by some relatively high returns from some authorities. 

Provision of staff 
Staffing is the single highest element of expenditure in any library service and it is vitally 
important that staffing costs are controlled to achieve value for money. The number of staff 
provided in West Berkshire is slightly above the average for the comparator group.  

Page 43



 

16 
 

The average cost per member of staff is 50% higher than the average for the comparator 
group7. Staff costs per visitor are high, although as WBLS has a high proportion of issues to 
visits, the staff cost per issue is lower, while still well above the average for the group. 
Similarly, staffing costs for each hour open are high, indicating that staffing levels may need 
to be reviewed.   

Staff productivity 
The pattern observed previously where WBLS performs better in relation to issues than to 
visits is reflected in staff productivity figures, so that the number of visits per member of 
staff is well below the average but the issues per member of staff is above average 

Stock efficiency 
Although West Berkshire has relatively high issues per resident and per visit, the spending 
on stock is high. The return on stock investment in West Berkshire – at 27p per issue – is 
worse than the average for the comparator authorities of 19p. This may in part reflect 
higher levels of spending on expensive formats (such as DVDs) or on resources which, 
although valuable to the public, do not result in issues like newspapers or online resources. 
The average cost of non-book items added to stock in 2014/15 was £25.54, reflecting the 
high spend on adult talking books, and although not all comparator authorities provided 
data, this appears well above the likely average. Similarly, the cost paid per book is on the 
high side for the comparator groups, although only just above average nationally. The size of 
the stock team appears to be high in relation to the size of the authority.  

Premises costs 
Property costs appear rather high, and nearly half of the spend on premises is at Newbury 
Library. The cost of premises per library is in line with other authorities, but the premises 
cost per resident is high, partially accounted for by a relatively generous provision of library 
branches in West Berkshire; and, since the number of visits per resident is comparatively 
low, the premises cost per visit is high. 

Computing, transport, other supplies and services and support costs 
These budget headings together account for almost a quarter of gross revenue spend in 
West Berkshire, with the great majority in support service costs. Computing cost are high in 
relation to other services. This is partly due to the state of the market in library 
management system supply, where prices to a smaller library service are not significantly 
different to those for a larger service. Other supplies and services are generally items that 
can be controlled fully by the library service and are in line with other authorities. Transport 
costs are high, due largely to the provision of the two mobile libraries; however, transport is 
only a very small proportion of the total budget.  

Revenue income 
Revenue income in WBLS is average compared to comparators but is higher when adjusted 
for customer levels. West Berkshire does not charge fees for reservations or any electronic 
services. These represent very small amounts in the overall service budget and it may be 

                                                     
7 This figure is skewed by an extraordinarily low cost in Wiltshire, but even if that figure is excluded West 
Berkshire is well above average 

Page 44



 

17 
 

that WBLS considers these concessions a useful contribution to the library offer. West 
Berkshire is doing well in collecting overdue fees and for the hire of audio visual stock. 

Perhaps the most significant issue in the analysis of income is the lack of income from 
lettings in West Berkshire. This is of course not only dependent on local charging policies but 
also on the availability of space for hire. However, for a service which has a number of 
libraries which are not open for long hours, there is the potential to make better use of the 
space during closed times through hire of the facilities.  

Value for money 
The ultimate determinate of the value that a library service delivers is the cost for each visit. 
Amongst its comparator group, West Berkshire is at the high end of its comparator group. 
There are a number of reasons for this which have been discussed above, but this metric is 
determined by the number of visits to the service, and this is low in comparison to other 
authorities. Cost per issue is also high, although the difference here is less marked, whilst 
the cost per library is more in line with other library services. 

There are a number of budget headings where West Berkshire is performing well or at the 
average, but others where there could be a need for improved efficiency. Staffing costs are 
high and by some measures productivity is low. Whilst volunteers are already being 
engaged, there is scope for increasing numbers. West Berkshire’s customers clearly value 
the stock provided, as indicated by the high number of issues per visit, but the return on 
stock investment could be improved. Premises costs, too, are high due to the large number 
of libraries with short hours and low visits and issues. Revenue income is good, but if it is 
possible to rent out space this could be improved. The revenue budget for 2015/16 is 
considerably lower than that for the previous year and it is likely that there will be 
improvement in comparative performance when the next CIPFA figures are released. 

4.3 Demographic summary 

Population profile 
West Berkshire is diverse in its characteristics, with a heavily populated area along the 
Kennet valley centred on Newbury, a rather less densely populated area by the Thames, and 
with sparsely populated downland to the north of Newbury and an area of both small and 
larger villages to the south. The boundary between West Berkshire and Reading would not 
be obvious to the casual observer, as the urban area continues on both sides of the border. 
Whilst Newbury is the largest town and a focal point for much of West Berkshire, parts of 
the Thames valley and the areas closest to Reading look more towards Reading as a 
principal town.  In public transport terms, whilst there is a strong axis along the Kennet 
valley and some links to the north and south, and up the Lambourn valley, the principal 
means of accessing Newbury from the Thames valley portion of the authority is through 
Reading. 

The population of West Berkshire was 153,000 at the time of the 2011 Census. Fifty-seven 
thousand people or 37.5% of the population at that point were aged 20 or below, 75,000 
(49%) were aged between 21 and 64, and 21,000 (13.5%) 65 or older.  

Page 45



 

18 
 

There is a wide variation between wards. More than 48% of the population of Chieveley is 
aged 20 or under whilst less than 26% of Victoria’s population falls into this category. People 
aged over 64 are best represented in Westwood and least in Thatcham North. Victoria has 
the highest proportion of people between 21 and 64 and Chieveley the lowest. A full 
population breakdown by ward is included in Appendix B. 

The ethnic profile of the authority was 90% white British, 4% white other, 2.5% Asian, 1.5% 
mixed background, 1% black and a very small number of people from other backgrounds. 
Some wards were more diverse than the overall figure suggests, notably Victoria where 79% 
of the population is white British with 9% of both Asian and other white people. Again, a full 
ethnic breakdown by ward is included in Appendix B. 

Transport, health and education 
The 2011 Census provides other useful information. In West Berkshire 12% of households 
have no access to a vehicle. This is, as to be expected in an area with a large rural 
population, is less than the average for south east England of 19% or for England as a whole 
of 26%. Conversely 46% of people in West Berkshire travel not more than 5km to work 
including those who work at home, slightly lower than the south eastern average of 48%.  

87% of residents feel that they are in good or very good health, slightly higher than the 
south east average of 84%, whilst the figure of 9% of residents providing unpaid care is 
consistent with the south eastern average of 10%. West Berkshire’s educational attainment 
profile is slightly more weighted to the extremes than the south eastern average, with 
above average rates both for people with no qualifications and those educated to degree 
level.  

Deprivation 
Deprivation is calculated through a number of indices which produce a score for each area. 
These scores are ranked and the degree of deprivation is usually expressed by a percentage 
which indicates how the area performs in the national rankings, so that a score of 90% 
would indicate that the area is in the least deprived tenth for that index. Each index is 
calculated for groupings called super output areas; these are typically smaller than wards. It 
does not follow that if one super output area has a score of 75% and another of 25% that 
the two areas combined would have a score of 50%. Nevertheless, this methodology has 
been followed here as the alternative would be a large piece of work beyond the scope of 
this report. The scores for deprivation indices must therefore be regarded as an indication 
rather than an exact figure. 

West Berkshire is not a deprived area in general, and for a composite range of indicators it is 
the 36th least deprived local authority in England and Wales out of a total of 326. An analysis 
by ward (again see Appendix B for a full breakdown) indicates the relative wealth of West 
Berkshire – only Victoria ward shows an indicative score below the national average. 
However, within individual wards there are some pockets of low incomes, with certain areas 
of Greenham, Thatcham North, Calcot, Speen and Victoria being in the lowest third for 
England.  

The relative educational attainment across the authority is lower than that of income, with a 
part of Greenham ward being in the lowest 20th of all super outputs areas, and 14 SOAs out 

Page 46



 

19 
 

of 98 in West Berkshire being in the lowest third. Barriers to services and housing is an area 
where West Berkshire scored relatively badly, with one portion of Downlands being in the 
lowest 2% and 31 SOAs in the lowest third. 

In the detailed analyses of individual libraries in section 6 we discuss the implications of 
these variations in levels of need for service provision in those communities. 

Deprivation indicators by branch catchment area 
The chart below shows some indicators of deprivation, where the lower the percentage the 
higher is the deprivation. In a rural area, a high degree of barriers to services is to be 
expected and this is particularly true in the catchment areas8 of Burghfield Common and 
Lambourn libraries. Downlands ward included in the Newbury catchment area is in the 
lowest 4% for England and Wales, although no other ward is in the lowest fifth. 

 
 

4.4 Use of libraries 

There are wide variations in the use of libraries by residents across West Berkshire. The 
chart below shows the percentage of residents from each ward who are active borrowers 
from West Berkshire library service – defined as being anyone who has borrowed an item in 
the last 12 months. There are some caveats that should be borne in mind – active borrowers 
do not equate to library users as some people will use libraries without borrowing, for 
example to use computers or to study. Secondly, not all library users are West Berkshire 
residents; the Council has a statutory duty to provide libraries to anyone who lives, works or 
studies in the area. 9% of active borrowers live outside the authority with particular 
concentrations at Hungerford (close to the Wiltshire boundary), Newbury and Thatcham 
(both employment and educational hubs).  

                                                     
8 Nominal catchment areas have been allocated to each branch. The methodology for this is set out in 
Appendix A 

0.00

10.00

20.00

30.00

40.00

50.00

60.00

70.00

80.00

90.00

100.00

Burghfield
Common

Library

Hungerford
Library

Lambourn
Library

Mortimer
Library

Newbury
Library

Pangbourne
Library

Thatcham
Library

Theale
Public
Library

Wash
Common

Library

Deprivation indicators by branch catchment area

Income average percentile Education average percentile Barriers to service average percentile

Page 47



 

20 
 

 

There are some very obvious anomalies amongst the library usage within wards. Birch Copse 
and Westwood have hardly any active borrowers, and Calcot and Purley on Thames have far 
fewer than average. This is probably because residents in these areas look towards Reading 
for their services and without a local library do not see the need to travel to a West 
Berkshire location.  

Elsewhere the highest percentage use of a library is within Theale9, St Johns, Falkland, 
Victoria, Northcroft and Hungerford wards, all areas containing or close to a library. Theale 
library incorporates both a library open to the public at large and also a library provided for 
Theale School. The latter accounts for up to half of the visits to the library.  However, the 
correlation between the percentage of active borrowers and whether or not there is a 
library in the ward is not particularly strong at 0.610. Similarly, there is a weak correlation 
(0.27) between population density of a ward and library usage, indicating that distance from 
a library is only one factor in discouraging use, and this rises only slightly to 0.3 when users 
of the At Home service or mobile libraries are excluded from the calculation11.  

Profile of users 
Although West Berkshire as a whole is approximately equally divided between men and 
women, the active borrowers of the library service are predominantly female. This is 
particularly true at Lambourn and Pangbourne. 

In all libraries, and especially Theale and Wash Common, a higher proportion of 0-20 year 
olds are using the library than in the catchment areas. The converse is true for those aged 
21-64 although the difference is least marked at Newbury, probably as it is a centre of 

                                                     
9 Note that Theale is a dual-use school and public library, and its usage figures are not directly comparable with 
other branches 
10 Where 1 is a perfect correlation, 0 is no correlation and -1 is an inverse correlation 
11 All the correlation figures given exclude those wards mentioned above where it is assumed that residents 
are using Reading libraries. 

0.00

5.00

10.00

15.00

20.00

25.00
A

ld
er

m
as

to
n

B
as

ild
o

n

B
ir

ch
 C

o
p

se

B
u

ck
le

b
u

ry

B
u

rg
h

fi
el

d

C
al

co
t

C
h

ie
ve

le
y

C
la

y 
H

ill

C
o

ld
 A

sh

C
o

m
p

to
n

D
o

w
n

la
n

d
s

Fa
lk

la
n

d

G
re

en
h

am

H
u

n
ge

rf
o

rd

K
in

tb
u

ry

La
m

b
o

u
rn

 V
al

le
y

M
o

rt
im

e
r

N
o

rt
h

cr
o

ft

P
an

gb
o

u
rn

e

P
u

rl
ey

 o
n

 T
h

am
es

Sp
e

en

St
 J

o
h

n
s

Su
lh

am
st

e
ad

Th
at

ch
am

 C
en

tr
al

Th
at

ch
am

 N
o

rt
h

Th
at

ch
am

 S
o

u
th

 a
n

d
…

Th
at

ch
am

 W
es

t

Th
ea

le

V
ic

to
ri

a

W
es

tw
o

o
d

% active borrowers per head of population

Page 48



 

21 
 

employment. Generally speaking, the proportion of over 64s is well matched to the 
population served, although this is less the case at Theale and Newbury. 

Overall more than 90% of the population of West Berkshire is white British with about 4.5% 
white other and around 5% in all other groups. The membership of the library service is 
more diverse than this with 81% white British and 12% white other. Relatively high levels of 
people classified as white other use Newbury and Hungerford libraries, and the mobile 
service. About 6% of active borrowers at Newbury are Asian. 

Getting to the library 
In West Berkshire the proportion of household with no access to a vehicle is low, as one 
would expect in a rural area. However, there are some variations between catchment areas, 
with Hungerford having the least access to a vehicle and Pangbourne the most. Some areas 
within the Newbury catchment area have very low access to vehicles (30% of households in 
Victoria ward have none) but the average is brought up by the more rural parts (for example 
only 4% of households in Downlands have no vehicle).  

There is more variation in the patterns of travel to work12 where only 30% of Burghfield 
residents work locally but 60% of Wash Common residents travel less than five miles, 
presumably working in Newbury.  

 

There is further information about the profile of library users in Appendix B and in the 
detailed analyses of individual libraries in section 6. 

  

                                                     
12 Data is taken from the 2001 Census and is the most up to date available 

0.00

10.00

20.00

30.00

40.00

50.00

60.00

70.00

Burghfield
Common

Library

Hungerford
Library

Lambourn
Library

Mortimer
Library

Newbury
Library

Pangbourne
Library

Thatcham
Library

Theale
Public
Library

Wash
Common

Library

Access to vehicles by branch catchment area

% with no vehicle % traveling less than 5 miles to work

Page 49



 

22 
 

4.5 What people told us 

While public consultation did not form part of this assessment, we engaged with a number 
of stakeholders which included: 

 groups of users at drop-in sessions at each library and on a mobile route; 

 representatives of Friends groups, Parish and Town councils;  

 staff; and 

 partners and potential partners; 

We also offered an email address for residents to contact us about their use of the libraries 
if they were unable to attend a drop-in session.  

4.5.1 Users 

Many users contacted us, either at the drop in sessions or via email, to tell us how much 
they valued the library service. Points made about specific libraries are included in the 
summary library by library analyses in section 6 and more detailed information in Appendix 
E; here we make some general points about their feedback. Note that where user feedback 
is reported these do not constitute verbatim reports of what were fairly informal sessions, 
but we do include all the main points raised. 

Drop-in sessions were held in every library and were a minimum of three hours in length. 
Altogether we estimate that around 500 people attended, with an average of 50 at each 
library apart from at Wash Common and Burghfield Common where there were 80 to 90. 
There were consistent messages at all sessions about the value of the library to local people: 

 as a hub of the community; 

 importance for children’s reading and literacy levels; 

 important to help with social isolation and settling into community; 

 digital – ‘not everyone has a computer’; 

 excellent activities; 

 excellent staff; 

 importance of being local – usage would decline if needed to travel to Newbury 
to access library service; and 

 importance of intergenerational social interaction 

In general people would be happy to pay for things to keep their library open, and the 
following were suggested: 

 reserve and collect 50p/book (citing heavy levels of use and that ‘everywhere 
else charges’); 

 £1 or £2 for events e.g. Rhymetime; and 

Page 50



 

23 
 

 book groups would pay more 

People also expressed a willingness to pay an extra £10 per month on their council tax, or a 
membership fee of, say, £50 per year, but the latter is not permitted under the legislation of 
the Public Library and Museums Act. 

The public were generally supportive of a greater use of volunteers, but valued the staff’s 
knowledge and would not want to see the service totally run by volunteers. 

A number of people suggested keeping community libraries open and closing Newbury. It 
was felt that in rural areas, they could have access to more council services through the 
libraries. 

A member of our team also spent a day on the mobile library, meeting users at five stops. 
Comments echoed the general value put on the service by the public with several saying 
that they regarded the service as a lifeline. A majority of the users seen that day would be 
unable to use a static library, or would find it very difficult to do so, as they live in sheltered 
housing and lack mobility or, in the case of the stop at a prison secure hospital, would not 
be permitted to leave the premises.   

4.5.2 Staff 

We held focus groups with five representative groups of staff: 

 librarians; 

 library supervisors; 

 frontline staff; 

 mobile staff; and  

 a group of managers 

Below we summarise the key points arising from these sessions: 

1. There is a general anxiety amongst the staff, caused by the time taken by the council 
to decide on the future of the library service.  

2. They feel that no thought was put into the original proposals and that councillors do 
not understand or care about the service. They think the council has not consulted 
widely enough; people think libraries are already closed.  

3. There was also a concern that the council was not giving information to friends’ 
groups and that this made things difficult for frontline staff. 

4. There was a recurring theme about the value of libraries as a community resource 
that they didn’t feel was understood. They feel that libraries are vital in combatting 
social isolation and bringing communities together. They feel that the usage of 
libraries is also changing and that ‘It’s not just old ladies with trollies anymore’. 

Page 51



 

24 
 

5. When asked what they thought the most important aspects of the service were, they 
said: 

 Libraries are accessible spaces and everyone is welcome; 

 They are a tried and trusted source of good quality information; 

 Help with technology and getting online, particularly for jobseekers, is a growing 
area; 

 They provide books: appropriate stock, including online resources; 

 Outreach, encouraging and improving literacy; 

 The social contact improves wellbeing and combats loneliness; 

 If you withdraw library services, you are withdrawing access to broadband for 
many people; and 

 There are pockets of poverty in West Berks, libraries never turn anybody away. 

6. All levels of staff had plenty of comments and suggestions relating to the way the 
service was run and improvements/savings that could be made: 

 There is a difficult relationship between Newbury Library and the branches, and 
not enough movement of staff to counteract this; 

 There is a perception that burdens are not shared fairly; some staff are 
overworked whereas others have less to do; 

 Librarians do not visit or interact with branches, they were perceived to be 
focused on Newbury; 

 There is not enough challenging of tradition, things are done because ‘that’s the 
way we’ve always done them’; 

 There is an issue with staff working short hours that do not suit the service and a 
need to move to either half or full time hours; 

 The service is not attracting young people to work in libraries; 

 There is unnecessary expenditure; contracts and contractors should be 
challenged; 

 They like idea of coffee shops and the bookshop model; the service could 
capitalise on attracting groups that meet in cafés and coffee shops. There was a 
feeling that there was not enough proactivity in making things like this happen; 

 Theale Library was a particular concern; there was a frustration with the 
relationship between the library and the school and it was felt that this impeded 
any development of the library; 

 There was a feeling that some libraries could operate from cheaper buildings and 
Theale was cited as an example; 

 Some staff management is poor; responsibility has been given to people who 
can’t necessarily manage; 

Page 52



 

25 
 

 The service could exploit connections with other community organisations; 

 There is a strong feeling that volunteers would not be forthcoming in all libraries 
and an acknowledgement that volunteer programmes need proper management 
and resource; 

 Conversely, others felt that there could be more use made of volunteers; 

 Self-service was looked on positively (perhaps a little warily) if it was used 
properly and the idea of Open+ or similar technology13 was attractive if it meant 
longer opening hours; 

 The supplier selection lists for stock should be monitored more regularly to 
ensure that the right stock was getting to branches; there was a concern about 
multiple copies being wasteful; 

 There is a general feeling that there could be efficiencies at Newbury to save 
money; for instance, it was widely believed that the number of staffed desks was 
excessive; 

 Staff should work more flexibly and respond to ebbs and flows; 

 More money could be made out of the premises; 

 There was a strong feeling that management are not visible enough or connected 
to the whole service and therefore have little understanding of life on the shop 
floor; staff were unhappy with levels of communication; 

 The opening hours should be changed to suit customers rather than staff; 

 There could be money saved by sharing and working with other council 
departments; 

 The service could charge for some activities and the public would accept that; 
and 

 Libraries could be the face of the council in rural areas; 

4.5.3 Partners and potential partners 

We engaged with representatives of the following internal services: 

 Adult Community and Family Learning; 

 Adult and Children’s Services; 

 Leisure; 

 Heritage and Culture;  

 Customer Services; 

 Support Services; and 

 Public Health 

                                                     
13 Open+ and similar technologies enable authorities to open libraries, at least for part of the day, without 
staff. Customers are able to access library buildings (or specific areas of the library) using smartcards. 
Borrowing and return of books can be done using self-service machines; computers and space can be used for 
study and community groups can have meetings without the need for library staff to be present.  

Page 53



 

26 
 

Adult Community Learning currently commission the library service to deliver outreach 
courses particularly IT. Public Health are already working proactively with the library service 
on a number of initiatives. These include: 

 Library Fest; 

 Books on Prescription; 

 Reminiscence boxes; 

 IT support for the homeless; and 

 various health promotions 

It will be important in the consideration of any future model for the service to ensure 
central coordination for the continuation of this work. 

Apart from that mentioned above, there appears to have been little joint working between 
other services and libraries to date. Libraries are used occasionally to disseminate 
information to the public and as space.  

The main opportunities for working with other services identified in our engagement were 
a) the joint use of space, and b) providing information to the public.  

Potential future opportunities identified for working with Public Health include: 

 providing private 1:1 and group space to the Emotional Health Academy who are 
based in communities helping young people; 

 providing space for health visitors; 

 providing space for courses e.g. Recovering College; and 

 particularly interested in dance studio in Theale  

Through the Children’s Trust a new outreach service is starting up. They currently have 
eleven outreach staff and are looking for venues to engage with the community, particularly 
in the west and the east. A general public space is needed with quiet, private rooms for 1:1s. 
This is needed on a regular weekly basis for half or full days depending on the need in each 
area. The Children’s Delivery Group have already started investigating venues and are 
looking at churches and community centres. Rates would need to be competitive and only 
libraries with suitable space would be considered.  

A number of areas for services to commission the Library Service were identified during our 
engagement: 

 deliver informal courses e.g. IT, fun learning; 

 CICs (Community information centres); 

 benefits service; and 

 improve digital skills 

Page 54



 

27 
 

Building Community Together14 is a new initiative involving the police, public health and the 
local authority, to help people in West Berkshire help each other. It aims to make their 
communities stronger and less reliant on council services, whilst still getting the things they 
need to thrive. This is part of the overall council strategy, which aims to ‘support 
communities to do more for themselves’. 

This initiative presents a good opportunity for the library service to get involved. This 
project has taken off quickly and effectively and is creating a lot of opportunities for 
communities. There is a board for this initiative which the library service is not yet 
represented on but there is an open invitation to the service. Libraries could work in a 
number of ways with this project initially, e.g. by: 

 helping to disseminate information about the initiative; and 

 providing a safe place for communities to come together; 

The project is actively recruiting local staff to deliver activities in the communities and the 
library service could help to recruit additional staff. Meanwhile the project could help 
attract library volunteers from the community. This project is also looking at a community 
hub and spoke model, which is one of the options for the library service identified and 
explored below. 

 

                                                     
14 http://info.westberks.gov.uk/index.aspx?articleid=31746  

Page 55

http://info.westberks.gov.uk/index.aspx?articleid=31746


 

28 
 

5 Library profiles 

In this section we provide an overview of our findings on each library in West Berkshire, 
including a summary of demographic and financial information and of public feedback. The 
full datasets that underpin these summaries are included as Appendix D and it is these that 
should be used to inform future decision-making.  

Burghfield Common Library 

Burghfield Common Library is a small branch serving a predominantly rural area in the south 
east of West Berkshire and close to Reading. It is open for 19 hours a week, which is lower 
than the majority of branches.  

Use of the library 
Burghfield Common is the home branch for around 5% of the active borrowers within the 
library service. The number of visits to the library are in line with the level of active 
borrowers but the number of issues is rather higher at over 6%. Computer usage is very low 
at the branch. Issues are declining rapidly.  

The majority of active borrowers are local to the library, with over 77% of active borrowers 
living within Burghfield ward, and almost all are resident in West Berkshire. Over 60% of 
active borrowers do not use another library.  

Costs 
The cost of the library is amongst the lowest (direct net cost £32,850) and the cost per visit 
is below the service average. Staff cost per issue is low suggesting higher levels of 
productivity. However, income is poor compared to the level of visits. 

Demographic information 
Like all libraries in West Berkshire, Burghfield Common serves a greater proportion of 
younger people than the population at large, but the proportion of working age and older 
people is lower than the library service average. The ethnic profile of active borrowers is 
roughly similar to that of the area that it serves. 

By most indicators, the catchment area is amongst the least deprived in West Berkshire, an 
area with relatively low levels of deprivation. However, there are significant barriers to 
services. Most working residents travel more than 5 miles to work and only 8% of 
households have no access to a vehicle.  

Feedback from users 
Burghfield Common is spread out and has no real centre; therefore there is no obvious good 
location for a library. The library is on a senior school site but is not a joint school library, 
and people felt that this could possibly be investigated. There is an unused room between 
the public library and the school library and better use could be made of this space. 
Residents felt they were closer to Reading if this library closed than to another West 
Berkshire Library. It is particularly difficult to walk to Mortimer even though it is close by as 
there are no pavements and it is an unlit, national speed limit road.  

Page 56



 

29 
 

There is a supply of willing volunteers here through the volunteer bureau. Additionally, 
there is the possibility of moving the community café, which is currently run in the 
Methodist hall, but this would require installation of public toilets in the library. This does 
show evidence of a culture of volunteering in the area.  

The community feel marginalised by the council; the bus service has already been taken 
away. It is a very strong community but with no organised group apart from that formed 
around the existing community café.  

In discussing the hub and spoke model, the public proposed Theale as a hub and Mortimer 
and Burghfield Common as supported community libraries.  

Hungerford Library 

Hungerford Library is a medium sized branch serving the town of Hungerford and a rural 
area in the west of West Berkshire. It is open for 26 hours a week although only on 4 days.  

Use of the library 
Hungerford is the home branch for over 7% of the active borrowers within the library 
service. The number of visits to the library higher than the level of active borrowers but the 
number of issues is slightly lower. Computer usage compares well with most branches 
except Newbury. Issues are declining although at less than the average for the authority.  

The majority of active borrowers are local to the library, although almost one in five active 
borrowers live outside West Berkshire, presumably due to the proximity with the Wiltshire 
border. Almost 70% of resident active borrowers live within Hungerford ward, with 18% in 
Kintbury and 7% in Lambourn Valley. Over 64% of active borrowers do not use another 
library.  

Costs 
The cost of the library is in line with other medium sized libraries (direct net cost £51,100) 
and the cost per visit is low. Expenditure on staff is higher than at all but two libraries but 
this is offset by high levels of income and visits.  

Demographic information 
Like all libraries in West Berkshire, Hungerford serves a greater proportion of younger 
people than the population at large, but the proportion of older people is lower than the 
library service average. The ethnic profile of active borrowers is roughly similar to that of 
the area that it serves although people from white other groups are well represented. 

The catchment area is amongst the most deprived in West Berkshire, and a low score on 
barriers to services is anomalous. Most working residents travel more than 5 miles to work 
but 15% of households have no access to a vehicle. 

Feedback from users 
There is a very supportive friends’ group operating at Hungerford Library. A specific 
resource is the 1:1 private room available for renting, currently used by registrars, who 
don’t pay, and the town council, who do. The town council have an office in the same 
building and feel they will need more space in the future. They are willing to support 

Page 57



 

30 
 

financially and could take over the running of the building. The library is a good community 
space and has a garden.   

There is support for volunteering but users emphasised that they felt this should be 
alongside existing staff.  

A local group with learning disabilities visit regularly and there is a very active craft group.  

Hungerford has been named a Rural Service Centre.  

Wiltshire and Oxfordshire residents use the library (Wiltshire charge for reservations 85p). 
The police are moving into the fire station. 

Lambourn Library 

Lambourn Library is a small branch serving a predominantly rural area in the north west of 
West Berkshire. It is open for 15 hours a week, the lowest of any branch. 

Use of the library 
Lambourn is the home branch for just 3% of the active borrowers within the library service. 
The number of visits and issues are in line with the level of active borrowers but are the 
lowest in the service. Computer usage is low at the branch. Issues are declining less rapidly 
than in the service as a whole. 

The majority of active borrowers are local to the library, with over 94% of active borrowers 
living within Lambourn Valley ward, and the great majority are resident in West Berkshire. 
Over 78% of active borrowers do not use another library.  

Costs 
The cost of the library is in line with other small branches (direct net cost £34,500) but the 
cost per visit is high due to poor usage. Staff cost per issue is the highest in the authority 
suggesting lower levels of productivity. Income is poor compared to the level of visits. 

Demographic information 
Like all libraries in West Berkshire, Lambourn serves a greater proportion of younger people 
than the population at large and this is also true of older people, but the proportion of 
working age is lower than the library service average. The ethnic profile of active borrowers 
is roughly similar to that of the area that it serves. 

Income deprivation is the highest for any catchment area of West Berkshire, although it is in 
the lowest 40% nationally. There are significant barriers to services and a high proportion of 
residents with no qualifications. Most working residents travel more than 5 miles to work 
but 12% of households have no access to a vehicle which is high in a largely rural area.  

Feedback from users 
Lambourn is a quieter library in general with a mixed race community and English 
conversation groups taking place. There was a general feeling that there is not much going 
on in the library. Residents said that Oxfordshire are losing their mobile library and 
therefore more people are coming to use the West Berkshire libraries. 

Page 58



 

31 
 

Lambourn residents feel cut off and a lot is being taken away from them. There is no direct 
bus to Newbury and the cost of parking there is high.  

There was less support for volunteering in Lambourn library. The parish council are 
supportive and committed but would want to see equity across all town and parish councils.  

The local police office is closing, and it may be possible to move this into the library building. 

Mortimer Library 

Mortimer Library is a small branch serving a predominantly rural area in the south east of 
West Berkshire and close to Reading. It is open for 19 hours a week, which is lower than the 
majority of branches. 

Use of the library 
Mortimer is the home branch for around 4% of the active borrowers within the library 
service. The number of visits to the library are in line with the level of active borrowers but 
the number of issues is rather higher at almost 5%. Computer usage is very low at the 
branch. Issues are declining at a rate slightly less than the service as a whole.  

The great majority of active borrowers are local to the library, with almost 95% of active 
borrowers living within Mortimer ward, and nearly all are resident in West Berkshire. Over 
70% of active borrowers do not use another library.  

Costs 
The cost of the library is in line with smaller branches (direct net cost £36,700) and the cost 
per visit is below the service average. Staff cost per issue is high compared to other small 
branches. However, income is high compared to the level of visits. 

Demographic information 
Like all libraries in West Berkshire, Mortimer serves a greater proportion of younger people 
than the population at large, but the proportion of working age is lower than the library 
service average. The proportion of older active borrowers are in line with both service and 
authority figures. The ethnic profile of active borrowers is roughly similar to that of the area 
that it serves. 

By most indicators, the catchment area is around the average for West Berkshire, an area 
with relatively low levels of deprivation. Most working residents travel more than 5 miles to 
work but 11% of households have no access to a vehicle.  

Feedback from users 
Mortimer is a small library near the church and two primary schools. The parish council 
office is at the back of the building and rent is paid, but they feel this space is too small and 
would be put to better use as a café/family room. This space is a conservatory and leads out 
to the garden.  

The library land has a covenant on it from the 1970s stating ‘library use only’. More could be 
made of the library if it were community run. The parish council is very happy to support it 
financially. They envisage a community hub with central support for books and professional 

Page 59



 

32 
 

advice. The police station has closed and is running from a mobile unit in the pub car park, 
but could be better in the library. The post office is moving and the bank may also be at risk.  

Mortimer is a Rural Service Centre. Development of 120 houses is planned in the local area 
for the near future.  

Newbury Library 

Newbury Library is the principal library for West Berkshire and is of a different order of scale 
to all other branches. It is open for 49.5 hours a week over 6 days – over 20% of all hours 
offered across the service. 

Use of the library 
Newbury is the home branch for almost half of the active borrowers within the library 
service. The number of issues at the library is in line with the level of active borrowers but 
the number of visits is rather lower at 46%. Almost 70% of computer bookings and nearly 
95% of Wi-Fi usage across the service are at Newbury. Recently issues have declined less 
rapidly than across the service, but since 2004/5 they have reduced by half.  

Active borrowers using the library are spread out across West Berkshire, with most wards 
having more than 25% of active borrowers using Newbury library although there are 
exceptions – wards adjacent to Reading and those containing another library. 88% of active 
borrowers are resident in West Berkshire, lower than the average probably due to the 
employment offered in Newbury. Only half of active borrowers do not use another library.  

Costs 
The cost of the library is the highest in the authority as might be expected from a central 
library (direct net cost £452,859) but the vastly higher staffing costs (almost 50% of all 
branch staff costs) make the cost per visit the highest in the service. This runs counter to 
expectations of a central library. However, income is average compared to the level of visits 
but does little to offset the cost of staff. 

Demographic information 
The proportion of working age people who are active borrowers is higher at Newbury than 
the service average but older people are less well represented, probably due to people who 
work in Newbury making use of the library.  

Newbury has a large and diverse catchment area and deprivation levels are around the 
average for the authority, but there is a great variation within this. Downlands has a barriers 
to services indicator within the bottom 4% nationally.  

Feedback from users 
Response at Newbury to the drop-in was low but this may be because the library is not 
viewed as under threat. From observation, the staff levels are high and better use could be 
made of self-service facilities. The library is a busy, excellent space. Regular events take 
place and space is hired out. Space could be found for a café. 

 

Page 60



 

33 
 

Pangbourne Library 

Pangbourne Library is a small branch serving a portion of the Thames valley in the north 
east of West Berkshire and close to Reading. It is open for 22 hours a week, rather higher 
than the other small branches. 

Use of the library 
Pangbourne is the home branch for around 5.7% of the active borrowers within the library 
service, again higher than other small branches. Visits and issues are in line with the level of 
active borrowers. Computer usage is low at the branch, although again not as low as the 
other small branches. Pangbourne has Wi-Fi but it is hardly used.   Issues are declining less 
rapidly than the service as a whole.  

Pangbourne has a catchment area rather greater than the other small branches, but 88% of 
active borrowers live within Pangbourne, Purley on Thames or Basildon wards.  A relatively 
high proportion (12%) of active borrowers are not resident in West Berkshire, probably due 
to the proximity of the authority boundary. Over 60% of active borrowers do not use 
another library.  

Costs  
The cost of the library is in line with smaller branches (direct net cost £35,750) and the cost 
per visit is well below the service average. Staff cost per issue is average compared to other 
branches if Newbury is excluded. Income is rather low compared to the level of visits. 

Demographic information 
Like all libraries in West Berkshire, Pangbourne serves a greater proportion of younger 
people than the population at large, but the difference between age groups is not so 
pronounced at Pangbourne and the proportion of working age is higher than the library 
service average. The proportion of older active borrowers are in line with both service and 
authority figures. The ethnic profile of active borrowers is roughly similar to that of the area 
that it serves, although white other borrowers are less well represented. 

The catchment area of Pangbourne has low levels of educational and income deprivation, 
although health and barriers to services are around the average for the authority. The 
proportion of working residents travelling more than 5 miles to work is the highest in West 
Berkshire and only 7% of households have no access to a vehicle.  

Feedback from users 
Pangbourne is a small town library just along from the central shops in one room. It has a 
very well organised friends’ group who are ready to form charitable status and take over the 
running of the library. At the AGM of the parish council, they voted for the library to be their 
number one priority financially.  

Pangbourne is a Rural Service Centre. The Children’s Centre has closed therefore there may 
be colocation potential. The community feel they could make better use of the space for 
example in the evenings. A Sulham parish councillor said ‘What do we get from our council 
tax, closing the library is a step too far’.  

Page 61



 

34 
 

Thatcham Library 

Thatcham Library is a medium sized branch serving the town of Thatcham and a portion of 
the Kennet valley. It is by most metrics the best-used library after Newbury.  It is open for 35 
hours a week, offering the second highest number of hours of any West Berkshire library. 

Use of the library 
Thatcham is the home branch for one in eight of the active borrowers within the library 
service. Visits and issues are in line with the level of active borrowers. Computer usage is 
high at the branch, and the number of bookings per visit is the second highest in the 
authority. Issues are declining less rapidly than the service as a whole.  

Thatcham’s catchment area is limited to the four wards that make up the town, and 78% of 
active borrowers live within that area with another 10% from Bucklebury and Cold Ash.  
Almost no active borrowers are resident outside West Berkshire but almost half also use 
another library.  

Costs 
The cost of the library is considerably higher than the smaller branches (direct net cost 
£58,100, almost twice that of Burghfield for example), although only 13% of the cost of 
Newbury.  However, the cost per visit is the best in the service, and this is the same for the 
cost per issue and cost per active borrower. Staff cost per issue is low implying high 
productivity, but income is low compared to the level of visits. 

Demographic information 
Like all libraries in West Berkshire, Thatcham serves a greater proportion of younger people 
than the population at large, and the proportion of working age is considerably lower than 
the library service average. The proportion of older active borrowers are in line with the 
catchment area. The ethnic profile of active borrowers is roughly similar to that of the area 
that it serves, although white other borrowers are less well represented. 

The catchment area of Thatcham has relatively high levels of health, educational and 
income deprivation, although barriers to services are low for the authority. The proportion 
of working residents travelling more than 5 miles to work is the second lowest in West 
Berkshire and almost 12% of households have no access to a vehicle.  

Feedback from users 
Thatcham Library is not in the centre of town, but near the dentist, doctors and a parade of 
shops; however, it is still difficult to find and has poor signage.  Thatcham’s population is as 
big as Newbury and growing. There is free parking for one hour in Thatcham near the 
library. Residents are supportive of the use of volunteers but only alongside permanent 
staff. The library is surrounded by sheltered housing.  There is support from the town 
council to contribute to running costs. 

Theale Library 

Theale Library is a medium sized branch (a joint school/public library) serving the village of 
Theale and a portion of the Kennet valley close to Reading. It is open for 26 hours a week. 

Page 62



 

35 
 

Use of the library 
Theale is the home branch for 8.7% of the active borrowers within the library service, 
making it third in terms of membership. Visits are in line with the level of active borrowers, 
although issues are lower. Whilst it is not possible entirely to disaggregate usage between 
the general public and school pupils, it is likely that up to a quarter of issues and half of the 
visits are accounted for by the school.  Computer usage is high at the branch, and the 
number of bookings per visit is the third highest in the authority. Issues are declining at the 
lowest rate of the service as a whole. A high proportion of visits are associated with events.  

Theale’s catchment area includes Birch Copse, Calcot and Westwood wards, all of which are 
effectively outlying portions of the Reading metropolitan area, as well as Theale ward. 
Library usage in Birch Copse and Westwood is very low indeed. However, Theale does 
attract significant use from other areas outside its catchment area as it has been defined for 
the purposes of this exercise, and whilst around 40% of active borrowers come from Theale 
ward, a similar number come from Bucklebury, Calcot and Sulhampstead. 88% of active 
borrowers are resident within West Berkshire but more than half also use another library. It 
is worth noting that 98% of library users living in Theale ward have Theale library as their 
home branch. 

Costs 
The cost of the library is the lowest of the medium sized branches (direct net cost £51,400). 
Cost per visit is second only to Thatcham, and the same is true for cost per active borrower 
and cost per computer booking. Staff cost per issue is around the service average if 
Newbury library is excluded; however, income per issue is of a different order compared to 
other branches being almost four times the service average. Again, these figures are likely to 
be somewhat distorted by the school library, not least because a significant proportion of 
transactions take place during hours when the library is unstaffed. 

Demographic information 
Theale serves a far greater proportion of younger people than the population at large and is 
well above the service average for this age group, but the proportion of working age and 
older people is considerably lower than the catchment or library service averages. This is 
due to the high use of the library by school pupils. The ethnic profile of active borrowers is 
roughly similar to that of the area that it serves, although white other borrowers are less 
well represented. 

The catchment area of Theale has relatively high levels of health and educational 
deprivation, although income and barriers to services are low for the authority. The 
proportion of working residents travelling more than 5 miles to work around the average in 
West Berkshire and almost 12% of households have no access to a vehicle.  

Feedback from users 
Theale Library is a joint school/public library situated at the entrance of the senior school. 
Attached is an extension of considerable size (2 classrooms, a dance studio and a kitchen 
and toilets). This is currently managed by the school and full rental potential is not being 
realised.  

Page 63



 

36 
 

The parish council are supportive, including potentially contributing to funding. There is a 
supportive friend’s group, which includes some members from the parish council.  

The community would like a café and there is space for this. There is a trust who run the 
village hall and there may be opportunities for working together.  

There is no bank in the village therefore possible partnerships with bank for rural 
community may be an idea across all libraries.  

Currently there is a disproportionally high cost of running this library. 

Many more activities could be run in the library, especially if more community run with 
more involvement. They could rent rooms for children’s parties and other events. Support 
locally for more volunteers. The council service centre in Calcot closed, therefore people 
could access more council services through the library. The parish council would also be 
interested in renting space; they do not have a lot of money but perhaps surrounding 
parishes could contribute.  

Wash Common Library 

Wash Common Library is a small branch serving the southwestern portion of Newbury. It is 
open for 15 hours a week. 

Use of the library 
Wash Common is the home branch for less than 3% of the active borrowers within the 
library service, making it lowest in terms of membership. Visits and issues are rather higher 
than the level of active borrowers, although neither amount to more than 4% of the total 
for the service and only Lambourn has lower usage. Computer usage is very low indeed and 
is the lowest per visit within the service.  Issues are declining at the greatest rate of any 
branch library.  

There is no ward in West Berkshire where the greatest number of active borrowers have 
Wash Common as a home branch, but 30% of active borrowers in Falkland have given the 
library as a home branch and for this reason, comparative figures have been used for that 
ward. 76% of active borrowers giving Wash Common as a home branch live in Falkland ward 
with a further 15% in Kintbury and St Johns. Since Wash Common opened in 2004, it is 
possible that some long-standing members who now use Wash Common registered at 
another branch. 88% of active borrowers are resident within West Berkshire but almost 60% 
also use another library.  

Costs 
The cost of the library is in line with other small branches (direct net cost £36,550). Cost per 
visit is third highest in the authority, or second if Newbury is excluded. The same is true for 
cost per issue whilst active borrower and cost per computer booking is the highest in the 
authority. Staff cost per issue is high, only being exceeded by Lambourn and income per 
issue is the lowest in the service. 

 
 

Page 64



 

37 
 

Demographic information 
Wash Common serves a greater proportion of younger people than the population at large 
but the proportion of working age people is considerably lower than the catchment or 
library service averages. A high proportion of older people use the library. The ethnic profile 
of active borrowers is roughly similar to that of the area that it serves and white other 
borrowers are well represented. 

The catchment area of Wash Common has relatively low levels of income, health and 
educational deprivation, although barriers to services are average for the authority. The 
proportion of working residents travelling more than 5 miles to work is very high at 60% 
although only 10% of households have no access to a vehicle. 

Feedback from users 
Wash Common Library is in the middle of a housing estate three miles outside Newbury. 
There is a pre-school next door during the week.  

The greatest emphasis placed by users was on the importance of local, being able to walk 
there especially with children and for the elderly. The library has a small, free car park and 
some visitors drive to the library. The high cost of parking or taking the bus to Newbury, as 
well as the time taken, is an off-putting factor (especially for the elderly). Smaller 
community libraries are thought to be better for children. Its proximity to five local schools 
is considered important. 

The local councillor was supportive of using more volunteers. There is a lot of supported 
housing close by, and a proposed new development nearby15. 

If closing Wash Common, you should consider using the mobile library or At Home service 
for residents of the sheltered housing. 

Mobile Libraries 

West Berkshire provides two mobile libraries which serve a number of locations in the 
authority. Most of these are rural locations distant from a static library, but Birch Copse and 
Westwood wards are also served. Rather oddly, there are also a number of mobile library 
stops close to West Berkshire libraries, especially in the Newbury/Speen area. 

Use of the library 
There are 765 active borrowers using the mobile service, around 3.7% of the total users of 
the service. Of these about two thirds do not use any of the static branches.  

Visits to mobile libraries account for around 3.5% of the total for the service but for over 9% 
of issues. No computers are provided on the mobiles.  

The wards in which mobiles are best used as a proportion of total library usage are 
Westwood, Aldermaston, Birch Copse, Downlands and Kintbury. Kintbury accounts for over 

                                                     
15 Although mentioned by several users, it is our understanding that this development will not take place for at 
least ten years 

Page 65



 

38 
 

11% of usage of the mobile service, Calcot nearly 9% and Speen 7%. No other ward has 
more than 50 active borrowers using the mobile service.  

Costs 
The cost of the mobiles is higher than any branch other than Newbury (direct net cost for 
two mobiles £147,050) and this impacts on cost per visit which is four time the average for 
the authority. The high number of issues brings this figure down somewhat for cost per 
issue but it is still much higher than any other service point. The cost of providing this 
service is £192 per active borrower.  

Demographic information 
Usage of the mobile libraries is predominantly by older people, almost 70% of active 
borrowers being over 65. A much higher proportion of white other people use the mobiles 
than either in the authority or across the entire service. This is at odds with most static 
libraries suggesting that this ethnic group prefer to use mobile libraries. 75% of mobile users 
are female, higher than the service average of 65%.  

Feedback from users 
A member of our team spent one day on the mobile and talked to users at the five stops it 
made. These included two sheltered housing sites, one mobile home site, a prison secure 
hospital and a housing estate near a school. The comments made by those users echoed the 
general value put on the service by the public with several saying that they regarded the 
service as a lifeline. A majority of the users seen that day would be unable to use a static 
library, or would find it very difficult to do so, but one borrower at the mobile home site also 
uses the local static library. Most people use the mobile library to borrow books, and users 
expressed satisfaction with the collections and the regular refresh of stock.  

Some users visited the drop-in sessions in static libraries to discuss the mobile library 
service. They stressed its importance for elderly people living in the villages. They felt it was 
under-publicised as a service and felt that parish councils could promote it more, and that 
use could be made of local newsletters. The point was made that they don’t need two paid 
members of staff on the mobile library, and the alternative of book drops was mentioned. 
There were concerns that reducing to a single vehicle would mean less frequent visits 

At Home Service 

The At Home Service accounts for only a tiny proportion of active borrowers. Of these the 
great majority are aged over 65 (94%) and 89% are female. A much greater proportion of 
members are ‘white other’ in classification of ethnicity.  

The service performs well in terms of issues per visit as might be expected.  

 

 

Page 66



 

39 
 

6 Conclusions and recommendations 

Our needs assessment work has demonstrated that the current service is highly valued by 
users and is perceived by them as meeting a range of needs. Libraries are seen as providing 
a place (sometimes the only place) where local people can meet, access services and come 
together as a community. The network of libraries as it currently stands is able to meet 
people’s needs and is compliant with the Public Library and Museums Act 1964. However, 
our work has also shown that West Berkshire Library Service is relatively expensive to run, 
and we believe that there are some efficiencies to be found which, while not enabling you 
to meet the full budget reduction requirement, could make a useful contribution towards it. 

But even with the introduction of the efficiency measures proposed above it is clear to us 
that you cannot continue to maintain a network of nine libraries as you have done in the 
past within the new budget constraints. Our work indicates that to continue to meet 
community needs you should make every effort to maintain the current network, or if that 
is not possible, reduce it as little as possible. Your aim must be to have a network of library 
branches that are accessible to residents and which provide a core library service as well as 
targeted offers to meet specific needs. You may wish to explore different ways to provide 
the service, as have been adopted elsewhere in the country, drawing on the goodwill of 
your communities to support you, which we have observed throughout our engagement. 

Should it prove necessary to close any libraries, despite your best efforts, then mitigating 
action should be taken to meet needs through, for example, a review of mobile library stops 
(location, frequency, duration). 

Page 67



 

40 
 

Appendix A: defining branch catchment areas 

There are a number of ways that library catchment areas could be defined. By one measure, 
all points which are closer to a particular library than any other would form a catchment 
area. This has two disadvantages – first that it is not possible to obtain census or other data 
to compare with library usage for catchment areas defined in this way, and secondly it 
ignores the fact that many people for all sorts of reasons do not use their nearest library 
preferring one further away.  

It is also possible to define a catchment area by selecting those wards adjoining the library 
or where it is most likely that residents will use a particular library. A third method is to 
analyse current patterns of membership and allocate wards to the library which has most 
use by residents of that ward. These two last methods allow comparisons with census data.  

The last method reflects the actual rather than the theoretical position. If it is adopted the 
results are shown below: 

Ward 
Most used library 
by ward residents 

% of active 
borrowers in 
ward using best 
used library 

% of residents 
using At Home 
or mobile 
services 

Aldermaston Newbury 39.66 20.00 

Basildon Pangbourne 66.97 9.95 

Birch Copse Theale 57.14 18.57 

Bucklebury Newbury 49.40 6.97 

Burghfield Burghfield Common 90.85 2.77 

Calcot Theale 75.46 18.02 

Chieveley Newbury 84.59 6.23 

Clay Hill Newbury 90.61 0.13 

Cold Ash Newbury 57.37 4.21 

Compton Newbury 74.71 9.20 

Downlands Newbury 77.96 16.61 

Falkland Newbury 68.10 0.94 

Greenham Newbury 91.59 3.06 

Hungerford Hungerford 85.16 2.00 

Kintbury Newbury 49.93 12.79 

Lambourn Valley Lambourn 70.77 3.48 

Mortimer Mortimer 83.64 2.90 

Northcroft Newbury 93.08 4.01 

Pangbourne Pangbourne 92.22 1.40 

Purley on Thames Pangbourne 73.67 9.76 

Speen Newbury 85.29 9.97 

St Johns Newbury 91.07 3.01 

Sulhamstead Burghfield Common 39.62 8.36 

Thatcham Central Thatcham 71.33 2.61 

Thatcham North Thatcham 72.22 0.42 

Page 68



 

41 
 

Thatcham South and Crookham Thatcham 63.50 4.44 

Thatcham West Thatcham 62.32 0.29 

Theale Theale 97.52 0.93 

Victoria Newbury 91.02 3.91 

Westwood Theale 38.24 38.24 

 

This shows that for the majority of wards, there is normally one library which is the home 
library for most residents. In wards where a library is located, it is almost always the local 
library that is most popular although Wash Common library is less well used than Newbury 
library in Falkland ward and almost no people are using Wash Common from the 
neighbouring Greenham ward. Sulhampstead is almost equally divided between users of 
Burghfield Common and Theale libraries, but otherwise the most well used library for a 
ward is considerably better used than the next most well used. An equal number of 
Westwood residents use Theale library and the various mobile and At Home services, but 
the actual number of active borrowers in this ward is very low (34 in total).  

With the exception of Westwood, no more than 20% of residents use the mobile and At 
Home services in any ward, with the highest being in Aldermaston, Birch Copse, Calcot, 
Downlands and Kintbury.  

Using this methodology, it is possible to compare the performance of individual branches to 
the wards for which the branch is the best used library. To overcome the problem that no 
ward has been allocated to Wash Common, that branch has been compared to Falkland 
ward although the ward is also used in the comparative statistics for Newbury library.  

 

 

Page 69



 

42 
 

Appendix B: detailed demographic report 

Population breakdown by ward: 

 

Ward Population 0-20 21 -64 65+ 

Aldermaston 2851 31.92 50.86 17.22 

Basildon 3103 35.93 49.53 14.53 

Birch Copse 7789 35.05 49.84 15.11 

Bucklebury 6730 45.47 41.63 12.90 

Burghfield 5955 39.90 48.50 11.60 

Calcot 8785 37.67 51.88 10.45 

Chieveley 2890 48.27 39.97 11.76 

Clay Hill 6827 38.52 51.03 10.44 

Cold Ash 3458 46.41 40.92 12.67 

Compton 3164 40.30 47.76 11.95 

Downlands 3115 37.21 49.92 12.87 

Falkland 6361 37.70 46.38 15.93 

Greenham 5682 41.39 48.59 10.01 

Hungerford 5767 32.36 51.45 16.20 

Kintbury 5034 35.94 49.84 14.22 

Lambourn Valley 5575 33.85 50.10 16.05 

Mortimer 5732 39.71 44.30 16.00 

Northcroft 5354 33.21 53.57 13.22 

Pangbourne 2978 37.54 45.90 16.55 

Purley on Thames 6548 33.64 50.41 15.94 

St Johns 5799 32.92 50.77 16.31 

Speen 5662 34.55 47.90 17.56 

Sulhamstead 2953 39.89 46.60 13.51 

Thatcham Central 6033 37.39 51.14 11.47 

Thatcham North 5870 44.38 46.47 9.15 

Thatcham South and Crookham 6974 41.14 49.02 9.84 

Thatcham West 6390 36.65 52.39 10.95 

Theale 2835 36.68 50.58 12.73 

Victoria 4852 25.74 62.82 11.44 

Westwood 2756 36.76 44.59 18.65 

 

 

Page 70



 

43 
 

Ethnic breakdown by ward: 

Ward 
White 
British 

White 
other Mixed  Asian  Black Other 

Aldermaston 94 3 1 1 0 0 

Basildon 93 4 2 1 0 0 

Birch Copse 89 3 3 3 2 0 

Bucklebury 92 5 1 1 0 0 

Burghfield 93 3 1 2 1 0 

Calcot 83 4 3 6 3 0 

Chieveley 92 3 1 3 1 0 

Clay Hill 86 7 1 4 1 0 

Cold Ash 92 4 1 1 1 0 

Compton 95 2 1 1 0 0 

Downlands 94 4 1 1 0 0 

Falkland 92 4 2 2 2 0 

Greenham 90 5 2 3 1 0 

Hungerford 94 4 1 1 0 0 

Kintbury 94 4 1 1 0 0 

Lambourn Valley 93 5 1 1 0 0 

Mortimer 90 4 2 3 1 0 

Northcroft 88 6 1 3 1 0 

Pangbourne 91 5 2 2 1 0 

Purley on Thames 88 4 2 3 1 0 

St Johns 90 5 1 2 1 1 

Speen 92 5 1 1 1 0 

Sulhamstead 93 4 1 1 1 0 

Thatcham Central 91 5 2 2 1 0 

Thatcham North 92 4 1 2 1 0 

Thatcham South and Crookham 90 4 2 3 1 0 

Thatcham West 93 4 1 1 1 0 

Theale 90 4 2 3 1 0 

Victoria 79 9 2 9 1 1 

Westwood 91 3 2 2 1 0 

 

Deprivation indices by ward: 

Ward 

Income 
average 
percentile 

Education 
average 
percentile 

Barriers to 
service 
average 
percentile 

Aldermaston 74.00 64.00 23.00 

Basildon 94.00 92.50 21.50 

Page 71



 

44 
 

Birch Copse 90.80 64.40 76.00 

Bucklebury 86.75 90.75 24.75 

Burghfield 81.75 78.25 41.50 

Calcot 61.83 48.83 32.83 

Chieveley 97.50 89.50 53.00 

Clay Hill 55.25 33.50 78.50 

Cold Ash 89.00 84.50 46.50 

Compton 82.00 69.50 21.50 

Downlands 80.00 77.50 3.50 

Falkland 84.75 78.75 64.50 

Greenham 56.67 38.67 34.67 

Hungerford 68.00 54.50 76.75 

Kintbury 74.00 73.67 40.33 

Lambourn Valley 63.00 49.00 39.25 

Mortimer 72.33 79.00 52.33 

Northcroft 54.33 50.67 66.00 

Pangbourne 84.50 79.50 76.00 

Purley on Thames 83.00 77.00 56.75 

St Johns 66.75 80.25 84.50 

Speen 59.00 56.50 29.00 

Sulhamstead 71.50 64.00 18.50 

Thatcham Central 62.50 51.75 79.25 

Thatcham North 71.00 59.25 76.25 

Thatcham South and Crookham 67.67 59.67 66.33 

Thatcham West 69.50 38.00 68.25 

Theale 64.00 48.50 67.50 

Victoria 44.33 40.33 77.67 

Westwood 96.50 59.00 92.00 

 

 
  

Page 72



 

45 
 

Appendix C: full financial summary 

West Berkshire Libraries – value for money appraisal 

This appendix provides the full dataset that underpins the summary at 4.2 in the main body 
of the report. It focuses on comparisons between West Berkshire Library Service (WBLS) and 
other library authorities that are similar both demographically and in the pressures that 
they face. This gives an indication of the value for money which WBLS provides. 

Within individual library authorities there are often considerable variations between the 
performance and costs of individual library branches and services, and also these are 
generally not reported through CIPFA but can be analysed through internal service data. The 
second part of this appendix therefore focuses on variations within WBLS and gives an 
indication of how effective spending is within the service. 

Comparison with other authorities 

The data below is taken from the CIPFA Public Library Statistics for 2014/15. These were 
accompanied by three analytical reports showing comparisons for national, regional and 
‘nearest neighbour’ authorities. Whilst all are useful in building up a picture of the relative 
performance of any participating library service, they do also present some significant 
difficulties: 

The nearest neighbour analysis compares WBLS to a fifteen similar authorities elsewhere in 
the country, and in particular with unitary authorities where the majority of the population 
is centred in one medium sized town surrounded by more rural areas; the Metropolitan 
Borough of Solihull was also included, as although some areas of the authority are part of 
the West Midlands conurbation there is a significant rural portion.  

However, when considering value for money, comparator authorities must be in roughly 
similar market circumstances especially for staff and property costs for an analysis to be 
meaningful, and the inclusion in the nearest neighbour report of authorities such as 
Herefordshire, Solihull and the two Cheshire services would skew financial comparisons. 
Rutland spends more than twice as much per resident on its library service than any other in 
the comparator group (and nearly four times as much as West Berkshire) and would 
therefore skew all comparative figure, whilst Wokingham did not provide any data to CIPFA. 
For this reason, the group of comparator authorities has been narrowed and Bracknell 
Forest, Central Bedfordshire, Windsor and Maidenhead, Bedford, Bath and North East 
Somerset, Wiltshire, South Gloucestershire, Milton Keynes and North Somerset have been 
retained. Adjoining two tier county authorities – Hampshire and Oxfordshire – have not 
been included as the scale of the library operations in those areas makes meaningful 
comparisons difficult.  

  

Page 73



 

46 
 

Patterns of spending 

 

 
 

 
 

-500000
0

500000
1000000
1500000
2000000
2500000
3000000
3500000
4000000
4500000

Spend by category (£)

Staff Premises Stock

Computing Other supplies and services Transport

Third party payments Support Service costs Income

Page 74



 

47 
 

The charts above show how expenditure is allocated across several major headings within 
comparator authorities, in absolute terms and percentages16. West Berkshire’s overall 
expenditure is slightly above the average for the comparator group but the allocation of the 
budget across the various categories is broadly in line with the other authorities. The 
proportion of budget spent on transport is the highest in the group, although other supplies 
and services are lower; income is below average.  

Expenditure by population 

 

The chart above shows how West Berkshire invests in its library service compared to the 
average for other authorities in the group and relative to their populations. Whilst nowhere 
near as high as Bracknell Forest or Windsor and Maidenhead, WBLS is spending considerably 
more per capita than most authorities in the comparator group.  

In most spending categories, West Berkshire is investing above the average; this is 
particularly the case in staffing and premises. Investment in transport, whilst only a very 
small proportion of the overall investment, is four times the average for the group.  

  

                                                     
16 For the sake of clarity, income is shown as a positive rather than a negative figure 

Page 75



 

48 
 

Provision of libraries 

 

The chart above shows the relative provision and usage of libraries adjusted for 
population17. West Berkshire is providing slightly more libraries per resident than the 
average for the group, although the opening hours per resident are slightly lower than 
average. The number of visits per hour offered is low although the issues per hour is above 
average.  

Usage by population 

 

The chart above shows the level of usage of library services in comparison to resident 
population18. Visits per resident were low compared to the average for the comparator 

                                                     
17 Opening hours are calculated on bands of data given in the CIPFA report, rather than actual hours which are 
not available. This means that the figures must be approximate but are generally good enough to give an 
overall impression. 
18 Bracknell Forest and Milton Keynes did not submit figures on computer usage 

0.00

20.00

40.00

60.00

80.00

100.00

Library branches per
1000000 population

Weekly opening hours per
10000 population

Visits per hour Issues per hour

Provision and usage of library branches and mobile libraries

  West Berkshire   Bracknell Forest   Central Bedfordshire

  Windsor & Maidenhead   Bedford   Bath & North East Somerset

  Wiltshire   South Gloucestershire   Milton Keynes

  North Somerset

0

1000

2000

3000

4000

5000

6000

Visits per 1000 capita Issues per 1000 capita PC hours per 10000 capita Housebound users per
100000 capita

Library performance by population

  West Berkshire   Bracknell Forest   Central Bedfordshire

  Windsor & Maidenhead   Bedford   Bath & North East Somerset

  Wiltshire   South Gloucestershire   Milton Keynes

  North Somerset

Page 76



 

49 
 

group, although issues were above average. The usage of library computers was on the low 
side and the number of housebound users below average, although this figure is distorted 
by some relatively high returns from some authorities. 

Provision of staff 

 

Staffing is the single highest element of expenditure in any library service and it is vitally 
important that staffing costs are controlled to achieve value for money. The chart above 
shows that the number of staff provided in West Berkshire is slightly above the average for 
the comparator group. Staff costs per visitor were high, although as WBLS has a high 
proportion of issues to visits, the staff cost per issue was lower, although still well above the 
average for the group.  

 

This chart shows staff productivity in relation to the services actually provided to the public. 
The pattern observed previously where WBLS performs better in relation to issues than to 
visits is reflected in these figures, so that the number of visits per member of staff is well 

0.00

1.00

2.00

3.00

4.00

5.00

Members of staff per 1000
population

Staff cost per visit Staff cost per issue

Staffing provision and costs

  West Berkshire   Bracknell Forest   Central Bedfordshire

  Windsor & Maidenhead   Bedford   Bath & North East Somerset

  Wiltshire   South Gloucestershire   Milton Keynes

  North Somerset

0

5000

10000

15000

20000

25000

Visits per member of staff (000s) Issues per member of staff (000s) PC bookings per member of staff

Staff productivity

  West Berkshire   Bracknell Forest   Central Bedfordshire

  Windsor & Maidenhead   Bedford   Bath & North East Somerset

  Wiltshire   South Gloucestershire   Milton Keynes

  North Somerset

Page 77



 

50 
 

below the average but the issues per member of staff is above average. Stock transactions 
are labour intensive, even at libraries where – like Newbury – uptake of self-service kiosks is 
high. Like many library services outside major centres of population, computer usage in 
West Berkshire is low.  

 

The average cost per member of staff is 50% higher than the average for the comparator 
group. This figure is skewed by an extraordinarily low cost in Wiltshire, but even if that 
figure is excluded West Berkshire is well above average. Similarly, staffing costs for each 
hour open was high, indicating that staffing levels may need to be reviewed. The use of 
volunteers in WBLS was around the average for the comparator group, but services like 
Windsor and Maidenhead, Bath and North East Somerset and Wiltshire all indicate that 
more can be done to attract volunteers.  

  

£0.00

£20.00

£40.00

£60.00

£80.00

£100.00

£120.00

£140.00

£160.00

Staff cost per FTE employee (£000s) Staff cost per hour open (£) Volunteer hours per opening hour

Staff cost and volunteer usage

  West Berkshire   Bracknell Forest   Central Bedfordshire

  Windsor & Maidenhead   Bedford   Bath & North East Somerset

  Wiltshire   South Gloucestershire   Milton Keynes

  North Somerset

Page 78



 

51 
 

Stock 

 

The chart above analyses how stock budgets performed in different authorities, although 
Windsor and Maidenhead did not provide data on non-book items. Although West Berkshire 
has relatively high issues per resident and per visit, the spending on stock was high. The 
return on stock investment in West Berkshire – at 27p per issue - was worse than the 
average for the comparator authorities of 19p. This figure is distorted by a very good return 
from Wiltshire, but stock efficiency is higher in South Gloucester, Milton Keynes and North 
Somerset. The picture can be distorted by high levels of spending on expensive formats 
(such as DVDs) or on resources which, although valuable to the public, do not result in issues 
like newspapers or online resources. The percentage of expenditure on books in West 
Berkshire is relatively low as a proportion of the overall stock budget, and investment in 
talking books and online resources is high, and this partly accounts for the lower return.  

54% of West Berkshire’s stock budget was spent on books, rather lower than the average 
for the comparator group. 88% of issues were books, but the proportion of non-book issues 
was the highest within the group. The average cost of non-book items added to stock was 
£25.54, reflecting the high spend on adult talking books, and although not all comparator 
authorities provided data, this appears well above the likely average. Similarly, the cost paid 
per book is on the high side for the comparator groups, although only just above average 
nationally. West Berkshire has reduced its stock spend considerably since 2014/15 which is 
likely to affect comparative performance but may consider reviewing its stock acquisition 
policy to bring costs in line with higher performing authorities. 

  

0.00

50.00

100.00

150.00

200.00

250.00

300.00

350.00

Stock spend per issue
(pence)

Non-book spend per
issue (pence)

Cost per book
acquired (£)

Cost per non book
items acquired (£)

% of stock budget
spent on books

Stock efficiency

  West Berkshire   Bracknell Forest   Central Bedfordshire

  Windsor & Maidenhead   Bedford   Bath & North East Somerset

  Wiltshire   South Gloucestershire   Milton Keynes

  North Somerset

Page 79



 

52 
 

Premises  

 

 

Nearly half of the spend on premises in West Berkshire is at Newbury Library. The cost of 
premises per library was in line with other authorities, except for Central Bedfordshire 
which clearly has a different accounting methodology. The premises cost per resident was 
high however, partially accounted for by a relatively generous provision of library branches 
in West Berkshire, and since the number of visits per resident is comparatively low, the 
premises cost per visit is high. It is fair to say that property costs across all library services 
are difficult to compare as a variety of methods are used to allocate costs in the authority 
accounts.  

Nevertheless, it appears that property costs are rather high for WBLS. This is likely to be 
accounted for in part by the fact that many elements of property costs – for example 
business rates – are fixed and therefore if the hours a branch is open are low, then the unit 
cost is increased on some measures.  

  

0.00

1.00

2.00

3.00

4.00

Premises costs per library (£0,000s) Premises per resident (£) Premises cost per visit (£)

Premises costs

  West Berkshire   Bracknell Forest   Central Bedfordshire

  Windsor & Maidenhead   Bedford   Bath & North East Somerset

  Wiltshire   South Gloucestershire   Milton Keynes

  North Somerset

Page 80



 

53 
 

Computing, transport, other supplies and services and support costs 

 

These budget headings together account for almost a quarter of gross revenue spend in 
West Berkshire, with the great majority in support service costs.  

Computing cost are high in relation to other services. This is partly due to the state of the 
market in library management system supply, where prices to a smaller service are not 
significantly different to those for a larger service.  

Other supplies and services are generally items that can be controlled fully by the library 
services and are in line with other authorities. West Berkshire’s spending is in line with the 
rest of the group. 

Transport costs are high, due largely to the provision of the two mobile libraries. However, 
transport is only a very small proportion of the total budget.  

Third party payment are low, and have been reduced by about 90% in the 2015/16 financial 
year.  

Support services costs are very high, although these are normally outside the control of the 
library service. 

  

 (0.20)

 -

 0.20

 0.40

 0.60

 0.80

 1.00

 1.20

 1.40

 1.60

Computing Other supplies and
services

Transport Third party payments Support Service costs

Spend per visit by budget heading (£)

  West Berkshire   Bracknell Forest   Central Bedfordshire

  Windsor & Maidenhead   Bedford   Bath & North East Somerset

  Wiltshire   South Gloucestershire   Milton Keynes

  North Somerset

Page 81



 

54 
 

Revenue income 

 

 

Revenue income in WBLS is average compared to comparators but is high when adjusted for 
customer levels.  

 

 

 

 -

 20.00

 40.00

 60.00

 80.00

% of gross revenue Income per visit (pence)

Revenue income

  West Berkshire   Bracknell Forest   Central Bedfordshire

  Windsor & Maidenhead   Bedford   Bath & North East Somerset

  Wiltshire   South Gloucestershire   Milton Keynes

  North Somerset

0.00

5.00

10.00

15.00

20.00

25.00

30.00

35.00

Overdue
charges

Reservation
fees

Lettings AV hire Electronic
revenue

Specific
grants

Provision of
services to

other
authorities

Receipts
from the

public

Corporate
income

Income per visit (pence)

  West Berkshire   Bracknell Forest   Central Bedfordshire

  Windsor & Maidenhead   Bedford   Bath & North East Somerset

  Wiltshire   South Gloucestershire   Milton Keynes

  North Somerset

Page 82



 

55 
 

West Berkshire does not charge fees for reservations or any electronic services and was 
therefore below the average for the group. These represent very small amounts in the 
overall service budget and it may be that WBLS considers these concessions a useful 
contribution to the library offer.  

West Berkshire is doing well in collecting overdue fees and for the hire of audio visual stock. 
Other receipts from the public can include a multitude of charges and activities but 
reprographic charges is normally a major element. In this respect, WBLS was about average 
in terms of its performance.  

The high level of corporate income is an indication that the work that the service is 
providing beyond that of a traditional library service was recognised in 2014/15. However, 
this income does not appear to have been received in the 2015/16 financial year.  

Perhaps the most significant issue in the analysis of income is the lack of income from 
lettings in West Berkshire. This is of course not only dependent on local charging policies but 
also on the availability of space for hire. However, for a service which has a number of 
libraries which are not open for long hours, there is the potential to make good use of the 
space during closed times through hire of the facilities.  

Value for money 

 

 

£0.00

£1.00

£2.00

£3.00

£4.00

£5.00

£6.00

£7.00

£8.00

Cost per visit (£) Cost per issue (£) Cost per library (£00000s)

Key indicators

  West Berkshire   Bracknell Forest   Central Bedfordshire

  Windsor & Maidenhead   Bedford   Bath & North East Somerset

  Wiltshire   South Gloucestershire   Milton Keynes

  North Somerset

Page 83



 

56 
 

The ultimate determinate of the value that a library service delivers is the cost for each visit. 
Amongst its comparator group, West Berkshire was at the high end. There are a number of 
reasons for this which have been discussed above, but this metric is determined by the 
number of visits to the service, and this is low in comparison to other authorities. Cost per 
issue is also high, although the difference here is less marked, whilst the cost per library is 
more in line with other library services. 

 

When this data is adjusted to reflect the number of opening hours offered, West Berkshire’s 
unit costs remain high. Wiltshire and Central Bedfordshire have unusually low costs for staff 
and premises respectively, and these authorities cannot be regarded as a fair comparison in 
this respect. However, it is clear that West Berkshire is more expensive by a number of 
measures than the average for its comparator group.  

There are a number of budget headings where West Berkshire is performing well or at the 
average, but others where there could be a need for improvement. Staffing costs are high 
and by some measures productivity is low. Whilst volunteers are already being engaged, 
there is scope for increasing numbers. West Berkshire’s customers clearly value the stock 
provided, as indicated by the high number of issues per visit, but the return on stock 
investment could be improved. Premises costs, too, are high due to the large number of 
libraries with short hours and low visits and issues. Revenue income is good, but if it is 
possible to rent out space could be improved. The revenue budget for 2015/16 is 
considerably lower than that for the previous year and it is likely that there will be 
improvement in comparative performance when the next CIPFA figures are released. 

 

£0.00

£50.00

£100.00

£150.00

£200.00

£250.00

Cost per hour open to the public

Page 84



 

57 
 

Appendix D: all library datasheets 

Burghfield Common Library 

School Lane 
Burghfield Common 
Reading 
West Berkshire 
RG7 3JZ 

Performance 2015/16 
Percentage figures show the proportion of the total for West Berkshire libraries and exclude 
the At Home Service and mobile libraries, unless otherwise indicated 

 hours open: 19 hours per week over 5 days (8.3%) 

 visits: 18,640 (4.7%) 

 physical issues at branch: 29,103 (5.6% of entire service) 

 issues including remote renewals: 38,079 (6.4%) 

 active borrowers: 994 (5.0%) 

 active borrowers only using home branch: 61.2% (5) 

 of which male: 35.3% 

 percentage of active borrowers resident in West Berkshire: 97.8% (2) 

 percentage of active borrowers living in ward in which library is located having 
branch as home library: 90.9%  (4) 

 PC hours used: 385 (1.1%) 

 Wi-Fi minutes used: 0 (0%) 

 issues per visit: 2.0 

 visits associated with events: 1,091(2.9%) 

Trends 
Stock issues at Burghfield Common have risen 7.7% since 2004/5, but reached a peak in 
2013/14. There was a decline of 26.7% between 2014/15 and 2015/16. 

Costs 
Direct net cost of running library: £32,850 

Of which: 

 staff: £27,500 

 premises: £11,500 

 income: £3,550 

 cost per visit: £1.48 (4) 

Page 85



 

58 
 

Cost per activity 
Rank order of West Berkshire library branches in brackets where rank 1 is the most efficient 
and rank 10 the least 

 cost per visit: £1.95 (5=) 

 cost per issue: £0.96 (2) 

 PC hours used: £94.55 (8) 

 Wi-Fi minutes: No Wi-Fi at this branch  

 cost per active borrower: £36.62 (4) 

 cost per hour: £38.32 (2) 

 staff cost per hour: £28.95 (1) 

 premises costs per hour: £12.11 (4) 

 income per visit: £0.19 (8) 

Take up of activities 

 visits per hour: 19.6 (7) 

 issues per hour: 40.1 (3) 

 PC bookings per hour available: 67.8% (2) 

Wards included in catchment area 
Burghfield 

Demographic comparisons  

 

 

Page 86



 

59 
 

 

Indicators of deprivation for catchment area 
Except where stated, this information is taken from the 2011 Census. Rankings for each 
library catchment area are given in brackets where a library ranked 1 has the least deprived 
catchment area and that ranked 9 the most deprived.  

 deprivation score for income: 77% (4)19 

 residents reporting poor or very poor health:  12.7% (1) 

 residents with no qualifications: 15.3% (4)  

 residents with unpaid caring responsibility:  9% (2) 

 households with no access to a vehicle: 8.3% (2) 

 deprivation score for barriers to services and housing: 30% (9)20 

Analysis of transport and access to vehicles 

 working residents travelling less than five miles to work:  30.7% (1) 

 distance to next nearest library: 2 miles (Mortimer) (8 minutes by public 
transport) 

 distance to Newbury library: 15 miles (1 hour 20 minutes by public transport) 
 

                                                     
19 The figure is based on the indices of deprivation published by ONS in 2013. The format that they are given in 

does not allow easy aggregation of data, but to produce an indication of the degree of deprivation in the 
catchment area for the library, an average percentile has been derived. This is an approximation to overall 
deprivation in the area rather than an exact figure. The higher the percentage given, the lower the level of 
deprivation in the area.  

20 This measures the physical and financial accessibility of housing and local services and is taken from the 
indices of multiple deprivation published by ONS in 2013.The same methodology has been used as for the 
income deprivations 

Page 87



 

60 
 

Hungerford Library 

Church Street 
Hungerford 
West Berkshire 
RG17 0JG 

Performance 2015/16 
Percentage figures show the proportion of the total for West Berkshire libraries and exclude 
the At Home Service and mobile libraries, unless otherwise indicated 

 hours open: 26 hours per week over 4 days (11.4%) 

 visits: 36,405 (9.2%) 

 physical issues at branch: 33,121 (6.4% of entire service) 

 issues including remote renewals: 43,337 (7.2%) 

 active members: 1,545 (7.7%) 

 active members only using home branch: 64.1% (3) 

 percentage of active borrowers resident in West Berkshire: 83.2% (7) 

 of which male: 31.4% 

 percentage of active borrowers living in ward in which library is located having 
branch as home library: 85.1%  (5) 

 PC hours used: 1,779 (4.9%) 

 Wi-Fi minutes used: 35,493 (5.3%) 

 issues per visit: 1.2 

 visits associated with events: 3,123 (7.2%) 

Trends 
Stock issues at Hungerford rose sharply in the period 2004 – 2008 but have declined ever 
since probably due to an increase of web renewals. Issues for 2015/16 are 11.8% below 
2004/5 levels and 18.2% below that of 2014/15. 

Costs 
Direct net cost of running library: £51,100 

Of which  

 staff: £42,900 

 premises: £32,300 

 income: £12,550 

 staff cost per visit: £1.18 (2) 

Page 88



 

61 
 

Cost per activity 
Rank order of West Berkshire library branches in brackets where rank 1 is the most efficient 
and rank 10 the least 

 cost per visit: £1.75 (3) 

 issue: £1.47 (6) 

 PC hours used: £35.79 (4) 

 Wi-Fi minutes: £1.79 (2) 

 cost per active borrower: £41.20 (6) 

 cost per cost per hour: £48.96 (7) 

 staff cost per hour: £33.00 (4) 

 premises costs per hour: £28.85 (6) 

 income per visit: £0.34 (2) 

Take up of activities 

 visits per hour: 28.0 (3) 

 issues per hour: 30.3 (4) 

 PC bookings per hour available: 42.1% (7) 

Wards included in catchment area 
Hungerford 

Demographic comparisons  
 

 

0.00

10.00

20.00

30.00

40.00

50.00

60.00

0-20 21- 64 65+

Hungerford library age profile of active members

Hungerford Library Catchment area West Berkshire library service

Page 89



 

62 
 

 

Indicators of deprivation for catchment area 
Except where stated, this information is taken from the 2011 Census. Rankings for each 
library catchment area are given in brackets where a library ranked 1 has the least deprived 
catchment area and that ranked 9 the most deprived.  

 deprivation score for income: 68% (7)21 

 residents reporting poor or very poor health:  16% (9) 

 residents with no qualifications: 20% (8)  

 residents with unpaid caring responsibility:  9% (2) 

 households with no access to a vehicle: 15% (9) 

 deprivation score for barriers to services and housing: 77% (1)22 

Analysis of transport and access to vehicles 

 working residents travelling less than five miles to work:  41.0% (4) 

 distance to next nearest library: 9 miles (Lambourn) (1 hour 22 minutes by public 
transport) 

 distance to Newbury library: 10 miles (26 minutes by public transport) 

 

                                                     
21 The figure is based on the indices of deprivation published by ONS in 2013. The format that they are given in 

does not allow easy aggregation of data, but to produce an indication of the degree of deprivation in the 
catchment area for the library, an average percentile has been derived. This is an approximation to overall 
deprivation in the area rather than an exact figure. The higher the percentage given, the lower the level of 
deprivation in the area.  

22 This measures the physical and financial accessibility of housing and local services and is taken from the 
indices of multiple deprivation published by ONS in 2013.The same methodology has been used as for the 
income deprivations 

0.00

20.00

40.00

60.00

80.00

100.00

White British White other Mixed Asian Black Other

Hungerford library ethnic profile of active 
borrowers

Hungerford Library Catchment area West Berkshire library service

Page 90



 

63 
 

Lambourn Library 

High Street 
Lambourn 
West Berkshire 
RG17 8XL 

Performance 2015/16 
Percentage figures show the proportion of the total for West Berkshire libraries and exclude 
the At Home Service and mobile libraries, unless otherwise indicated 

 hours open: 15 hours per week over 4 days (6.6%) 

 visits: 14,264 (3.6%) 

 physical issues at branch: 15,102 (2.9% of entire service) 

 issues including remote renewals: 19,760 (3.3%) 

 active members: 639 (3.2%) 

 of which male: 30.4% 

 active members only using home branch: 78.1% (1) 

 percentage of active borrowers resident in West Berkshire: 93.9% (4) 

 percentage of active borrowers living in ward in which library is located having 
branch as home library: 70.8% (8) 

 PC hours used: 621 (1.7%) 

 Wi-Fi minutes used: No Wi-Fi at this branch 

 issues per visit: 1.4 

 visits associated with events: 1,529 (6.5%) 

Trends 
Stock issues at Lambourn remained static in the period 2004 – 2008 and have since declined 
probably due to web renewals. Issues for 2015/16 are 38.2% below 2004/5 levels  and 
15.5% below that of 2014/15. 

Costs 
Direct net cost of running library: £34,500 

Of which:  

 staff: £29,300 

 premises: £10,750 

 income: £3,000 

 staff cost per visit: £2.05 (7) 

 

Page 91



 

64 
 

Cost per activity 
Rank order of West Berkshire library branches in brackets where rank 1 is the most efficient 
and rank 10 the least 

 cost per visit: £2.63 (8) 

 cost per issue: £1.90 (9) 

 PC hours used: £60.39 (6) 

 Wi-Fi minutes: No Wi-Fi at this branch 

 cost per active borrower: £58.69 (8) 

 cost per hour: £50.00 (8) 

 staff cost per hour: £39.07 (8) 

 premises costs per hour: £14.33 (5) 

 income per visit: £0.21 (5) 

Take up of activities 

 visits per hour: 19.0 (8) 

 issues per hour: 26.4 (8) 

 PC bookings per hour available: 44.0% (6) 

Wards included in catchment area 
Lambourn Valley 

Demographic comparisons  
 

 

Page 92



 

65 
 

 

Indicators of deprivation for catchment area 
Except where stated, this information is taken from the 2011 Census. Rankings for each 
library catchment area are given in brackets where a library ranked 1 has the least deprived 
catchment area and that ranked 9 the most deprived.  

 deprivation score for income: 63% (9)23 

 residents reporting poor or very poor health:  14% (3) 

 residents with no qualifications: 21% (9)  

 residents with unpaid caring responsibility:  9% (2) 

 households with no access to a vehicle: 12% (7) 

 deprivation score for barriers to services and housing: 39% (8)24 

Analysis of transport and access to vehicles 

 working residents travelling less than five miles to work:  42.0% (6) 

 distance to next nearest library: 9 miles (Hungerford) (1 hour 22 minutes by 
public transport) 

 distance to Newbury library: 14 miles (46 minutes by public transport) 

  

                                                     
23 The figure is based on the indices of deprivation published by ONS in 2013. The format that they are given in 

does not allow easy aggregation of data, but to produce an indication of the degree of deprivation in the 
catchment area for the library, an average percentile has been derived. This is an approximation to overall 
deprivation in the area rather than an exact figure. The higher the percentage given, the lower the level of 
deprivation in the area.  

24 This measures the physical and financial accessibility of housing and local services and is taken from the 
indices of multiple deprivation published by ONS in 2013.The same methodology has been used as for the 
income deprivations 

Page 93



 

66 
 

Mortimer Library 

27 Victoria Road 
Mortimer Common 
Reading 
West Berkshire 
RG7 3SH 

Performance 2015/16 
Percentage figures show the proportion of the total for West Berkshire libraries and exclude 
the At Home Service and mobile libraries, unless otherwise indicated 

 hours open: 19 hours per week over 4 days (8.3%) 

 visits: 18,860 (4.8%) 

 physical issues at branch: 22,225 (4.3% of entire service) 

 issues including remote renewals: 29,080 (4.9%) 

 active members: 865 (4.3%) 

 active members only using home branch: 70.4% (2) 

 of which males: 33.2% 

 percentage of active borrowers resident in West Berkshire: 95.0% (3) 

 percentage of active borrowers living in ward in which library is located having 
branch as home library: 83.6% (6) 

 PC hours used: 505 (1.4%) 

 Wi-Fi minutes used: No Wi-Fi at this branch 

 issues per visit: 1.5 

 visits associated with events: 1,299 (5.5%) 
Trends 
Stock issues at Mortimer rose during the period 2004 – 20012 despite the introduction of 
web based renewals but have declined sharply since then. Issues for 2015/16 are 28.0% 
below 2004/5 levels and 17.2% below that of 2014/15. 

Costs 
Direct net cost of running library: £30,700 

Of which  

 staff: £31,900 

 premises: £10,350 

 income: £6,000 

 staff cost per visit: £1.69 (6) 
 

Page 94



 

67 
 

Cost per activity 
Rank order of West Berkshire library branches in brackets where rank 1 is the most efficient 
and rank 10 the least 

 cost per visit: £1.95 (5=) 

 cost per issue: £1.26 (4) 

 PC hours used: £72.67 (7) 

 Wi-Fi minutes: No Wi-Fi at this branch 

 cost per active borrower: £42.43 (7) 

 cost per hour: £38.63 (3) 

 staff cost per hour: £33.58 (5) 

 premises costs per hour: £10.89 (3) 

 income per visit: £0.32 (3) 

Take up of activities 

 visits per hour: 19.9 (6) 

 issues per hour: 30.6 (7) 

 PC bookings per hour available: 52.4% (4) 

Wards included in catchment area 
Mortimer 

Demographic comparisons  
 

 

Page 95



 

68 
 

 

Indicators of deprivation for catchment area 
Except where stated, this information is taken from the 2011 Census. Rankings for each 
library catchment area are given in brackets where a library ranked 1 has the least deprived 
catchment area and that ranked 9 the most deprived.  

 deprivation score for income: 72% (5)25 

 residents reporting poor or very poor health:  14% (3) 

 residents with no qualifications: 15% (3)  

 residents with unpaid caring responsibility:  11% (9) 

 households with no access to a vehicle: 11% (4) 

 deprivation score for barriers to services and housing: 52% (5)26 

Analysis of transport and access to vehicles 

 working residents travelling less than five miles to work:  33.0% (2) 

 distance to next nearest library: : 2 miles (Burghfield Common) (8 minutes by 
public transport) 

 distance to Newbury library: 13 miles (1 hour 22 minutes by public transport) 

  

                                                     
25 The figure is based on the indices of deprivation published by ONS in 2013. The format that they are given in 

does not allow easy aggregation of data, but to produce an indication of the degree of deprivation in the 
catchment area for the library, an average percentile has been derived. This is an approximation to overall 
deprivation in the area rather than an exact figure. The higher the percentage given, the lower the level of 
deprivation in the area.  

26 This measures the physical and financial accessibility of housing and local services and is taken from the 
indices of multiple deprivation published by ONS in 2013.The same methodology has been used as for the 
income deprivations 

Page 96



 

69 
 

Newbury Library 

The Wharf 
Newbury 
West Berkshire 
RG14 5AU 

Performance 2015/16 
Percentage figures show the proportion of the total for West Berkshire libraries and exclude 
the At Home Service and mobile libraries, unless otherwise indicated 

 hours open: 49.5 hours per week over 6 days (21.7%) 

 visits: 181,405 (44.7%) 

 physical issues at branch: 224,436 (46.0% of entire service) 

 issues including remote renewals: 263,661 (49.0%) 

 active members: 10,028 (49.9%) 

 of which males: 37.7% 

 active members only using home branch: 51.1% (7) 

 percentage of active borrowers resident in West Berkshire: 88.0% (6) 

 percentage of active borrowers living in ward in which library is located having 
branch as home library: 91.0% (3) 

 PC hours used: 25,458 (69.5%) 

 Wi-Fi minutes used: 626,115 (94.2%) 

 issues per visit: 1.6 

 visits associated with events: 9,182 (39.3%) 

Trends 
Stock issues at Newbury have declined year on year since 2006 and have shown the greatest 
relative fall of any library in the service since 2004. Issues for 2015/16 are 51.3% below 
2004/5 levels and 6.6% below that of 2014/15. 

Costs 
Direct net cost of running library: £452,859 

Of which: 

 staff: £398,85927 

 premises: £141,350 

 income: £46,600 

 staff cost per visit: £2.19 (9) 

                                                     
27 Including 2.04 FTE Librarians and 1.42 FTE Enquiry Assistants 

Page 97



 

70 
 

 

Cost per activity 
Rank order of West Berkshire library branches in brackets where rank 1 is the most efficient 
and rank 10 the least 

 cost per visit: £2.75 (9) 

 cost per issue: £1.70 (7) 

 PC hours used: £19.62 (3) 

 Wi-Fi minutes: £0.80 (1) 

 cost per active borrower: £49.81 (5) 

 cost per hour: £201.80 (9) 

 staff cost per hour: £160.83 (9) 

 premises costs per hour: £57.80 (9) 

 income per visit: £0.26 (4) 

Take up of activities 

 visits per hour: 73.3 (1) 

 issues per hour: 118.7 (1) 

 PC bookings per hour available: 26.4% (9) 

Wards included in catchment area 
Aldermaston 
Bucklebury 
Chieveley 
Clay Hill 

Cold Ash 
Compton 
Downlands 
Falkland 

Greenham 
Kintbury 
Northcroft 
Speen 

St Johns 
Victoria 

Demographic comparisons  

 

Page 98



 

71 
 

 

Indicators of deprivation for catchment area 
Except where stated, this information is taken from the 2011 Census. Rankings for each 
library catchment area are given in brackets where a library ranked 1 has the least deprived 
catchment area and that ranked 9 the most deprived.  

 deprivation score for income: 72% (5)28 

 residents reporting poor or very poor health:  14% (5) 

 residents with no qualifications: 17% (5)  

 residents with unpaid caring responsibility:  9% (5) 

 households with no access to a vehicle: 13% (8) 

 deprivation score for barriers to services and housing: 46% (7)29 

Analysis of transport and access to vehicles 

 Working residents travelling less than five miles to work:  52.2% (7) 

 Distance to next nearest library: 3 miles (Thatcham) (21 minutes by public 
transport) 

 

 

                                                     
28 The figure is based on the indices of deprivation published by ONS in 2013. The format that they are given in 

does not allow easy aggregation of data, but to produce an indication of the degree of deprivation in the 
catchment area for the library, an average percentile has been derived. This is an approximation to overall 
deprivation in the area rather than an exact figure. The higher the percentage given, the lower the level of 
deprivation in the area.  

29 This measures the physical and financial accessibility of housing and local services and is taken from the 
indices of multiple deprivation published by ONS in 2013.The same methodology has been used as for the 
income deprivations 

Page 99



 

72 
 

Pangbourne Library 

Reading Road 
Pangbourne 
Reading 
West Berkshire 
RG8 7LY 

Performance 2015/16 
Percentage figures show the proportion of the total for West Berkshire libraries and exclude 
the At Home Service and mobile libraries, unless otherwise indicated 

 hours open: 22 hours per week over 5 days (9.6%) 

 visits: 23,056 (5.7%) 

 physical issues at branch: 27,752 (5.9% of entire service) 

 issues including remote renewals: 36,312 (6.1%) 

 active members: 1,142 (5.7%) 

 of which males: 31.4% 

 active members only using home branch: 63.0% (4) 

 percentage of active borrowers resident in West Berkshire: 84.9% (8) 

 percentage of active borrowers living in ward in which library is located having 
branch as home library: 92.2% (2) 

 PC hours used: 735 (2.0%) 

 Wi-Fi minutes used: 2,859 (0.4%) 

 issues per visit: 1.6 

 visits associated with events: 1,500 (6.4%) 

Trends 
Stock issues at Pangbourne remained stable during the period 2004 – 2012 despite the 
introduction of web based renewals but have declined sharply since then. Issues for 
2015/16 are 29.3% below 2004/5 levels  and 8.6% below that of 2014/15. 

Costs 
Direct net cost of running library: £35,750 

Of which  

 Staff: £35,640 

 Premises: £9,450 

 Income: £4,850 

 Staff cost per visit: £1.55 (5) 
 

Page 100



 

73 
 

Cost per activity 
Rank order of West Berkshire library branches in brackets where rank 1 is the most efficient 
and rank 10 the least 

 cost per visit: £1.76 (4) 

 cost per issue: £1.12 (3) 

 PC hours used: £55.24 (5) 

 Wi-Fi minutes: £14.20 (3) 

 cost per active borrower: £35.55 (3) 

 cost per hour: £36.91 (1) 

 staff cost per hour: £32.41 (3) 

 premises costs per hour: £8.59 (1) 

 income per visit: £0.21 (6) 

Take up of activities 

 visits per hour: 21.0 (5) 

 issues per hour: 33.0 (5) 

 PC bookings per hour available: 55.7% (3) 

Wards included in catchment area 
Pangbourne 

Purley on Thames 

Demographic comparisons  
 

 

 

Page 101



 

74 
 

 

Indicators of deprivation for catchment area 
Except where stated, this information is taken from the 2011 Census. Rankings for each 
library catchment area are given in brackets where a library ranked 1 has the least deprived 
catchment area and that ranked 9 the most deprived.  

 deprivation score for income: 87% (1)30 

 residents reporting poor or very poor health:  14% (6) 

 residents with no qualifications: 13% (1)  

 residents with unpaid caring responsibility:  11% (8) 

 households with no access to a vehicle: 8% (1) 

 deprivation score for barriers to services and housing: 51% (6)31 

Analysis of transport and access to vehicles 

 working residents travelling less than five miles to work:  36.0% (3) 

 distance to next nearest library: 4 miles (Theale) (12 minutes by public transport 
but an infrequent service; 1 hour 12 minutes more regular service) 

 distance to Newbury library: 16 miles (55 minutes by public transport) 
 

                                                     
30 The figure is based on the indices of deprivation published by ONS in 2013. The format that they are given in 

does not allow easy aggregation of data, but to produce an indication of the degree of deprivation in the 
catchment area for the library, an average percentile has been derived. This is an approximation to overall 
deprivation in the area rather than an exact figure. The higher the percentage given, the lower the level of 
deprivation in the area.  

31 This measures the physical and financial accessibility of housing and local services and is taken from the 
indices of multiple deprivation published by ONS in 2013.The same methodology has been used as for the 
income deprivations 

Page 102



 

75 
 

Thatcham Library 

Bath Road 
Thatcham 
West Berkshire 
RG18 3AG 

Performance 2015/16 
Percentage figures show the proportion of the total for West Berkshire libraries and exclude 
the At Home Service and mobile libraries, unless otherwise indicated 

 hours open: 35 hours per week over 5 days (15.3%) 

 visits: 50,497 (12.8%) 

 physical issues at branch: 58,411 (11.2% of entire service) 

 issues including remote renewals: 70,427 (12.8%) 

 active members: 2,574 (12.8%)  

 of which males: 35.4% 

 active members only using home branch: 52.7% (6) 

 percentage of active borrowers resident in West Berkshire: 98.5% (1) 

 percentage of active borrowers living in ward in which library is located having 
branch as home library: 71.3% (7) 

 PC hours used: 3,796 (10.4%) 

 Wi-Fi minutes used: No Wi-Fi at this branch 

 issues per visit: 1.5 

 visits associated with events: 1,923 (8.2%) 

Trends 
Stock issues at Thatcham remained stable during the period 2004 – 2010 despite the 
introduction of web based renewals but have declined sharply since then. Issues for 
2015/16 are 45.5% below 2004/5 levels and 8.4% below that of 2014/15. 

Costs 
Direct net cost of running library: £58,100 

Of which  

 staff: £61,250 

 premises: £16,000 

 income: £10,000 

 staff cost per visit: £1.21 (3) 
 

Page 103



 

76 
 

Cost per activity 
Rank order of West Berkshire library branches in brackets where rank 1 is the most efficient 
and rank 10 the least 

 cost per visit: £1.35 (1) 

 cost per issue: £0.89 (1) 

 PC hours used: £17.94 (2) 

 Wi-Fi minutes: No Wi-Fi at this branch 

 cost per active borrower: £26.46 (1) 

 cost per hour: £38.91 (4) 

 staff cost per hour: £35.60 (6) 

 premises costs per hour: £9.14 (7) 

 income per visit: £0.20 (7) 

Take up of activities 

 visits per hour: 28.9 (2) 

 issues per hour: 43.7 (2) 

 PC bookings per hour available: 33.9% (8) 

Wards included in catchment area 
Thatcham Central 
Thatcham North 

Thatcham South and Crookham 
Thatcham West 

Demographic comparisons  
 

 

 

Page 104



 

77 
 

 

Indicators of deprivation for catchment area 
Except where stated, this information is taken from the 2011 Census. Rankings for each 
library catchment area are given in brackets where a library ranked 1 has the least deprived 
catchment area and that ranked 9 the most deprived.  

 deprivation score for income: 68% (7)32 

 residents reporting poor or very poor health:  15% (7) 

 residents with no qualifications: 18% (6)  

 residents with unpaid caring responsibility:  8% (1) 

 households with no access to a vehicle: 12% (5) 

 deprivation score for barriers to services and housing: 73% (2)33 

Analysis of transport and access to vehicles 

 working residents travelling less than five miles to work:  54.0% (8) 

 distance to next nearest library: 3 miles (Newbury) (21 minutes by public 
transport) 

 distance to Newbury library: 3 miles (21 minutes by public transport) 
 

                                                     
32 The figure is based on the indices of deprivation published by ONS in 2013. The format that they are given in 

does not allow easy aggregation of data, but to produce an indication of the degree of deprivation in the 
catchment area for the library, an average percentile has been derived. This is an approximation to overall 
deprivation in the area rather than an exact figure. The higher the percentage given, the lower the level of 
deprivation in the area.  

 
33 This measures the physical and financial accessibility of housing and local services and is taken from the 
indices of multiple deprivation published by ONS in 2013.The same methodology has been used as for the 
income deprivations 

Page 105



 

78 
 

Theale Library 

Church Street 
Theale 
Reading 
West Berkshire 
RG7 5BZ 

Performance 2015/16 
Percentage figures show the proportion of the total for West Berkshire libraries and exclude 
the At Home Service and mobile libraries, unless otherwise indicated 

 hours open: 26 hours per week over 5 days (11.4%) 

 visits: 36,332 (9.2%) 

 physical issues at branch: 31,038 (6.0% of entire service)34 

 issues including remote renewals: 40,611 (6.8%)35 

 active members: 1,747 (8.7%) 

 of which males: 38.8% 

 active members only using home branch: 46.3% (8) 

 percentage of active borrowers resident in West Berkshire: 88.2% (5) 

 percentage of active borrowers living in ward in which library is located having 
branch as home library: 97.5% (1) 

 PC hours used: 3,063 (8.4%) 

 Wi-Fi minutes used: No Wi-Fi at this branch 

 issues per visit: 1.1 

 visits associated with events: 3,006 (12.9%) 

Trends 
Stock issues at Theale increased during the period 2004 – 2011 despite the introduction of 
web based renewals but have declined sharply since then. Issues for 2015/16 are 19.3% 
below 2004/5 levels and 5.0% below that of 2014/15. 

Costs 
Direct net cost of running library: £51,400 

Of which:  

 staff: £38,600 

                                                     
34 A proportion of these are associated with school use. The likely level of public library visits is in the region of 
24,000 to 26,000 
35 A proportion of these are associated with school use. The likely level of public library issues is in the region 
of 26,000 to 28,000 

Page 106



 

79 
 

 premises: £44,800 

 income: £32,000 

 staff cost per visit: £1.06 (1) 

Cost per activity 
Rank order of West Berkshire library branches in brackets where rank 1 is the most efficient 
and rank 10 the least. There must be a significant caveat on these rankings, as the figures 
are somewhat skewed by school usage. Some transactions take place outside the hours 
when the library is staffed, and some use of the library is supervised by teachers rather than 
library staff. This has the effect of increasing the relative performance of the library in most 
of these measures.36 

 cost per visit: £1.43 (2) 

 cost per issue: £1.28 (5) 

 PC hours used: £16.94 (1) 

 Wi-Fi minutes: No Wi-Fi at this branch 

 cost per active borrower: £29.71 (2) 

 cost per hour: £39.92 (5) 

 staff cost per hour: £29.69 (2) 

 premises costs per hour: £34.46 (8) 

 income per visit: £0.88 (1) 

Take up of activities 

 Visits per hour: 28.0 (4) 

 Issues per hour: 31.2 (6) 

 PC bookings per hour available: 76.0% (1) 

Wards included in catchment area 
Birch Copse 
Calcot 

Theale  
Westwood 

  

                                                     
36 However, premises costs are increased by the provision of space for school use 

Page 107



 

80 
 

Demographic comparisons  
 

 
 

 

 

Indicators of deprivation for catchment area 
Except where stated, this information is taken from the 2011 Census. Rankings for each 
library catchment area are given in brackets where a library ranked 1 has the least deprived 
catchment area and that ranked 9 the most deprived.  

 deprivation score for income: 78% (3)37 

                                                     
37 The figure is based on the indices of deprivation published by ONS in 2013. The format that they are given in 

does not allow easy aggregation of data, but to produce an indication of the degree of deprivation in the 
catchment area for the library, an average percentile has been derived. This is an approximation to overall 

Page 108



 

81 
 

 residents reporting poor or very poor health:  15% (8) 

 residents with no qualifications: 19% (7)  

 residents with unpaid caring responsibility:  10% (6) 

 households with no access to a vehicle: 12% (6) 

 deprivation score for barriers to services and housing: 67% (3)38 

Analysis of transport and access to vehicles 

 working residents travelling less than five miles to work:  41.0% (5) 

 distance to next nearest library: 4 miles (Burghfield Common) (59 minutes by 
public transport) 

 distance to Newbury library: 12 miles (35 minutes by public transport) 

 

Wash Common Library 

Glendale Avenue 
Newbury 
West Berkshire 
RG14 6TL 

Performance 2015/16 
Percentage figures show the proportion of the total for West Berkshire libraries and exclude 
the At Home Service and mobile libraries, unless otherwise indicated 

 hours open: 17 hours per week over 4 days. (7.4%) 

 visits: 14,774 (3.7%) 

 physical issues at branch: 17,034 (3.3% of entire service) 

 issues including remote renewals: 22,288 (3.7%) 

 active members: 567 (2.8%) 

 of which males:  35.5% 

 active members only using home branch: 46.3% (8) 

 percentage of active borrowers resident in West Berkshire: 87.8% (7) 

 percentage of active borrowers living in ward in which library is located having 
branch as home library: 68.1% (9) 

                                                     
deprivation in the area rather than an exact figure. The higher the percentage given, the lower the level of 
deprivation in the area.  

38 This measures the physical and financial accessibility of housing and local services and is taken from the 
indices of multiple deprivation published by ONS in 2013.The same methodology has been used as for the 
income deprivations 

Page 109



 

82 
 

 PC hours used: 298 (0.8%) 

 Wi-Fi minutes used: No Wi-Fi at this branch 

 issues per visit: 1.5 

 visits associated with events: 601 (2.6%) 

Trends 
Wash Common opened part way through 2004/5. Since then stock issues remained fairly 
constant until 2013 but have declined since then. Issues for 2015/16 are 19.6% below that 
of 2014/15. 

Costs 
Direct net cost of running library: £36,550 

Of which  

 staff: £31,650 

 premises: £7,350 

 income: £1,350 

 staff cost per visit: £2.15 (8) 

 

Cost per activity 
Rank order of West Berkshire library branches in brackets where rank 1 is the most efficient 
and rank 10 the least 

 cost per visit: £2.57 (9) 

 cost per issue: £1.70 (7) 

 PC hours used: £127.18 (9) 

 Wi-Fi minutes: No Wi-Fi at this branch 

 cost per active borrower: £66.84 (9) 

 cost per hour: £44.59 (6) 

 staff cost per hour: £37.24 (7) 

 premises costs per hour: £8.65 (2) 

 income per visit: £0.09 (9) 

Take up of activities 

 visits per hour: 17.4 (9) 

 issues per hour: 26.2 (9) 

 PC bookings per hour available: 44.8% (5) 

Wards included in catchment area 

Page 110



 

83 
 

There is no ward in which the majority of active library borrowers have Wash Common as 
their home branch. In Falkland ward 29.8% of active borrowers have Wash Common as a 
home branch compared with 68.1% for Newbury. In Greenham, the adjoining ward, 91.6% 
of active borrowers have Newbury as their home branch. This figure may be skewed if 
members joined at Newbury before Wash Common opened and they have subsequently 
transferred their use to Wash Common. However, the proportions of visits and issues of the 
library are broadly in line with the number of active borrowers at Wash Common suggesting 
that this is not a major influence. Nevertheless, the vast majority of active borrowers having 
Wash Common as a home branch live in Falkland ward and data for that ward has been 
used for demographic comparisons. 

  

Page 111



 

84 
 

Demographic comparisons  
 

 

 

Indicators of deprivation for catchment area 
Except where stated, this information is taken from the 2011 Census. Rankings for each 
library catchment area are given in brackets where a library ranked 1 has the least deprived 
catchment area and that ranked 9 the most deprived.  

 deprivation score for income: 85% (2)39 

                                                     
39 The figure is based on the indices of deprivation published by ONS in 2013. The format that they are given in 

does not allow easy aggregation of data, but to produce an indication of the degree of deprivation in the 
catchment area for the library, an average percentile has been derived. This is an approximation to overall 
deprivation in the area rather than an exact figure. The higher the percentage given, the lower the level of 
deprivation in the area.  

 

Page 112



 

85 
 

 residents reporting poor or very poor health:  13% (2) 

 residents with no qualifications: 14% (2)  

 residents with unpaid caring responsibility:  10% (7) 

 households with no access to a vehicle: 10% (3) 

 deprivation score for barriers to services and housing: 65% (4)40 

Analysis of transport and access to vehicles 

 working residents travelling less than five miles to work:  60.0% (9) 

 distance to next nearest library: 3 miles (Newbury) (18 minutes by public 
transport) 

 distance to Newbury library: 3 miles (18 minutes by public transport) 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

                                                     
40 This measures the physical and financial accessibility of housing and local services and is taken from the 
indices of multiple deprivation published by ONS in 2013.The same methodology has been used as for the 
income deprivations 

Page 113



 

86 
 

Mobile Libraries 

Performance 2015/16 
Percentage figures show the proportion of the total for the whole of the West Berkshire 
libraries  

 visits: 13,883 (3.3%) 

 physical issues: 47,081 (8.9%) 

 active members: 765 (2.8%) 

 0f which males: 26.8% 

 active members only using home branch: 67.3% 

 percentage of active borrowers resident in West Berkshire: 98.8% 

 percentage of active borrowers living in ward in which library is located having 
branch as home library: 4.0% 

 issues per visit: 4.4 

Trends 
Stock issues at mobile libraries varied between 2004 and 2011 although the overall trend 
was downwards. Since 2011/12 there has be a remarkable decline in issues. Issues for 
2015/16 are 63.9% below those of 2004/5 and 22.2% below those of 2014/15.  

Costs 
Direct net cost of running two mobiles: £147,050 

Of which:  

 staff: £102,600 

 vehicles: £44,000 

 income: £0 

 staff cost per visit: £7.42 

Cost per activity 

 cost per visit: £10.63 

 cost per issue: £2.44 

 cost per active borrower: £192.22 

 income per visit: £0.00 

Wards included in catchment area 
All wards 

 

 

Page 114



 

87 
 

Demographic comparisons  
 

 

 

Indicators of deprivation for catchment area 
Except where stated, this information is taken from the 2011 Census. The catchment area 
for the mobile libraries is the entire authority of West Berkshire 

 deprivation score for income: 87%41 

 residents reporting poor or very poor health:  14%  

 residents with no qualifications: 17% 

                                                     
41 The figure is based on the indices of deprivation published by ONS in 2013. Unlike figures given for 

individual branches this figure is not taken from super output area statistics but for local authority statistics. 
For income deprivation West Berkshire is 284th out of 326 for districts in England where 1st is be the most 
deprived. 

 

Page 115



 

88 
 

 residents with unpaid caring responsibility:  9% 

 households with no access to a vehicle: 12%  

 deprivation score for barriers to services and housing: 44%42 

Analysis of transport and access to vehicles 

 working residents travelling less than five miles to work:  47.3%  

 households with no access to a vehicle: 12% 
 

 

 

 

  

                                                     
42 This measures the physical and financial accessibility of housing and local services and is taken from the 
indices of multiple deprivation published by ONS in 2013. The same methodology has been used as for the 
income deprivations. For barriers to services and housing deprivation West Berkshire is 143rd out of 326 for 
districts in England where 1st would be the most deprived. 

 

Page 116



 

89 
 

At Home Service 

Performance 2015/16 
Percentage figures show the proportion of the total for West Berkshire libraries  

 visits: 1,117 (0.3%) 

 physical issues: 12,275 (2.4%) 

 active members: 130 (0.6%) 

 of which males: 11% 

 active members only using home branch: 40.0%43 

 percentage of active borrowers resident in West Berkshire: 99.2% 

 issues per visit: 14.4 

Trends 
The At Home Service began in 2010/11 and since then issues have increased steadily.  Issues 
for 2015/16 are 16.5% above those of 2014/15.  

Costs 
No costings have been provided for the At Home Service 

Wards included in catchment area 
All wards 

Demographic comparisons  
 

 

                                                     
43 This is likely to be misleading as service users may have registered at a different branch before qualifying for 
At Home Service use 

Page 117



 

90 
 

 

Indicators of deprivation for catchment area 
Except where stated, this information is taken from the 2011 Census. The catchment area 
for the At Home service is the entire authority of West Berkshire 

 deprivation score for income: 87%44 

 residents reporting poor or very poor health:  14%  

 residents with no qualifications: 17% 

 residents with unpaid caring responsibility:  9% 

 households with no access to a vehicle: 12%  

 deprivation score for barriers to services and housing: 44%45 

Analysis of transport and access to vehicles 

 working residents travelling less than five miles to work:  47.3%  
 

 

 

                                                     
44 The figure is based on the indices of deprivation published by ONS in 2013. Unlike figures given for individual 
branches this figure is not taken from super output area statistics but for local authority statistics. For income 
deprivation West Berkshire is 284th out of 326 for districts in England where 1st is be the most deprived. 

45 This measures the physical and financial accessibility of housing and local services and is taken from the 
indices of multiple deprivation published by ONS in 2013.The same methodology has been used as for the 
income deprivations. For barriers to services and housing deprivation West Berkshire is 143rd out of 326 for 
districts in England where 1st would be the most deprived. 

 

Page 118



 

91 
 

Appendix E: summary of key points raised by users 

This summary is based on comments made at the drop-in sessions and in emails received 
from residents unable to attend these. Where a comment was made more than once (or a 
very similar one made), these are not repeated, and comments are not necessarily 
verbatim. Every community wanted to emphasise the importance of libraries for children 
and communities, as covered in sections one and two of this report. 

Burghfield Common Library 

Burghfield Common is spread out and has no real centre; therefore, there is no obvious 
good location for a library. The library is on a senior school site but is not a joint school 
library, and people felt that this could possibly be investigated. There is an unused room 
between the public library and the school library and better use could be made of this 
space. Residents felt they were closer to Reading if this library closed than to another West 
Berkshire Library. It is particularly difficult to walk to Mortimer even though it is close by as 
there are no pavements and it is an unlit, national speed limit road.  

There is a supply of willing volunteers here through the volunteer bureau. Additionally, 
there is the possibility of moving the community café, which is currently run in the 
Methodist hall, but this would require installation of public toilets in the library. This does 
show evidence of a culture of volunteering in the area.  

The community feel marginalised by the council; the bus service has already been taken 
away. It is a very strong community but with no organised group apart from that formed 
around the existing community café.  

In discussing the hub and spoke model, the public proposed Theale as a hub and Mortimer 
and Burghfield Common as supported community libraries.  

Specific points made: 

 the library is the centre of the village community - a community hub especially 

for youngest and oldest 

 meeting place in the community  

 there is not much community space in Burghfield – one village hall  

 no other communal area with internet access in Burghfield  

 hub of information  

 building is not used as much as it could be – events, activities, private hire – 

would be willing to pay  

 library is at the front of the senior school grounds – middle of nowhere – difficult 

to find  

 this library covers a large rural catchment area, serves outlying villages 

 looks like an affluent area but has pockets of deprivation  

 population is growing   

 library is one room – no toilet facilities 

 two members of staff + volunteers  

Page 119



 

92 
 

 staff are ‘exceptionally good’  

 can’t replace librarians’ expertise: ‘you can ask Google and you will get 1000 

answers. You can ask a librarian and you will get the right answer’ 

 coffee machine in library 

 a lot of use for children’s activities, particularly Rhymetime during term time  

 senior school in Burghfield and library important for homework  

 safe space for children where they are known by the staff 

 good non-fiction books for children researching for school work  

 children use the library on their way home from school – both primary and senior 

 community of young mums who walk to Rhymetime from school  

 children come after school to study as it helps them to concentrate and prevent 

being distracted at home  

 range of books for children is important  

 book lists are given to children by school and parents order through library – 

would not mind paying for this service. Do the school and library communicate 

about this? 

 physical books are important to mums for young children – school library is 

restricted 

 story sessions and summer reading schemes invaluable when trying to instil a 

love of reading and books 

 Children’s Centre has closed  

 this summer the school loses the education library service 

 there are four supported living sites for the elderly close by  

 pensioners will find travelling to another library difficult – they use IT facilities as 

they do not have these at home and need the staff support  

 many people still do not have home computers or scanning or photocopying and 

the library provides for these needs 

 ability to order a particular book from the central library is very useful 

 book club book sets support Burghfield Book Club 

 users would not go to Newbury but would go to Mortimer – if this library closed 

would probably use Reading which requires a car plus parking or a bus fare.  

 could Mortimer cope with the numbers? 

 could hours be extended in library which remains open if Mortimer and 

Burghfield merged?  

 road to Mortimer is through the woods with no pavement, no lights and a 

national speed limit road – therefore impossible to walk  

 advantage of merging libraries would be a larger stock  

 what are the plans for a mobile library service in this area? 

 willing to pay for services rather than lose the library 

 could charge for reservation services  

Page 120



 

93 
 

 could cost less if library opening times were co-ordinated so that libraries could 

share staff, e.g. in a group of 3 libraries only 2 of them are ever open at the same 

time so only staffing for 2 libraries would be required 

 feel marginalised by the council – taken away bus services and now reduction in 

local facilities  

 green aspect of encouraging people to walk to the library rather than getting 

alternative transport a further distance 

 library card allows users to use the leisure centre in the school grounds as well 

 there is a volunteer bureau in Burghfield 

 WI is active – good source for volunteering  

Hungerford Library 

There is a very supportive friends’ group operating at Hungerford Library. A unique resource 
is the 1:1 private room available for renting, currently used by registrars, who don’t pay, and 
the town council, who do. The town council have an office in the same building and feel 
they will need more space in the future. They are willing to support financially and could 
take over the running of the building. The library is a good community space and has a 
garden.   

There is support for volunteering but users emphasised that they felt this should be 
alongside existing staff.  

A local group with learning disabilities visit regularly and there is a very active craft group.  

Hungerford has been named a Rural Service Centre.  

Wiltshire and Oxfordshire residents use the library (Wiltshire charge for reservations 85p). 
The police are moving into the fire station. 

Specific points made: 

 Hungerford library is only 10 years old  

 the library is one big room  

 the Town Hall is opposite 

 Town Council moved into office at front of building – will need more space in 

future  

 Rural Service Centre – key aspect – these have to have library, transport, 

secondary school etc. 

 community hub  

 social hub [said by almost everyone] 

 large catchment area 

 rental opportunities are not being maximised 

 one small 1:1 private room charged at £15/hr during opening hours, £25/hr 

when closed – used for registrars (not charged) – very little rental, town council 

use and pay 

Page 121



 

94 
 

 the main library room is available to hire out but not promoted and therefore not 

used much 

 use of library important for rural community – support isolated people, ‘life-line’, 

‘community hub’  

 would ‘tear the heart out of the community’ 

 essential part of the fabric of the town 

 don’t have community centre in Hungerford 

 parking in Newbury is expensive, also need a car 

 have travelled to Newbury by train, but the walk from the station to the library is 

very difficult if you have mobility problems  

 West Berks have scrapped the use of the senior bus pass on the Chain bus and 

reduced the number of buses to and from Newbury and Hungerford 

 in a time of cuts, libraries are especially important for everyone, and in particular 

for the young, the old and the vulnerable 

 very sociable library 

 lot of activities, good support for residents  

 active book groups  

 good children’s holiday events - holiday club, reading competition to see how 

many books can be read in holidays. Awarded with certificates 

 help develop children’s reading, volume of books important 

 nurseries and toddler storytelling to give beginning for their love of books  

 school groups visit 

 preschool children – rhymetime – pay for ticket for some events 

 children learning to love books is important 

 variety of books for children – need volume – schools do not provide this volume 

of reading 

 safe environment for children – they can come in on their own 

 complements the school library during school days and is vital for when students 

leave 

 use of computers – don’t have computer at home. Job applications. Some 

families cannot afford technology – library only place for public computers. 

 free tuition for IT available 

 craft and chat group 

 social – knitting, art etc. Big space 

 launching gardening club as a result of popular demand 

 adult learning resource for studying 

 benefits and services for unemployed people 

 CD collection in Newbury library – distributed across libraries 

 staff important and point of contact. Trained staff are valuable. Reliable, regular 

volunteers are difficult to sustain. Red Cross shop struggles with volunteers 

Page 122



 

95 
 

 knowledge of staff 

 Home Library Service – volunteers get books from local library 

 people would not object to paying for groups and events 

 great space – good layout – light.  

 scanning facility, free of charge, photocopying is charged 

 information of local public events etc. 

 garden  

 good communication and support for young mums.  

 used of online system, useful but need physical library as well  

 don’t want hours cut anymore 

 complete support from town council who are already in the building. Willing to 

support financially and could look at taking over the building 

 concerns that drop-in session wasn’t comprehensive enough to allow everyone 

to provide feedback46  

Lambourn Library 

Lambourn is a quieter library in general with a mixed race community and English 
conversation groups taking place. There was a general feeling that there is not much going 
on in the library. Residents said that Oxfordshire are losing their mobile library and 
therefore more people are coming to use the West Berkshire libraries. 

Lambourn residents feel cut off and a lot is being taken away from them. There is no direct 
bus to Newbury and the cost of parking there is high.  

There was less support for volunteering in Lambourn library. The parish council are 
supportive and committed but would want to see equity across all town and parish councils.  

The local police office is closing, and it may be possible to move this into the library building. 

Specific points made: 

 Lambourn is a racing community and a multicultural area 

 Lambourn very remote and those who don’t drive or have internet, what would they 

do  

 deprived, cut off, ageing population  

 the library is part of the community, social aspect very important 

 important when becoming part of the community as a newcomer – joining groups.  

 integration of ethnic minorities  

 other local venues are the leisure centre, community centre, school – library is 

important as a family space 

 local police office is closing completely – could they have an office in the library? 

                                                     
46 Although not publicised as such, many people wrongly considered these informal sessions to constitute 
public consultation, which was not the intention behind them. As stressed elsewhere in this report, full public 
consultation should be part of the decision-making process that will follow this needs assessment 

Page 123



 

96 
 

 closed visitor centre in Newbury – could that be in the library 

 needs to be more going on here to make it more vibrant 

 could involve the church e.g. story telling 

 only one coffee shop in Lambourn – therefore a coffee machine would be a good 

idea 

 staff not so proactive  

 volunteers help with children’s activities  

 have summer holiday activities  

 children’s activities important 

 school visits once a month  

 primary school up the road and parents don’t bring their children here.  

 music session 

 link with nursery  

 photocopying and printing useful 

 active knit and natter and art group 

 volume of books being read means need a library 

 computer use – as well as help with computers 

 parish council office only open in mornings so library is a point of information 

 staff are very helpful with computer skills  

 opening hours good 

 online service important to order books and can then be picked up  

 ancestory.com 

 two open access computers at Lambourn centre but not supported – no staff help  

 book café would be good 

 more paid events 

 how about local groups offering taster sessions in the library on their group?  

 could trainers (there are over 40 in Lambourn) offer prizes, such as tours of their 

stables? 

 self-serve electronic system would increase access and save money 

 could library take 2nd hand books instead of them going to charity shops 

 not in favour of using volunteers 

 cost of parking at Newbury is high and also no buses  

Mortimer Library 

Mortimer is a small library near the church and two primary schools. The parish council 
office is at the back of the building and rent is paid, but they feel this space is too small and 
would be put to better use as a café/family room. This space is a conservatory and leads out 
to the garden.  

The library land has a covenant on it from the 1970s stating ‘library use only’. More could be 
made of the library if it were community run. The parish council is very happy to support it 

Page 124



 

97 
 

financially. They envisage a community hub with central support for books and professional 
advice. The police station has closed and is running from a mobile unit in the pub car park, 
but could be better in the library. The post office is moving and the bank may also be at risk.  

Mortimer is a Rural Service Centre. Development of 120 houses is planned in the local area 
for the near future.  

Specific points made: 

 land – covenant in 1970s – donated by Mortimer specifically for library use  

 small car park 

 parish council use – committee meetings, surgeries and office – 5 wards in the 

parish. Parish willing to get involved.  

 parish office out the back – pay rent, some locals not keen on parish council 

involvement.  

 building recently refurbished  

 opening hours have been reduced  

 library should be more of a communication hub 

 Rural Service Centre – library is designated service hub  

 growing village (building plan 120 houses)  

 changes in bus service 

 for some vulnerable members of community may be only regular outing and contact 

they have with others 

 mums can walk to rhymetime – life saver for new mums as they can integrate into 

the community (note closure of children’s centres) 

 dads come in Saturday am – importance of range of physical books for children and 

accessibility 

 infants and juniors can walk here 

 are there book boxes at primary schools? Deprived area, can’t afford books 

 early intervention e.g. baby massage, speech and language etc 

 three public computers, IT training,  

 ancestry subscription which can be used by residents  

 DVDs could go? Although children still use them  

 ‘Bookaholics’ – 8 member book club.  

 book group – could be charged for books 

 events – could use library for more events and charge £3 or £4 per event  

 could be rented out more for meetings, hire for children’s events, groups could rent 

space, yoga – use would depend on competitive rate per hour village hall is 

£25/session (half day) 

 fundraising within the village is a possibility  

 staffing – could run with one member of staff and volunteers. Staff highly praised. 

 fees and charges are low – could pay for reservations and also online service  

Page 125



 

98 
 

 renewing online is easy 

 interest in buying an annual library ticket47 

 charge for inter-library loans 

 games café may be a good idea 

 mobile library visits close by in warden housing 

 Mortimer book group – meet in library, staff advise on books, provide sets. 

Important for community, meet during the day, order books in, get books from 

library but meet elsewhere, would not mind being charged for books – charged 

£15/year and each get 10 sets of books. 

 community run library could extended opening hours 

 instead of looking to close all important rural resources, should be further developed 

not just for use as a library but also as a valuable community asset 

 no toilet in library – local café has one 

 council could use library more in rural areas e.g. ‘we don’t buy at this door’ stickers 

only available in council offices in Newbury. 

 could use for 1:1’s e.g. job seekers 

 book shelves on coasters so can be wheeled away  

 more use could be made of rotating stock 

 Mortimer is a strong existing community ‘community conversations’ 

 ‘village partnership’ run fun day, Facebook page, good source of volunteers 

 regular drop in sessions run by the Village Agents, information stalls from Age UK 

Berkshire, Alzheimers Society, Stroke Association etc. would be really useful 

 worth speaking to Empowering West Berkshire48 to see if they can help organise 

programmes for West Berkshire libraries 

Newbury Library 

Response at Newbury to the drop-in was low (and no emails were received specifically 
about this library); this may be because the library is not viewed as under threat. From 
observation, the staff levels are high and better use could be made of self-service facilities. 
The library is a busy, excellent space. Regular events take place and space is hired out. Space 
could be found for a café. 

Specific points made (some taken from comment board): 

 ‘would be happy to pay £50/year for membership if libraries can be kept open, think 

a café would be a good idea’  

 important to prevent social isolation 

 use could be made of more volunteers 

                                                     
47 NB not permitted under legislation 
48 http://www.empoweringwb.org.uk/ - ‘promote any charitable purpose for the benefit of the public, 
principally but not exclusively in the local government area of West Berkshire and its area of benefit and, in 
particular, build the capacity of third sector organisations and provide them with the necessary support, 
information and services to enable them to pursue or contribute to any charitable purpose’ 

Page 126

http://www.empoweringwb.org.uk/


 

99 
 

 staff very helpful 

 would be willing to pay for services 

Pangbourne Library: 

Pangbourne is a small town library just along from the central shops in one room. It has a 
very well organised friends’ group who are ready to form charitable status and take over the 
running of the library. At the AGM of the parish council, they voted for the library to be their 
number one priority financially.  

Pangbourne is a Rural Service Centre. The Children’s Centre has closed therefore there may 
be colocation potential. The community feel they could make better use of the space for 
example in the evenings. A Sulham parish councillor said ‘What do we get from our council 
tax, closing the library is a step too far’.  

Specific points made:  

 only other place to get involved in Pangbourne is the church 

 central in town and therefore the community – important information point 

 part of community – social meeting point, cultural information centre 

 neutral space for socialising 

 nothing else in Pangbourne (apart from church) 

 quite a Christian based community so a lot happens around the church 

 lower socio-economic groups feel less included 

 public transport is low  

 nearer to Reading than Newbury – no bus route to Newbury 

 Rural Service Centre plus further 35 houses 

 a lot of businesses in Pangbourne  

 residents pay the same rates as Newbury but for many fewer services 

 no other facilities in Pangbourne – only community space 

 ‘isolated’ rural community – resource for disadvantaged people  

  the chair of governors at Pangbourne primary highlighted importance of libraries for 

children 

 school bring groups of children down as they can walk there  

 story time – social side for parents, good for children pre-primary 

 Summer Reading Challenge – 2 volunteers  

 internet access (if community-run would West Berks Council still provide IT?) and 

also printing facility – only access 

 learn to use IT and use to look for jobs  

 use E-library, E-book service is limited in choice 

 people prefer physical books and not all have a kindle/e-reader 

 groups include craft  

 book clubs  

 children losing research skills i.e. Google makes it too easy 

Page 127



 

100 
 

 young mums – Newbury is too far, social aspect, reading challenge, not all young  

 mums drive, don’t have internet  

 craft club use: no access to another library, no public transport 

 craft club – active volunteers who run Christmas activities etc. 

 FOPL (friends of Pangbourne Library) are aiming to achieve charitable status in order 

to be able to run the library if needed. Could take role of running and providing 

volunteers, open more hours, community use, renting space etc. (key holding details 

may be an issue) 

 parish AGM – number one priority to maintain library. Want to know financial 

implications – can put money in to help service  

 questions around precept if parish council support financially 

 willing volunteers – already a very active volunteer community in Pangbourne e.g. 

church, community centre 

 good staff  

 Children’s Centre has closed – building co location? – Play group use library now, toy 

library?  

 ‘magic of books’ 

 hours need to be kept 

 library always involved in village events 

 digital resources in Newbury library and access via tablets – available in community 

libraries 

Thatcham Library 

Thatcham Library is not in the centre of town, but near the dentist, doctors and a parade of 
shops; however, it is still difficult to find and has poor signage.  Thatcham’s population is as 
big as Newbury and growing. There is free parking for one hour in Thatcham near the 
library. Residents are supportive of the use of volunteers but only alongside permanent 
staff. The library is surrounded by sheltered housing.  There is support from the town 
council to contribute to running costs49. 

Specific points made:  

 there are three members of staff  

 building costs are higher than most community libraries  

 pockets of deprivation  

 Newbury 3 or 4 miles away – there is a bus service 

 keep satellites and close Newbury. Newbury would be overloaded if all had to go 

there 

 wouldn’t go to Newbury - pay for parking in Newbury – or bus fee including children, 

whereas free parking at Thatcham 

                                                     
49 Thatcham Town Council made available a survey they ran to obtain residents’ views on Thatcham Library, 
but as this was not a consultation exercise its findings were not factored into this report  

Page 128



 

101 
 

 not only about books – advice on local services, pastoral care 

 no bookshop in Thatcham 

 Home Start volunteer – brings children to story time 

 lots of young mums as well as older population 

 physical books are important 

 want their children to be able to walk into a library 

 Rhymetime is important  

 3 schools and pre-schools within walking distance 

 children’s study areas – do not have facilities at home, would like access to IT  

 facilities at extender hours e.g. later after school activities and weekends  

  computer classes – IT very well used  

 if charge for computers, could they be free for students? 

 consider charging for computer use and running an Internet Cafe style of operation 

alongside the lending library 

 online system with order and collect a very good service 

 familiar place for older population – socialisation 

 reading group use library books and use the library space when it is closed but do 

not pay – would be willing to. Would not travel into Newbury 

 Job Seekers use internet and staff support  

 next to library and day centre there is sheltered accommodation which will grow – 

population of Thatcham is growing 

 committee meetings held in library – Thatcham historical society 

 would not object to paying a token membership fee e.g. £12/month50 

 not interested in total volunteer run library 

 staff are excellent and essential in library– volunteer assistance at peak times but not 

to replace the permanent staff – would be plenty of volunteers in the area, but 

would it be sustainable 

 look at Saturday afternoon opening hours perhaps with young volunteers  

 U3A could use library for space, especially in evenings, but they don’t currently  

 photocopying and scanning facilities  

 IT support volunteers, help residents with home laptops also  

 stock could be reduced 

 book drop for when library is not open would be very useful  

 workshops in library – charge for some (£3-£4) 

 a lot of support from town council and would be willing to input costs  

 if libraries have to close their books should be added to the Newbury stock to 

provide an extensive mobile service throughout West Berkshire 

                                                     
50 NB not permitted under legislation 

Page 129



 

102 
 

Theale Library 

Theale Library is a joint school/public library situated at the entrance of the senior school. 
Attached is an extension of considerable size (2 classrooms, a dance studio and a kitchen 
and toilets). This is currently managed by the school and full rental potential is not being 
realised.  

The parish council are supportive, including potentially contributing to funding. There is a 
supportive friend’s group, which includes some members from the parish council.  

The community would like a café and there is space for this. There is a trust who run the 
village hall and there may be opportunities for working together.  

There is no bank in the village therefore possible partnerships with bank for rural 
community may be an idea across all libraries.  

Currently there is a disproportionally high cost of running this library. 

Many more activities could be run in the library, especially if more community run with 
more involvement. They could rent rooms for children’s parties and other events. Support 
locally for more volunteers. The council service centre in Calcot closed, therefore people 
could access more council services through the library. The parish council would also be 
interested in renting space; they do not have a lot of money but perhaps surrounding 
parishes could contribute. 

Specific points made:  

 Theale has two schools, some pupils use libraries to gather information and use 

its computers for homework 

 long way to go to Newbury wouldn’t drive - no easy transport to get to other 

libraries. If had to travel would be an unusual treat 

 growing population in Theale 

 plans for around 1,00051 new homes to be built 

 area has a lot of small businesses 

 council service at Sainsburys closed  

 first point of community, community hub, not much on at village hall, more 

community activities could be run in library 

 acts as an information centre in the village, community based 

 residents can walk here – children can come in on their own as they are local,  

 would not be able to travel to Reading or Newbury 

 buses to Thatcham and Newbury are time-consuming and therefore not practical 

for school students and working people 

 promotes good mental health 

 nowhere else to go in Theale – otherwise would be stuck in front of TV 

                                                     
51 Actually more like 425 and by no means certain: currently an application being considered for 325 houses for 
Lakeside, and the site regarding 100 houses opposite the Green is a proposed site 

Page 130



 

103 
 

 good transport links and parking  

 the Children’s Centre in Calcot has closed – mums use library to meet other 

mums, children’s activities 

 good location between the primary and secondary schools, visit after school  

 library allows interaction between young families, support network, building 

relationships 

 school research for older children 

 Summer Reading Challenge, crafts,  

 kids learn to read in library – seen progress because of variety of books 

 regular rhyme time  

 not a lot for young children in village 

 a lot of young families – social place  

 distance to go elsewhere with young children – they wouldn’t go 

 community aspect of libraries especially important for new mothers and their 

children  

 children’s activities with certificates/badges 

 library improving SATs results as volume of books read – avid readers  

 primary school teacher – borrows books for school 

 older people – reading, reference, some older people don’t have computers at 

home 

 elderly - lots in Theale, Large print books, internet, maybe the only person to talk 

to them each day, branch (almost) of social services 

 for many older people libraries are a lifeline, especially for those who live alone 

or for those who are trying to learn about using the Internet 

 importance of accessing government and public services online 

 distance learning – advanced student  

 ADHA & Dyslexia – lib do get special resources and audio CD’s. Friendly, 

comfortable environment 

 good customer service 

 particularly good staff member, for children’s activities. 

 staff member was mentioned by everyone – obviously good with the children 

 value of staff members who know their customers, their families, their book 

choices and their interests 

 could charge for service: Rhymetime, book time, internet usage 

 reduce hours  

 library itself could be smaller, community hub use 

 ideas – internet café, gardening club 

 joint council e.g. benefits surgery 

 ‘poor people can learn’ 

Page 131



 

104 
 

 would use a café after Rhymetime – only one in village, not much space for 

buggies and other end of high street (how busy is rhyme time?) 

 could do more activities e.g. knitting, possibly lunch club 

 could charge for Rhyimetime, say £1 per child 

 could rent rooms for children’s parties and other activities – nicer quality than 

village hall 

 staff could organise other people to come in and run activities 

 historian research – would have to go to Newbury 

 to use online banking – no bank in village  

 would be willing to pay more council tax and keep library e.g. £10/month 

 possibility of toy library 

 volunteers for home library service: Feel there would be support for volunteers, 

library is well used – free parking, good space, population growing, importance of 

home lib service 

 partnership with NHS for community space 

 would seem nothing less than good management to look at ways to keep the 

library's contents in a less expensive building, either by selling off the part which 

is doesn't use or by selling the whole building and moving into smaller premises 

 Parish Council doesn’t have a lot of money but other surrounding councils could 

contribute – also could apply for grants e.g. skate park – proactive keen 

 libraries possibly ‘over-stocked’ – e-books? 

 why was go ahead given to spend a large amount of money on the refurbishment 

of Newbury Museum, when council would have known it was highly likely they 

would have to make cuts on facilities of the smaller villages? 

Wash Common Library 

Wash Common Library is in the middle of a housing estate three miles outside Newbury. 
There is a pre-school next door during the week.  

The greatest emphasis placed by users was on the importance of local, being able to walk 
there especially with children and for the elderly. The library has a small, free car park and 
some visitors drive to the library. The high cost of parking or taking the bus to Newbury, as 
well as the time taken, is an off-putting factor (especially for the elderly). Smaller 
community libraries are thought to be better for children. Its proximity to five local schools 
is considered important. 

The local councillor was supportive of using more volunteers. There is a lot of supported 
housing close by, and a proposed new development nearby52. 

If closed, consider using the mobile library or At Home service for residents of the sheltered 
housing. 

                                                     
52 Note, not for at least ten years 

Page 132



 

105 
 

Specific points made:  

 expanding residential area some distance from the town centre – with another 2000 

dwellings planned to be built in the years ahead53 

 more building going on in the area 

 free parking  

 library service is the only council provision and point of council contact / information 

to the south of Newbury 

 community hub – steady, busy flow  

 it is a purpose built library owned by WBC  

 also serves north Hampshire 

 smaller libraries are friendly  

 more difficult to get into Newbury 

 difficult for young mums to go into Newbury  

 access to books for children  

 primary school in area, all use the library. Summer reading challenge 

 lots of people walk to library – with young children. 

 infant school use library and toddler group 

 family use  

 used to be ballet classes next door at the community centre on Saturday and had a 

lot of children from that but that has stopped 

 order online and pick up. Don’t want to pay to park at Newbury. Information as bus 

service is difficult as all different providers 

 assisted housing down the road 

 a lot of elderly in area because of sheltered housing  

 elderly find it difficult to get into town  

 elderly people use regularly as a social point  

 use of internet connection 

 local information available 

 staff unfailingly helpful and friendly and provide a much more personal level of 

service and response than the busy and pressured staff in the central library 

 could get local volunteers 

 change of route for mobile library? 

 

 

                                                     
53 But not for at least ten years, and not certain to happen  

Page 133



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 134



West Berkshire Council Executive 20 October 2016

Adoption of the Temporary Accommodation 
Strategy

Committee considering 
report: Executive

Date of Committee: 20 October 2016
Portfolio Member: Councillor Hilary Cole
Date Portfolio Member 
agreed report: 19 September 2016

Report Author: Mel Brain
Forward Plan Ref: EX3166

1. Purpose of the Report

1.1 To approve and adopt the Temporary Accommodation Strategy.

2. Recommendation

2.1 The Executive approve and adopt the Temporary Accommodation.

3. Implications

3.1 Financial: The Policy sets out a procurement strategy for securing 
new temporary accommodation. This will require capital 
investment, however, a capital pot has already been 
approved by Executive and any project outside of this pot 
would be subject to approval by Capital Strategy Group.

3.2 Policy: The Policy sets out the Council’s approach to procuring 
sufficient temporary accommodation and details how units 
of temporary accommodation will be allocated to individual 
households.

3.3 Personnel: There are no personnel issues arising from this report.

3.4 Legal: The Court of Appeal, in the case of Nzolameso v 
Westminster City Council [2015] WLR(D) 165, [2015] 
PTSR 549, [2015] UKSC 22, stated that local authorities 
should have a policy for procuring sufficient temporary 
accommodation to meet demand for the year and  a policy 
for allocating such units to individual households. This 
policy has been drafted to meet this requirement.

3.5 Risk Management: The Council has duties to homeless households and whilst 
it has a small stock of temporary accommodation, this is 
insufficient to meet current demands. Families with children 
should not be placed in Bed & Breakfast for longer than 6 
weeks. This Policy sets out a clear Policy by which the 
Council seeks to mitigate the risk of breaching the 6-week 
rule.

Page 135

Agenda Item 7.



Adoption of the Temporary Accommodation Strategy

West Berkshire Council Executive 20 October 2016

3.6 Property: The Council owns a small stock of temporary 
accommodation and this Policy provides a strategy to 
increase this provision by acquiring new assets. Whilst 
capital investment would be required to procure the units, it 
is anticipated that ongoing repair and maintenance costs 
would be met from rental income.

3.7 Other: N/A

4. Other options considered

4.1 The Council could decide not to implement a Temporary Accommodation Policy. 
This could give rise to legal challenge if households are not allocated suitable 
accommodation under statutory homelessness duties.

Page 136



Adoption of the Temporary Accommodation Strategy

West Berkshire Council Executive 20 October 2016

5. Executive Summary

5.1 The case of Nzolameso v Westminster City Council [2015] WLR(D) 165, [2015] 
PTSR 549, [2015] UKSC 22 at the Court of Appeal, held that there is a statutory 
duty for local authorities to accommodate homeless households within the district, 
where reasonably practicable, failing which they should try to place households as 
close as possible to where they were previously living. In addition, the Court of 
Appeal stated that “The question of whether the accommodation offered is “suitable” 
for the applicant and each member of her household clearly requires the local 
authority to have regard to the need to safeguard and promote the welfare of any 
children in her household” (Para.27).

5.2 The Court of Appeal went on to say that “Ideally, each local authority should have, 
and keep up to date, a policy for procuring sufficient units of temporary 
accommodation to meet the anticipated demand during the coming year. That policy 
should, of course, reflect the authority’s statutory obligations under both the 1996 
Act and the Children Act 2004. It should be approved by the democratically 
accountable members of the council and, ideally, it should be made publicly 
available. Secondly, each local authority should have, and keep up to date, a policy 
for allocating those units to individual homeless households. Where there was an 
anticipated shortfall of “in borough” units, that policy would explain the factors 
which would be taken into account in offering households those units, the factors 
which would be taken into account in offering units close to home, and if there was 
a shortage of such units, the factors which would make it suitable to accommodate 
a household further away. That policy too should be made publicly available” (Para. 
39).

5.3 This Strategy has been developed to meet the requirements set out by the Court of 
Appeal and is a brand new Strategy for the Council. Its purpose is two-fold: a) to set 
out the Council’s Strategy for procuring additional temporary accommodation to 
meet identified needs and b) to set out the policy for allocating units of temporary 
accommodation to individual households.

5.4 In summary, it provides:

(1) The strategy for procuring new temporary accommodation to meet 
demands, to include leasing properties from Registered Providers, 
securing new properties via planning obligations, purchasing back 
shares in DIYSO (do-it-yourself shared-ownership) properties as and 
when they become available, buying properties on the open market 
and reviewing existing temporary accommodation stock to ensure that 
its use is maximised.

(2) That when allocating units of temporary accommodation to individual 
households, the Housing Service will take account of the full 
circumstances of the household in relation to the financial, social and 
medical needs of the household and will prioritize families with the 
highest overall level of need for local placements, using the following 
cascade:

Page 137



Adoption of the Temporary Accommodation Strategy

West Berkshire Council Executive 20 October 2016

(a) Homeless households with dependent children in school years 11,12 
and 13 who are preparing for, or who are in the process of, taking 
examinations.

(b) Homeless households who have at least one household member in 
employment within the district.

(c) All other homeless households with school age children.

(d) All other homeless households.

5.5 The draft Temporary Accommodation Strategy was previously considered by 
Executive on 28th July 2016 for approval to publish for consultation. The 
consultation has now been completed and the Temporary Accommodation Strategy 
is now presented for adoption. 

6. Conclusion

6.1 It is recommended that the Executive approve and adopt the Temporary 
Accommodation Strategy.

7. Appendices

7.1 Appendix A - Supporting Information

7.2 Appendix B – Equalities Impact Assessment

7.3 Appendix C – Temporary Accommodation Strategy

Page 138



West Berkshire Council Executive 20 October 2016

Appendix A

Adoption of the Temporary Accommodation 
Strategy – Supporting Information

1. Introduction/Background

1.1 The case of Nzolameso v Westminster City Council [2015] WLR(D) 165, [2015] 
PTSR 549, [2015] UKSC 22 at the Court of Appeal, held that there is a statutory 
duty for local authorities to accommodate homeless households within the district, 
where reasonably practicable, failing which they should try to place households as 
close as possible to where they were previously living. In addition, the Court of 
Appeal stated that “The question of whether the accommodation offered is “suitable” 
for the applicant and each member of her household clearly requires the local 
authority to have regard to the need to safeguard and promote the welfare of any 
children in her household” (Para.27).

1.2 The Court of Appeal went on to say that “Ideally, each local authority should have, 
and keep up to date, a policy for procuring sufficient units of temporary 
accommodation to meet the anticipated demand during the coming year. That policy 
should, of course, reflect the authority’s statutory obligations under both the 1996 
Act and the Children Act 2004. It should be approved by the democratically 
accountable members of the council and, ideally, it should be made publicly 
available. Secondly, each local authority should have, and keep up to date, a policy 
for allocating those units to individual homeless households. Where there was an 
anticipated shortfall of “in borough” units, that policy would explain the factors 
which would be taken into account in offering households those units, the factors 
which would be taken into account in offering units close to home, and if there was 
a shortage of such units, the factors which would make it suitable to accommodate 
a household further away. That policy too should be made publicly available” (Para. 
39).

2. Supporting Information

2.1 This Policy has been developed to meet the requirements set out by the Court of 
Appeal. In summary, it provides:

(1) The strategy for procuring new temporary accommodation to meet 
demands to include leasing properties from Registered Providers, 
securing new properties via planning obligations, purchasing back 
shares in DIYSO (do-it-yourself shared-ownership) properties as and 
when they become available, buying properties on the open market 
and reviewing existing temporary accommodation stock to ensure that 
its use is maximised.

(2) That when allocating units of temporary accommodation to individual 
households, the Housing Service will take account of the full 
circumstances of the household in relation to the financial, social and 
medical needs of the household and will prioritize families with the 
highest overall level of need for local placements, using the following 
cascade:

Page 139



Adoption of the Temporary Accommodation Strategy – Supporting Information

West Berkshire Council Executive 20 October 2016

(a) Homeless households with dependent children in school years 11,12 
and 13 who are preparing for, or who are in the process of, taking 
examinations.

(b) Homeless households who have at least one household member in 
employment within the district.

(c) All other homeless households with school age children.

(d) All other homeless households

2.2 A copy of the Temporary Accommodation Policy is attached at Appendix Three.

3. Options for Consideration

3.1 The Council could decide not to implement a Temporary Accommodation Policy. 
This could give rise to legal challenge if households are not allocated suitable 
accommodation under statutory homelessness duties.

4. Consultation

4.1 The draft Temporary Accommodation Strategy was published for a 6-week 
consultation. The draft policy was published on the Council's website for all 
members of the public to comment on. In addition, all residents currently in 
temporary accommodation were contacted, in writing or by e-mail, asking them for 
their views.

4.2 There were no responses received to the consultation.

5. Conclusion

5.1 It is recommended that the Executive approve and adopt the Temporary 
Accommodation Strategy.

Background Papers:
Housing Act 1996 (as amended)
Homelessness strategy 2013-2018
Housing Strategy 2010-2015
Strategic Aims and Priorities Supported:
The proposals will help achieve the following Council Strategy aim:

P&S – Protect and support those who need it
The proposals contained in this report will help to achieve the above Council Strategy aim 
by ensuring that vulnerable homeless households are provided with appropriate temporary 
accommodation, in line with statutory duties.

Officer details:
Name: Mel Brain
Job Title: Service Manager, Housing Strategy & Operations
Tel No: 01635 519403
E-mail Address: mel.brain@westberks.gov.uk

Page 140



Adoption of the Temporary Accommodation Strategy – Supporting Information

West Berkshire Council Executive 20 October 2016

Appendix B

Equality Impact Assessment - Stage One

We need to ensure that our strategies, polices, functions and services, current and 
proposed have given due regard to equality and diversity.  

Please complete the following questions to determine whether a Stage Two, 
Equality Impact Assessment is required.

Name of policy, strategy or function: Draft Temporary Accommodation Strategy

Version and release date of item (if 
applicable): V1.0, June 2016

Owner of item being assessed: Mel Brain

Name of assessor: Mel Brain

Date of assessment: 28 June 2016

Is this a: Is this:

Policy Yes/No New or proposed Yes/No

Strategy Yes/No Already exists and is being 
reviewed Yes/No

Function Yes/No Is changing Yes/No

Service Yes/No

1. What are the main aims, objectives and intended outcomes of the policy, 
strategy function or service and who is likely to benefit from it?

Aims: To set out a strategy for procurement of temporary 
accommodation to meet demand and to set out the 
policy for allocating units of temporary accommodation 
to individual households.

Objectives: To ensure transparency, accountability and fairness in 
the allocation of temporary accommodation to 
homeless households. 

Outcomes: To ensure that the Council is able to fulfil its statutory 
duties under the Housing Act 1996 (as amended) and 
to ensure that homeless households are allocated 
appropriate temporary accommodation in a fair, 
transparent and accountable way.

Benefits: Case law requires that the Council should implement 
such a policy and keep it up to date – by adopting such 
a policy, the Council should reduce the likelihood of 
legal challenge, whilst also ensuring that it has a 
transparent and accountable way of allocating a limited 

Page 141



Adoption of the Temporary Accommodation Strategy – Supporting Information

West Berkshire Council Executive 20 October 2016

resource.

2. Note which groups may be affected by the policy, strategy, function or 
service.  Consider how they may be affected, whether it is positively or 
negatively and what sources of information have been used to determine 
this.
(Please demonstrate consideration of all strands – Age, Disability, Gender 
Reassignment, Marriage and Civil Partnership, Pregnancy and Maternity, Race, 
Religion or Belief, Sex and Sexual Orientation.)

Group 
Affected What might be the effect? Information to support this

Age

Homeless households are 
disproportionately from younger 
age groups, with the majority 
having ahead of household who 
is under-25. This means that 
younger households, with 
children, are more likely to be 
placed in B&B outside of the 
district when applying as 
homeless. The proposed policy 
provides a clear framework for 
determining which households 
are place din temporary 
accommodation within the 
district, as and when it becomes 
available.

P1E returns

Disability

The Council has two units of 
disabled-adapted temporary 
accommodation and will seek to 
prioritise households in need of 
such adaptations when making 
allocations of temporary 
accommodation.

Gender 
Reassignment, 
Marriage & 
Civil 
Partnership

This policy should have no 
impact on this strand.

Pregnancy and 
Maternity

Households with dependent 
children or with a member who 
is pregnant are automatically 
conveyed priority need and are 
therefore highly likely to be 
owed at least an interim 
accommodation duty. Due to 
high demand and limited 
temporary accommodation 

Housing Act 1996
P1E returns

Page 142



Adoption of the Temporary Accommodation Strategy – Supporting Information

West Berkshire Council Executive 20 October 2016

stock,  households with children 
or pregnant members, are more 
likely to be placed in B&B 
outside of the district when 
applying as homeless. The 
proposed policy provides a clear 
framework for determining 
which households are place din 
temporary accommodation 
within the district, as and when it 
becomes available.

Race, Religion 
or Belief

This policy should have no 
impact on this strand.

Sex and 
sexual 
orientation

Homeless households 
disproportionately have female 
members as their lead 
household member. This means 
that households with women as 
the lead member, especially 
those with responsibility for 
caring for children, are more 
likely to be placed in B&B 
outside of the district when 
applying as homeless. The 
proposed policy provides a clear 
framework for determining 
which households are placed in 
temporary accommodation 
within the district, as and when it 
becomes available.

P1E Returns

Further Comments relating to the item:

The Council has insufficient temporary accommodation stock to meet demands and 
has to resort to placements outside of the district. It is recognised that this is not ideal, 
as it takes vulnerable households away from their support networks, schools, 
employment and medical care. Whilst the Policy is unlikely to resolve this situation, it 
does provide a framework by which to make clear, accountable and transparent 
decisions when allocating limited resources.

3. Result 

Are there any aspects of the policy, strategy, function or service, 
including how it is delivered or accessed, that could contribute to 
inequality?

Yes/No

Please provide an explanation for your answer:
The way in which homelessness legislation is drafted means that certain households 
are given priority need, and those households may fall within some of the strands to 
be considered under the Equalities Act (primarily age, pregnancy and maternity, and 
Sex and sexual orientation). Whilst the Policy is unlikely to resolve this situation, it 

Page 143



Adoption of the Temporary Accommodation Strategy – Supporting Information

West Berkshire Council Executive 20 October 2016

does provide a framework by which to make clear, accountable and transparent 
decisions when allocating limited resources.

Will the policy, strategy, function or service have an adverse impact 
upon the lives of people, including employees and service users? Yes/No

Please provide an explanation for your answer:
The Policy is designed to provide a transparent and accountable framework by which 
to make decisions when allocating temporary accommodation and will therefore 
improve the way in which the function is delivered.

If your answers to question 2 have identified potential adverse impacts and you 
have answered ‘yes’ to either of the sections at question 3, or you are unsure about 
the impact, then you should carry out a Stage 2 Equality Impact Assessment.

If a Stage Two Equality Impact Assessment is required, before proceeding you 
should discuss the scope of the Assessment with service managers in your area.  
You will also need to refer to the Equality Impact Assessment guidance and Stage 
Two template.

4. Identify next steps as appropriate:

Stage Two required Yes

Owner of Stage Two assessment: Mel Brain

Timescale for Stage Two assessment:
To be considered after consultation has 
closed and prior to adoption of the 
Temporary Accommodation Strategy.

Stage Two not required:

Name: Mel Brain Date: 28 June 2016

Please now forward this completed form to Rachel Craggs, the Principal Policy 
Officer (Equality and Diversity) for publication on the WBC website.

Page 144



Adoption of the Temporary Accommodation Strategy – Supporting Information

West Berkshire Council Executive 20 October 2016

Appendix C

Draft Temporary Accommodation Strategy

Contents

1. Purpose ...................................................................................................................................................3
2. Applicability..............................................................................................................................................3
3. Roles and Responsibilities ......................................................................................................................3
4. Background .............................................................................................................................................3
5. Temporary Accommodation Stock ..........................................................................................................4
6. Allocations ...............................................................................................................................................5
7. Procurement ............................................................................................................................................6

Page 145



Adoption of the Temporary Accommodation Strategy – Supporting Information

West Berkshire Council Executive 20 October 2016

6. Purpose

6.1 The purpose of this policy and procedure is to set out how West Berkshire Council 
will decide on allocations of temporary accommodation in order to meet its S188 
duty to provide interim accommodation to homeless households and its S193 duty 
to provide temporary accommodation.

6.2 The policy and procedure will also explain what steps will be taken by West 
Berkshire Council to secure additional units of temporary accommodation in order to 
meet the needs of homeless households.

7. Applicability

7.1 The policy and procedure is applicable to all households who are owed an S188 or 
S193 duty to provide interim or temporary accommodation by West Berkshire 
Council.

8. Roles and Responsibilities

8.1 The Head of Care Commissioning, Housing and Safeguarding has overall 
responsibility for ensuring that West Berkshire Council’s temporary accommodation 
is managed appropriately in accordance with these agreed standards.

8.2 The Service Manager (Housing Strategy and Operations) is responsible for:

 Directing and reviewing this standard.
 Ensuring that there is effective consultation and communication on Temporary 

Accommodation related matters in terms of allocations and procurement.
 Publishing & Promoting the adoption of this standard to Housing staff.
 Ensuring compliance with published standards, procedures, working practices 

and technology changes in relation to housing services relevant to this policy 
and procedure.

8.3 The Service Manager and the Housing Options Team Leader are responsible for 
the day-to-day management of temporary accommodation allocations, including 
ensuring implementation of this standard.

8.4 All Housing Operations staff are responsible for familiarizing themselves with, and 
ensuring that they comply with this standard.

9. Background

9.1 The case of Nzolameso v Westminster City Council [2015] WLR(D) 165, [2015] 
PTSR 549, [2015] UKSC 22 at the Court of Appeal, held that there is a statutory 
duty for local authorities to accommodate homeless households within the district, 
where reasonably practicable, failing which they should try to place households as 
close as possible to where they were previously living. In addition, the Court of 
Appeal stated that “The question of whether the accommodation offered is “suitable” 
for the applicant and each member of her household clearly requires the local 
authority to have regard to the need to safeguard and promote the welfare of any 
children in her household” (Para.27).

Page 146



Adoption of the Temporary Accommodation Strategy – Supporting Information

West Berkshire Council Executive 20 October 2016

9.2 The Court of Appeal went on to say that “Ideally, each local authority should have, 
and keep up to date, a policy for procuring sufficient units of temporary 
accommodation to meet the anticipated demand during the coming year. That policy 
should, of course, reflect the authority’s statutory obligations under both the 1996 
Act and the Children Act 2004. It should be approved by the democratically 
accountable members of the council and, ideally, it should be made publicly 
available. Secondly, each local authority should have, and keep up to date, a policy 
for allocating those units to individual homeless households. Where there was an 
anticipated shortfall of “in borough” units, that policy would explain the factors 
which would be taken into account in offering households those units, the factors 
which would be taken into account in offering units close to home, and if there was 
a shortage of such units, the factors which would make it suitable to accommodate 
a household further away. That policy too should be made publicly available” (Para. 
39).

9.3 This Policy has been developed to meet the requirements set out by the Court of 
Appeal.

10.Temporary Accommodation Stock

10.1 West Berkshire Council currently have 22 units of self-contained temporary 
accommodation, one shared house with four bedrooms for shared occupation and 
16 units of self-contained accommodation which are leased from Sovereign 
Housing Association for use by homeless households and all of which are situated 
within West Berkshire. All units of accommodation are unfurnished; however some 
units offer fridges and cookers.

10.2 West Berkshire Council has one unit of self-contained accommodation which is 
situated out of area in Basingstoke and Deane local authority area, which is located 
just over the border.

10.3 West Berkshire Council is able to offer emergency beds at Two Saints Hostel in 
Newbury for single homeless households in shared rooms on a ‘bed only’ basis 
which can be accessed between 9pm and 8am.

10.4 For single homeless households in crisis full privileges may be offered at Two 
Saints Hostel so that the applicant can remain at the Hostel during the day and on a 
full-board basis. Any offer of full privileges must be agreed by the Service Manager 
(Housing Strategy and Operations), Housing Options Team Leader or Senior 
Housing Options Officer.

10.5 Where no suitable unit of temporary accommodation is available with which to carry 
out West Berkshire Council’s S188 duty to a homeless household, a Bed and 
Breakfast placement, which may be out of area, will be sought in the first instance 
until a suitable unit of temporary accommodation becomes available or whilst a 
suitable unit of temporary accommodation is procured. The Homelessness Code of 
Guidance for Local Authorities states that Bed and Breakfast accommodation must 
only be used for homeless households with children when no other accommodation 
is available for their occupation and that it must be for no longer than six weeks in 
duration.

Page 147



Adoption of the Temporary Accommodation Strategy – Supporting Information

West Berkshire Council Executive 20 October 2016

11.Allocations

11.1 Chapter 17 of The Homelessness Code of Guidance for Local Authorities requires 
that local authorities give regard to the fact that ‘the accommodation [under S188] 
must be suitable in relation to the applicant and to all members of his or her 
household who normally reside with him or her, or who might reasonably be 
expected to reside with him or her’. Therefore all homeless households will require 
an assessment of needs to determine the minimum size of accommodation and 
bedroom requirements and applicants will then be matched to available properties.

11.2 The Council always seeks to place homeless households in temporary 
accommodation within the district but as a non-stockholding authority this is not 
always possible. The following paragraphs indicate how we will priorities between 
families requiring temporary accommodation when deciding to whom to make an 
offer.

11.3 Where there is more than one homeless household requiring a specific size of 
temporary accommodation within the district, West Berkshire Council will prioritize 
households as follows:

(1) Homeless households with dependent children in school years 11,12 and 13 
who are preparing for, or who are in the process of, taking examinations.

(2) Homeless households who have at least one household member in 
employment within the district.

(3) All other homeless households with school age children.

(4) All other homeless households.

11.4 This is in-line with the ‘Think Family’ approach and aims to minimize the disruption 
to homeless families and to minimize the impact on the children of such 
households.

11.5 Section 17.41 of the Homelessness Code of Guidance for Local Authorities states 
that

‘Housing authorities should avoid placing applicants in isolated accommodation 
away from public transport, shops and other facilities, and, wherever possible, 
secure accommodation that is as close as possible to where they were previously 
living, so they can retain established links with schools, doctors, social workers and 
other key services and support essential to the well-being of the household.’

11.6 Therefore, the Council will take a holistic approach at the time of placement and will 
take account of the full circumstances of the household in relation to the financial, 
social and medical needs of the household and will prioritize families with the 
highest overall level of need for local placements.

11.7 Section 17.42 of the Homelessness Code of Guidance for Local Authorities states 
that

Page 148



Adoption of the Temporary Accommodation Strategy – Supporting Information

West Berkshire Council Executive 20 October 2016

‘Housing authorities will need to be sensitive to the importance of pets to some 
applicants, particularly elderly people and rough sleepers who may rely on pets for 
companionship. Although it will not always be possible to make provision for pets, 
the Secretary of State recommends that housing authorities give careful 
consideration to this aspect when making provision for applicants who wish to retain 
their pet.’

11.8 Due to the shortage of available properties within the district, it is not always 
possible to accommodate larger pets with homeless households, though the 
Council will endeavour to allocate properties where pets are allowed to households 
in need of such a property.

11.9 Homeless households requiring disabled facilities will be prioritized over all other 
applicants for an allocation of disabled adapted temporary accommodation.

11.10 In accordance with section 16.6 of the Homelessness Code of Guidance, where 
there is concern that a household may be at risk, due to violence or threat of 
violence, including domestic abuse, the Council may determine that an out-of-area 
placement is needed in order to minimize risk to that household. 

12.Procurement

12.1 West Berkshire Council will seek to procure additional units of temporary 
accommodation as necessary, via the following means:

 Additional units of temporary accommodation will be sought from local 
Registered Providers on a rolling lease basis.

 Consideration will be given to whether additional units of temporary 
accommodation can be secured through the enabling of new developments.

 Review of our own temporary accommodation stock to consider whether the 
properties could be better utilized by making adaptations to current 
arrangements.

 Purchasing back shares in DIYSO properties when current owners wish to 
relinquish ownership.

 Purchasing properties on the open market in order to fulfil the Council’s duty 
to provide temporary accommodation and where this duty cannot be met 
through alternative means.

12.2 When a household may benefit from accommodation within another local authority 
area, or has expressed a desire to relocate to another local authority area, the 
Council may offer a reciprocal arrangement to the receiving local authority if this 
would be mutually beneficial. A reciprocal arrangement may also be sought when a 
household is fleeing violence and when the Council has already accepted a full 
housing duty.

Page 149



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 150



West Berkshire Council Executive 20 October 2016

Adoption of the Decant Policy
Committee considering 
report: Executive

Date of Committee: 20 October 2016
Portfolio Member: Councillor Hilary Cole
Date Portfolio Member 
agreed report: 19 September 2016

Report Author: Mel Brain
Forward Plan Ref: EX3168

1. Purpose of the Report

1.1 To adopt the Decant Policy.

2. Recommendation

2.1 Executive approve and adopt the Decant Policy.

3. Implications

3.1 Financial: The Policy sets out the Council’s approach to decant of 
secure tenants and licensees with security of tenure 
(including residents of Council-managed Gypsy & Traveller 
sites). The Landlord Compensation Act 1973 requires that 
Home Loss payments and Disturbance Payments are 
made in specific circumstances. The Policy reflects this 
and also sets out other financial assistance that may be 
available subject to certain criteria being met. It is intended 
that such costs would form part of the overall 
refurbishment/major works project costs for any such 
project.

3.2 Policy: The Policy sets out what the Council will do when it is 
necessary for a tenant or licensee to move home due to 
major works or redevelopment of their current home.

3.3 Personnel: There are no personnel issues arising from this report.

3.4 Legal: The Landlord Compensation Act 1973 requires that Home 
Loss payments and Disturbance Payments are made in 
specific circumstances.

3.5 Risk Management: There are no specific risks arising from this Policy.

3.6 Property: The Council has a very small number of tenants and 
licensees who are afforded security of tenure. This Policy 
sets out what the Council will do in the event that major 
works or refurbishment is proposed and the tenants or 
licensees are required to move to allow the work to take 
place.

Page 151

Agenda Item 8.



Adoption of the Decant Policy

West Berkshire Council Executive 20 October 2016

3.7 Other: N/A

4. Other options considered

4.1 N/A

Page 152



Adoption of the Decant Policy

West Berkshire Council Executive 20 October 2016

5. Executive Summary

5.1 The Council has a small number of tenants and licensees who are afforded security 
of tenure. This Policy has sets out how the Council will manage decant of these 
tenants or licensees in the event that major works or refurbishment works are 
required to the properties. The Council would be unable to decant tenants or 
licensees without having a policy in place.

5.2 In summary, the Decant Policy provides:

(1) Information on how a decision to decant tenants or licensees will be 
made

(2) What would be deemed as suitable alternative accommodation

(3) How and when Notice would be served

(4) What rights the tenant or licensee would have to move back to the 
property once works are completed

(5) The circumstances in which statutory and discretionary payments may 
be made, including statutory Home Loss Payments and statutory 
Disturbance Payments

(6) The procedure that will be followed when decants are being made

(7) The appeals process.

5.3 The draft Decant Policy was previously considered by Executive on 28th July for 
approval to publish for consultation. The consultation has now been completed and 
the Decant Policy is now presented for adoption. 

6. Conclusion

6.1 It is recommended that the Executive approve and adopt the Decant Policy.

7. Appendices

7.1 Appendix A - Supporting Information

7.2 Appendix B – Equalities Impact Assessment

7.3 Appendix C – Draft Decant Policy

Page 153



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 154



West Berkshire Council Executive 20 October 2016

Appendix A

Adoption of the Decant Policy – Supporting 
Information

1. Introduction/Background

1.1 The Council has a small number of tenants and licensees who are afforded security 
of tenure. This Policy has been drafted to set out how the Council will manage 
decant of these tenants or licensees in the event that major works or refurbishment  
works are required to the properties. The Council would be unable to decant tenants 
or licensees without having a policy in place.

2. Supporting Information

2.1 In summary, the Decant Policy provides:

(1) Information on how a decision to decant tenants or licensees will be made

(2) What would be deemed as suitable alternative accommodation

(3) How and when Notice would be served

(4) What rights the tenant or licensee would have to move back to the property 
once works are completed

(5) The circumstances in which statutory and discretionary payments may be 
made, including statutory Home Loss Payments and statutory Disturbance 
Payments

(6) The procedure that will be followed when decants are being made

(7) The appeals process.

2.2 A copy of the Decant Policy is attached at Appendix C.

3. Options for Consideration

3.1 N/A

4. Consultation

4.1 The draft Decant Policy was published for a 6-week consultation. The draft policy 
was published on the Council's website for all members of the public to comment 
on. In addition, all residents currently accommodation to which the Decant Policy 
would apply were contacted, in writing or by e-mail, asking them for their views. 
Residents of Four Houses Corner were also offered a face-to-face meeting with the 
Specialist Housing Officer. 

4.2 Only one response was received to the consultation. The response made 
staements relevant to the personal circumstances of the individual and not on the 
policy itself.

Page 155



Adoption of the Decant Policy – Supporting Information

West Berkshire Council Executive 20 October 2016

5. Conclusion

5.1 It is recommended that the Executive approve and adopt the Decant Policy.

Background Papers:
Landlord Compensation Act 1973
Strategic Aims and Priorities Supported:
The proposals will help achieve the following Council Strategy aim:

P&S – Protect and support those who need it
The proposals contained in this report will help to achieve the above Council Strategy aim 
by ensuring that household who are required to move in order to facilitate refurbishment, 
redevelopment or major works are suitably compensated and that there is a procedure to 
ensure timely and effective management of the decant process.

Officer details:
Name: Mel Brain
Job Title: Service Manager, Housing Strategy & Operations
Tel No: 01635 519403
E-mail Address: mel.brain@westberks.gov.uk

Page 156



Adoption of the Decant Policy – Supporting Information

West Berkshire Council Executive 20 October 2016

Appendix B

Equality Impact Assessment - Stage One

We need to ensure that our strategies, polices, functions and services, current and 
proposed have given due regard to equality and diversity.  

Please complete the following questions to determine whether a Stage Two, 
Equality Impact Assessment is required.

Name of policy, strategy or function: Draft Decant Policy

Version and release date of item (if 
applicable): V1.0, June 2016

Owner of item being assessed: Mel Brain

Name of assessor: Mel Brain

Date of assessment: 28 June 2016

Is this a: Is this:

Policy Yes/No New or proposed Yes/No

Strategy Yes/No Already exists and is being 
reviewed Yes/No

Function Yes/No Is changing Yes/No

Service Yes/No

1. What are the main aims, objectives and intended outcomes of the policy, 
strategy function or service and who is likely to benefit from it?

Aims: To set out a policy and procedure to manage decants in 
the event that tenants or licensees need to move to 
facilitate refurbishment, redevelopment or major works.

Objectives: To ensure that decants are managed effectively and in 
a timely way so as to minimise delay to major projects. 
To ensure that the Council meets its statutory duties in 
relation to compensation. 

Outcomes: To ensure that there is a clear and accountable 
procedure for managing decants.

Benefits: Minimise delay to major refurbishment, redevelopment 
or major works projects.
To set out the payments that the Council will make to 
tenants or licensees in the event that they are 
decanted.

2. Note which groups may be affected by the policy, strategy, function or 

Page 157



Adoption of the Decant Policy – Supporting Information

West Berkshire Council Executive 20 October 2016

service.  Consider how they may be affected, whether it is positively or 
negatively and what sources of information have been used to determine 
this.
(Please demonstrate consideration of all strands – Age, Disability, Gender 
Reassignment, Marriage and Civil Partnership, Pregnancy and Maternity, Race, 
Religion or Belief, Sex and Sexual Orientation.)

Group 
Affected What might be the effect? Information to support this

Age This policy should have no 
impact on this strand. Profile of tenants/licensees

Disability This policy should have no 
impact on this strand. Profile of tenants/licensees

Gender 
Reassignment, 
Marriage & 
Civil 
Partnership

This policy should have no 
impact on this strand. Profile of tenants/licensees

Pregnancy and 
Maternity

This policy should have no 
impact on this strand. Profile of tenants/licensees

Race, Religion 
or Belief

The tenants or licensees subject 
to the decant Policy includes 
residents of a Council-managed 
Gypsy & Traveller site. 
Particular consideration has 
been given to the cultural needs 
of this group, in terms of the 
support and assistance offered 
by the Council during a decant, 
whilst drafting the Policy.

Profile of tenants/licensees

Sex and 
sexual 
orientation

This policy should have no 
impact on this strand. Profile of tenants/licensees

Further Comments relating to the item:

In respect of Gypsy & Travellers who may be affected by the decant Policy, advice 
has been sought from relevant agencies and particular consideration given to the 
education needs of the children and to storage of touring vans.

3. Result 

Are there any aspects of the policy, strategy, function or service, 
including how it is delivered or accessed, that could contribute to 
inequality?

Yes/No

Please provide an explanation for your answer:
Specific consideration has been given to any strands that may have been adversely 

Page 158



Adoption of the Decant Policy – Supporting Information

West Berkshire Council Executive 20 October 2016

impacted and the Policy has been dratted to mitigate any such inequality.

Will the policy, strategy, function or service have an adverse impact 
upon the lives of people, including employees and service users? Yes/No

Please provide an explanation for your answer:
The Policy is designed to provide a transparent and accountable framework by which 
to make decisions about decants and to set out the procedures that will be followed..

If your answers to question 2 have identified potential adverse impacts and you 
have answered ‘yes’ to either of the sections at question 3, or you are unsure about 
the impact, then you should carry out a Stage 2 Equality Impact Assessment.

If a Stage Two Equality Impact Assessment is required, before proceeding you 
should discuss the scope of the Assessment with service managers in your area.  
You will also need to refer to the Equality Impact Assessment guidance and Stage 
Two template.

4. Identify next steps as appropriate:

Stage Two required

Owner of Stage Two assessment:

Timescale for Stage Two assessment:

Stage Two not required: No

Name: Mel Brain Date: 28 June 2016

Please now forward this completed form to Rachel Craggs, the Principal Policy 
Officer (Equality and Diversity) for publication on the WBC website.

Page 159



Adoption of the Decant Policy – Supporting Information

West Berkshire Council Executive 20 October 2016

Appendix C

Decant Policy

Contents

1. Purpose ...................................................................................................................................................3
2. Applicability..............................................................................................................................................3
3. Roles and Responsibilities ......................................................................................................................3
4. Decant Decisions.....................................................................................................................................3
5. Suitable Alternative Accommodation.......................................................................................................4
6. Right to Move Back .................................................................................................................................5
7. Notice to Move.........................................................................................................................................5
8. Tenancy Status on being rehoused.........................................................................................................5
9. Compensation .........................................................................................................................................5
10. Decant Procedure....................................................................................................................................8
11. Appeals ...................................................................................................................................................8
12. Equal Opportunities .................................................................................................................................9

Page 160



Adoption of the Decant Policy – Supporting Information

West Berkshire Council Executive 20 October 2016

1. Purpose

1.1 The purpose of this policy and procedure is to clarify what the Council will do when 
it is necessary for a tenant or licensee to move home due to major works or 
redevelopment of their current home. This process is known as ‘decant’.

1.2 The Executive have approved the Decant Policy & Procedure.

2. Applicability

2.1 This policy and procedure applies to Council tenants, including licensees on Gypsy 
& Traveller sites managed by the Council, who need to move home so that major 
works or redevelopment can take place to their current home.

2.2 For clarity, this policy and procedure does not apply to homeless applicants who 
have been accommodated under a duty arising from Part VII, Housing Act 1996 (as 
amended) or to any other form of Council licensee.

3. Roles and Responsibilities

3.1 The Head of Care Commissioning, Housing & Safeguarding has overall 
responsibility for ensuring that decant decisions are managed appropriately in 
accordance with these agreed standards.

3.2 The Service Manager (Housing Strategy & Operations) is responsible for:

 Directing and reviewing this standard.
 Ensuring that there is effective consultation and communication to Housing and 

Housing Benefit staff about matters in relation to decant criteria and decisions.
 Publishing & Promoting the adoption of this procedure to Housing Staff.
 Ensuring compliance with published standards, procedures, working practices 

and technology changes in relation to housing services relevant to this 
procedure.

3.3 The Service Manager (Housing Strategy & Operations) is responsible for the day-
to-day management of decant decisions, including ensuring implementation of this 
standard.

3.4 All Housing Service staff are responsible for familiarizing themselves with, and 
ensuring that they comply with this standard.

4. Decant Decisions

4.1 The decision to decant residents will be agreed by the Portfolio Holder via an 
Individual Decision. Once the decision has been taken, the residents will be 
decanted into suitable alternative accommodation. The decanting can take 2 forms:

Page 161



Adoption of the Decant Policy – Supporting Information

West Berkshire Council Executive 20 October 2016

A – Permanent Decant – where the resident/s is/are moved out permanently 
into suitable accommodation. This is usually the case were the property/block 
is to be demolished or redeveloped.

B – Temporary decant – where resident/s is/are moved out for a period of time, 
enabling their home to be improved or refurbished and then move back to their 
original home.

5. Suitable Alternative Accommodation

5.1 When residents are moving permanently, those under-occupying their current 
homes will be offered alternative suitable accommodation more appropriate to their 
needs. For example, a couple occupying a three-bedroom home will be offered a 
one-bedroom home. 

5.2 Households with adult children living with them may be offered separate 
accommodation for the tenant/licensee and the adult child, in line with the Housing 
Allocations Policy.

5.3 In making an offer of suitable alternative accommodation, the Council will have 
regard to the resident’s stated preferences but an offer will be deemed as suitable if 
it is reasonably suitable to the needs of the resident and his/her family as regards to 
proximity to work, schools, rental and size of accommodation.

5.4 As the Council does not hold stock of its own, it will work with other providers to 
make an offer of accommodation suitable to the needs of the household. The 
resident may be decanted to a social rent, affordable rent or privately rented 
property (in the case of temporary decants only). Where a temporary decant is 
made to private rented accommodation, the Council will have regard to the 
affordability of the offer but may also seek to offer a top-up payment, either via 
Discretionary Housing Payment or via another means.

5.5 It is the policy of the Council to make ONE offer of suitable alternative 
accommodation only. The Council may, at its discretion, extend the number of 
offers it makes, although this will only be in exceptional circumstances.

5.6 If a resident rejects an offer of suitable alternative accommodation, the Council may 
institute court proceedings to obtain possession of the property.

5.7 Where the duration of the refurbishment or major repairs is of short duration (up to 
28 days), the use of hotel accommodation may be an acceptable alternative to 
securing an alternative property. Compensation payments will not be offered as the 
Council will pick up any costs involved (hotel, storage costs etc but excluding food 
costs). 

5.8 Non-authorised occupants, including sub-tenants, lodgers and licensees (excluding 
lawful licensees of Council-managed Gypsy & Traveller sites) have no right to re-
housing under this policy. They should approach the Council’s Housing Options 
team for advice.

Page 162



Adoption of the Decant Policy – Supporting Information

West Berkshire Council Executive 20 October 2016

6. Right to Move Back

6.1 Where the Council intends to redevelop or refurbish properties themselves or 
undertake major repairs, and to retain ongoing management, the resident will be 
offered the right to move back to the block/estate/site and will be given priority for 
allocations before any other housing applicants are considered.

6.2 Residents do not have the right to move back to the exact home/plot from which 
they were decanted. 

6.3 Where the Council intends to demolish then sell, or to simply sell, the site for 
redevelopment, it is not able to offer the right to move back. This will result in a 
permanent decant.

7. Notice to Move

7.1 The Council will seek to give six months notice to move prior to the anticipated 
commencement of work/demolition. It is expected that residents will be aware of 
proposals prior to the six month notice period and will have had a number of 
opportunities to provide their comments and input.

7.2 The decanting process will begin as soon as possible after residents have been 
notified formally of the Council’s intention to decant. The aim is to achieve vacant 
possession of the premises within the six months notice period and to enable 
redevelopment/refurbishment to commence as soon as possible.

7.3 A notice, in the relevant or prescribed format, will be served upon residents as a 
matter of course and will serve as formal notification that the decanting process has 
commenced.

8. Tenancy Status on being rehoused

8.1 When residents move permanently to alternative suitable accommodation they will 
take on new tenancies dependent, upon the tenancy type offered (secure, assured 
or fixed), at the rent level for that property. This rent may be higher than their 
existing rent.

8.2 When residents move temporarily and are returning to their original homes after 
works, they retain their tenancies/licenses and continue to pay the same rent, 
unless the rent on the temporary accommodation is lower, in which case the lower 
figure is charged.

9. Compensation

9.1 Home Loss Payment – this is a statutory fixed payment, under Sections 29-33 of 
the Land Compensation Act 1973,  paid in recognition of personal upset and 
distress caused by displacement. It will only be paid for permanent moves, where 
the following criteria are met:

 The resident has occupied the property as their sole or main residence for a 
period of one year prior to the date of displacement

 The move is permanent.

Page 163



Adoption of the Decant Policy – Supporting Information

West Berkshire Council Executive 20 October 2016

9.2 Qualifying residents are entitled to a lump sum payment of £5,300 (subject to 
review) per household as a home loss payment. Claims will be processed as soon 
as the resident takes up occupation of their new home. Given the thresholds are 
subject to change annually by the Secretary of State, the levels of payment will be 
reviewed each time this policy is used.

9.3 In exceptional circumstances the Council may be able to make a partial advance 
payment.

9.4 Any rent arrears will be deducted from the home loss payment.

9.5 Disturbance Payment – this is intended to compensate residents, under the 
Land Compensation Act 1973, for their actual expenses with moving, up to a 
maximum payment of £2000. It is applicable to both permanent and 
temporary decants.

9.6 The payment will be made after production of receipts and paid to the tenant. 
 Where appropriate, consideration will be given for payments to be made 
 directly to a company (e.g. for removal expenses). In such cases, two  
 estimates will be required and the company will be paid following receipt of 
 an invoice. The list of items that is considered reasonable under the Land 
 Compensation Act 1973 is shown below:

 Removal costs from the current home to the new home. For vulnerable 
residents this may include additional support, such as furniture packing and 
unpacking.

 Redirection of mail for each authorised surname living at the address

 Telephone and internet disconnection and reconnection

 Disconnection of television aerials and satellite dishes connected to either an 
existing television or that allows the proper operation of television equipment. 
Reconnection only applies with the express approval of the landlord at the 
new address. 

 Washing machine, cooker, dishwasher and plumbed fridge disconnection 
and reconnections to be carried out by a suitably qualified tradesman

 Curtain and carpet options: It is generally expected that relocating residents 
will refit existing carpets where possible and the costs of this will be covered 
by the Disturbance Payment. However, where this is not possible, the costs 
of new carpets to an equivalent standard will be covered through the 
Disturbance Payment. The existing carpet will be assessed and a quote 
obtained on this. Any additional rooms in the new home will be carpeted but 
the cost will be deducted through the Home Loss Payment if applicable.

 Special locks and alarm refitting if these are currently fitted at the old 
property. They must be dismantled and refitted by a qualified locksmith or 

Page 164



Adoption of the Decant Policy – Supporting Information

West Berkshire Council Executive 20 October 2016

recognised Alarm Company and all locks and alarms must meet the relevant 
British standard for security. Front door and window grilles would not be 
covered.

 Home improvements that have been notified and approved by the Council, 
less the cost of depreciation.

 Dismantling and re-fitting of fitted resident-owned furniture (such as kitchen 
units and wardrobes)

 Any extra cost of new school uniform if moved to a different area, which 
necessitates a change of school (supported by letters from the respective 
schools)

 Where the costs of adaptations in the home were previously met by the 
tenant, the Council will reimburse the tenant subject to relevant receipts 
being available

 Reimbursements for wage or salary loss on the day of removal, provided loss 
of earnings is certified by the employer, for up to 2 members of the 
household

 Other reasonable costs incurred by the tenant if approved in writing by the 
Council prior to the costs being incurred, for example, travel to viewings, 
replacement of sheds and outside furniture that cannot be dismantled.

9.7 Discretionary Payments – the Housing Service may, at their discretion, offer to pay 
for storage for touring caravans for residents of Council-managed Gypsy & Traveller 
sites who are temporarily decanted: the resident will be responsible for ensuring 
they have appropriate insurance cover to limit any damage, theft or other losses 
arising from the storage and the payment will be made directly to the storage 
company. The Housing Service may also, at their discretion, pay for home-to-school 
transport in order to minimise disruption to the education of children who are 
temporarily decanted: the payment will be made direct to the travel provider. Such 
decisions will depend upon the length of the decant, availability of school places in 
schools close to the temporary address and any other key factors (for example, if a 
child is in GCSE year etc)

9.8 Tenants/Licensees facing permanent rehousing will be entitled to compensation 
comprising both a Home Loss Payment and a Disturbance Payment.

9.9 Tenants/Licensees facing temporary rehousing are entitled to compensation by way 
of a Disturbance Payment only and will not be entitled to Home Loss Payment. 
Payments relating to storage and home-to-school transport will be considered on a 
case-by-case basis.

9.10 All compensation payments will require a written claim form from residents (and in 
the case of Disturbance Payments, production of original and company signed 
receipts) and will be paid upon them moving into suitable alternative 
accommodation.

Page 165



Adoption of the Decant Policy – Supporting Information

West Berkshire Council Executive 20 October 2016

10 Decant Procedure

10.1 A decision on the redevelopment/refurbishment/major works proposal will be taken 
by Individual Decision or at Executive: this should include the implications off 
decant requirements.

10.2 Once a decision has been made, the Housing Management Officer (HMO) will visit 
each affected resident to explain the proposal and the decant policy. During the visit 
the appropriate notice will be served with a covering letter. A Decant Form 
(Appendix One) will be completed. The form provides residents with an opportunity 
to provide details on the size and type of suitable alternative accommodation they 
require and to raise any relevant medical or social factors as part of their stated 
preference. Where it is not possible to complete the form as part of the visit, it will 
be left with the resident to complete and return within 14 days. If the form is not 
returned, the Housing Service will make decisions on suitable alternative 
accommodation based on facts known about the household.

10.3 Upon return to the office, the Decant Form will be passed to the Housing Register 
Team who will set up a CHR application if one does not already exist. In addition, 
consideration will be given to social and welfare needs point and whether an 
application should be made for discretionary housing needs points. The CHR Team 
will start to find suitable alternative accommodation for the residents, placing bids 
on their behalf where required.

10.4 Upon an offer being made and accepted, the HMO will complete a Decant 
Agreement (Appendix Two) with the resident and assist them with the relevant 
arrangements to move at the earliest possible date.

10.5 Upon completion of the move, the HMO will assist the resident to complete the 
Home Loss and Disturbance Payment Record Sheet, along with any associated 
invoices or receipts. The HMO will pass the completed Record Sheet to the 
Housing Options Team Leader or Service Manager, Housing Strategy & Operations 
for approval. Once approved, the HMO will complete an AP Form to arrange 
payment to the resident.

10.4 The aim will be to decant all residents within 6 months of the decision date, or 
sooner if possible. The aim is to commence works as soon as is possible.

10.5 If a tenant refuses to move or refuses an offer of suitable alternative 
accommodation, the HMO will institute court proceedings to gain possession. This 
should start as soon as the refusal is instigated to reduce delay and disruption to 
the proposed works.

11 Appeals

11.1 There is no requirement for the Council to have an appeals process, however, the 
 Council has decided that an appeal process should be put in place in the event that 
 a resident is dissatisfied with the outcome of a decision made under the decant 
 policy. This will ensure that residents have the opportunity to present any additional   
 information that they think we have overlooked in the original decision.

Page 166



Adoption of the Decant Policy – Supporting Information

West Berkshire Council Executive 20 October 2016

11.2 Applicants will be notified of their right to request a review of these decisions. 
 Anyone wishing to do so must advise the Authority in writing within 21 days of the 
 decision date, giving their reasons for doing so.

11.3 As evidence is taken in written form it is very important that, when making the 
 request for a review, the applicant, or someone acting on their behalf:

 Brings to the Council’s attention any new information, not already on file, that 
they wish to have considered

 Addresses the reasons for the decision in their case set out in the decision 
letter

 Explains why they think the decision is wrong.

11.4 If no written representations are received the matter will be decided on the facts 
 already known.

11.5 A Manager who has not been involved in the original decision, will carry out the 
review and respond to the applicant. 

11.6 The Council will determine the review within eight weeks (56 days). If there is a 
delay with the review decision the applicant will be advised in writing of the reason 
for the delay and a revised timescale. 

11.7 A copy of the Manager’s decision, and the reasons for it, will be sent to the 
applicant as soon as possible after the decision is made.  

11.7 If the applicant disagrees with the review decision, they can seek judicial review.

12 Equal Opportunities 

12.1 An Equalities Impact Assessment, specific to the area of regeneration, will need to 
be completed when using the Decant Policy. 

Page 167



Adoption of the Decant Policy – Supporting Information

West Berkshire Council Executive 20 October 2016

Appendix One 

Decant Form

Please fill in this form carefully and clearly. When completed, please return it to the 
Housing Management officer in the pre-paid envelope provided. You can also contact the 
Housing Management Officer if you need help to complete the form. 

YOU AND YOUR HOUSEHOLD

Your Title: Mr Mrs Miss Ms 

Other (please specify):

Surname: __________________________ First Name(s): ______________________

Date of Birth: _______________________ Age: ________

Employment Status: __________________ National Insurance Number: ___________

Current Address: __________________________________________________________

__________________________________ Postcode: _________________________

Telephone: Home: ___________________ Mobile: ____________________________

Other: _____________________________

WHO WILL LIVE WITH YOU?
Please list everyone who will live with you, even if they are not living with you now:

Surname First Name Date of 
Birth

Age Sex Relationship to 
You

Occupation

M/F

M/F

M/F

M/F

M/F

M/F

M/F

M/F

M/F

Page 168



Adoption of the Decant Policy – Supporting Information

West Berkshire Council Executive 20 October 2016

MEDICAL OR PHYSICAL NEEDS
Do you, or any members of your household, have a medical or physical problem? Please 
answer all of the questions below:

Does anyone in your household have a disability? Yes / No

Is anyone in your household registered disabled? Yes / No

Does anyone in your household have any physical Yes / No
difficulties relevant to your housing situation?

Does anyone in your household need ground floor or Yes / No
another specific kind of accommodation?

Is there anyone in your home who requires wheelchair Yes / No
adapted accommodation?

If you answered yes to any of these questions, please give details below:

PETS
Dos any member of your household have any pets? Yes / No

If yes, please give details below:

Please note that you may not be able to take your pets with you into your temporary 
accommodation,. The Council can arrange kennelling etc if necessary.

YOUR CURRENT HOME:

How long have you lived at your current address? Years: ____ Months: ____

What floor is it on? Ground / 1 / 2 / 3 / 4

Number of bedrooms: Bedsit / 1 / 2 / 3 / 4 / 5

Is it a caravan? Yes / No If yes, is it rented? Yes / No

If rented, please provide details of the landlord: __________________________________

Page 169



Adoption of the Decant Policy – Supporting Information

West Berkshire Council Executive 20 October 2016

WHERE WOULD YOU LIKE TO LIVE?
Please answer all of the questions below:

How many bedrooms do you need? Bedsit / 1 / 2 / 3 / 4 / 5

Would you like to live in older persons accommodation? Yes / No

Do you need wheelchair adapted accommodation? Yes / No

Can you cope with a long flight of stairs? Yes / No

If you have children, where do they go to school?
____________________________________________________________________

____________________________________________________________________

____________________________________________________________________

Do you have any other essential requirements?

Is there anywhere in the West Berkshire district that you do not wish to live?
______________________________________________________________________

______________________________________________________________________

______________________________________________________________________

ADDITIONAL INFORMATION
Is there any other information you would like to add? For example, do you want to move to 
a specific area because you have family living there or you work in that area? 

Name: ____________________ Signature: _______________________ Date: ________

Page 170



Adoption of the Decant Policy – Supporting Information

West Berkshire Council Executive 20 October 2016

EQUAL OPPORTUNITIES
We monitor the ethnic origin, age, sex and disability of housing applicants to ensure that 
we deal fairly with all applicants, regardless of background. The information you provide 
will be in confidence and will give no advantage or disadvantage. You may refuse to 
answer if you wish.

I do not wish to answer

White:
British Irish Other

Mixed:
White and Black Caribbean White and Black African 
White and Asian  Other mixed

Asian or Asian British:
Indian Pakistani Bangladeshi Other 

Black or Black British:
Caribbean African Other 

Chinese or Other Ethnic Group:
Chinese Other 

Gypsy/Traveller (please tick all that apply):
Romany  Welsh English   Irish 
Scottish    Gypsy Traveller New Age 

Religion:

I do not wish to answer None

Buddhist Christian Hindu Muslim 
Jewish    Sikh     Other 

Sexual Orientation:

I do not wish to answer

Heterosexual Bisexual Homosexual 

Page 171



Adoption of the Decant Policy – Supporting Information

West Berkshire Council Executive 20 October 2016

DECLARATION

Even if someone else has completed this form on your behalf, you should sign the 
declaration if you can. 

Please read the declaration carefully before you sign and date it.

I hereby declare the information given on this form is correct and complete to the best of 
my knowledge.

I understand that under Section 214 of the Housing Act 1996 it is an offence to knowingly 
or recklessly make a statement which is false and/or withhold information in order to obtain 
assistance with housing.

It is also an offence if you do not notify the Council of any material changes in your 
circumstances as soon as possible.

I am aware that if I give information that is incorrect or incomplete the Council may take 
action against me. This may include court action and anyone guilty of such an offence is 
liable, upon conviction, to a fine of up to £5,000.

Signed: _____________________________________ Date: _____________

Signed: _____________________________________ Date: _____________

Page 172



Adoption of the Decant Policy – Supporting Information

West Berkshire Council Executive 20 October 2016

Appendix Two  

Temporary Decant Agreement

Tenant / Licensee Name: ___________________________________________________ 

Temporary Address: _______________________________________________________

This agreement is to confirm the offer of temporary accommodation whilst West Berkshire 
Council carry out works on your home at:

Permanent Address________________________________________________________

Your tenancy/license will remain at your Permanent Address and your liability for rent and 
service charge will remain unchanged at £……..per week. Housing Benefit entitlement will 
continue at the permanent address. 

You must return to your Permanent address when you are notified that the work has been 
completed to the satisfaction of the West Berkshire Council
. 
West Berkshire Council will have the right to take legal action to enforce this agreement under 
Ground 8 of Schedule 2 of the 1985 Housing Act: 

Ground 8 
“The Dwelling-house was made available for occupation by the tenant (or a predecessor in title of his) 
while works were carried out on the dwelling-house which he occupied as his only or principle home 
and – 
a) The tenant (or predecessor) was a secure tenant of the other dwelling-house at the time when he 
ceased to occupy it as his home, 
b) The tenant (or predecessor) accepted the tenancy of the dwelling-house of which possession is 
sought on the understanding that he would give up occupation when, on completion of the work, the 
other dwelling-house was again available for occupation by him under a secure tenancy and 
c) The works have been completed and the other dwelling-house is so available 

-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 

I acknowledge that this is an offer of temporary accommodation and confirm that I will move 
back to my permanent address at 
___________________________________________________________________________

when works have been completed. 

Agreement has been reached with the Housing Management Officer in respect of financial and 
physical assistance to enable the decant to proceed.
 
Signed:………………………………………………Dated:………………………… 

Tenant/Licensee Name:………………………………………………………………………… 

Signed:………………………………………………Dated:………………………… 

WBC Housing Management Officer……………………………………………………………..

Page 173



Adoption of the Decant Policy – Supporting Information

West Berkshire Council Executive 20 October 2016

Appendix Three 

Home Loss and Disturbance Payment Record Sheet

Tenant/Licensee Name: _____________________________________________________

Address (Current): _________________________________________________________

Address (Former): __________________________________________________________

Tenancy/Licensee Date: _____________________________________________________

DISTURBANCE PAYMENT

Item Amount 
Claimed £

Receipts 
Attached

Approved If not 
approved, 
reason why?

Electricity reconnection Yes / No
Telephone reconnection Yes / No
Gas reconnection Yes / No
Cooker reconnection Yes / No
Washing machine reconnection Yes / No
Dishwasher reconnection Yes / No
Removals Yes / No
TV Aerial Transfer Yes / No
Relaying/replacement 
carpets/curtains

Yes / No

Redirection of mail Yes / No
Other (please specify) Yes / No

Other (please specify) Yes / No

Other (please specify) Yes / No

Total Claimed

Total Eligible

Home Loss Payment

Total Payable Date Paid:

Tenant/Licensee Signature: _____________________________ Date: ____________

Housing Management Signature: _________________________ Date: ____________

Manager Signature: ___________________________________ Date: ____________

Page 174



West Berkshire Council Executive 20 October 2016

Joint Case Management Unit
Committee considering 
report: Executive

Date of Committee: 20 October 2016
Portfolio Member: Councillor Marcus Franks
Date Portfolio Member 
agreed report: 10 October 2016

Report Author: Sean Murphy
Forward Plan Ref: EX3184

1. Purpose of the Report

1.1 The purpose of this report is to set out the rationale for a joint case management 
unit with Oxfordshire County Council and Royal Berkshire Fire and Rescue 
Authority and to seek the relevant delegated authority to enter into this 
arrangement.    

2. Recommendations

2.1 That the Head of Culture and Environmental Protection in consultation with portfolio 
Member for Community Resilience and Partnerships, the Head of Legal Services 
and Head of Finance be granted delegated authority to enter into an agreement with 
Oxfordshire County Council (OCC) and Royal Berkshire Fire and Rescue Authority 
(RBFRA) for the delivery of a joint case management unit; and that

2.2 The term of that agreement shall be three years with an option to extend by one 
year: and that

2.3 A Joint Management Board will oversee the arrangement and that the Head of 
Culture and Environmental Protection or nominated service manager will represent 
the Council on that Board; and that   

2.4 That West Berkshire District Council will host the unit.

3. Implications

3.1 Financial:  

.    

An analysis of the workload has been carried out. This has 
given a workload split and the cost of the unit will be shared 
between the parties based on workload split. In the existing 
arrangement there are 1.4 FTE employed on case 
management. This includes 0.81 Case Manager and 0.6 
Administrator. In addition approximately £12K per annum is 
spent on specialist agency staff to handle disclosure. The 
proposals in the paper will include require the employment 
of an additional case manager and the designation of one 
case manager as unit leader. In addition it is proposed that 
an additional 1FTE specialist officer will also be appointed 
to support the disclosure and case management functions. 
The total cost of this additional resource will be £90.4K 

Page 175

Agenda Item 9.



Joint Case Management Unit

West Berkshire Council Executive 20 October 2016

(including a management recharge of approximately £8.1k 
and ongoing travel and smartphone charges of 4K) this will 
be split between the parties to this agreement based on 
workload and individual requirement. It is anticipated a 
proportion will be recovered through court costs.
Finally a start up budget of £2.5K has also been identified 
for new staff based on the ICT equipment including Citrix, 
Laptop and Smartphone.

3.2 Policy:    
  

The Council has key policy strands identified in relation 
protecting those who need protection and a strong effective 
Council. Protective services such as Fire Safety, Trading 
Standards and Environmental Health are key contributors to 
protecting the wider community and specifically the most 
vulnerable. This proposal addresses the key policy position 
on efficiency by building increased resilience, reducing risk 
and building expertise.

3.3 Personnel: Consideration is being made of any implications for partner 
organisations. Should any TUPE implications arise these 
will be dealt with through the negotiation of the agreement. 
This proposal if accepted will initially require the 
appointment of a further full time case officer and 1FTE 
specialist role to deal with matters such as disclosure. One 
officer will be designated as the unit lead and will have day 
to day responsibility for overseeing the effective delivery of 
the service by the unit.

3.4 Legal: Advice has been sought on the legal aspects of any 
proposed agreement and related matters. There has been a 
meeting involving Legal Services with the procurement 
officer from RBFRA to discuss the basis of any agreement 
should authority be granted. 

Section 113 of the Local Government Act 1972 and Article 
10 of The Berkshire Fire Service (Combination Scheme) 
Order 1997 provide a mechanism for the sharing of staff 
between the three potential parties to this agreement. 

The governance arrangement will be a Joint Management 
Board with the remit of agreeing strategy and financial and 
operation performance. It will have the remit of looking at 
opportunities for further collaborative working. The 
agreement will not involve the delegation to institute 
proceedings on behalf of the other parties. This decision will 
reside with the parties within the terms of their constitutions.  

If any work arises which would be considered to be 
regulated activity by the Solicitors Regulation Authority, 
such work would be undertaken under the control of the 
Head of Legal Services.  Appropriate steps will be taken to 
ensure that any Solicitors performing a regulated activity do 
so in accordance with the regulatory framework.

Page 176



Joint Case Management Unit

West Berkshire Council Executive 20 October 2016

3.5 Risk Management:    The risks associated with not adopting these proposals are 
failure at a critical control point. Other risks around liability 
will be dealt with in the formulation of the legal agreement 
and the relevant indemnifications put in place. Discussions 
with the Insurance Manager have confirmed that should this 
be agreed the relevant notifications will need to be made.

3.6 Property: 
  

There are no property implications.  Where officers are 
working on matters for partner authorities they will provide 
suitable accommodation including access to equipment, 
systems etc. as required to do perform the role.

Page 177



Joint Case Management Unit

West Berkshire Council Executive 20 October 2016

4. Executive Summary

4.1 Case management is a critical element of the investigation and litigation process. 
Robust systems to ensure probity in the investigation process are not only desirable 
but are required by the legal framework governing investigations. It is a broad term 
that encompasses a wide range of functions including:  file reviews, advice for 
investigating officers, review of applications for warrants, surveillance and expert 
witnesses, liaising with witnesses, courts and defence teams and keeping under 
review legislative changes to ensure case and investigative process is fully 
compliant. It also encompasses very specialist areas of the investigative process 
including the obligations relating to ‘disclosure’.

4.2 The framework around investigations and investigative process is complex and 
constantly evolving as a result of legislative changes and case law. Keeping up to 
date is time consuming but is an integral part of the case management function. 
Large enforcement organisations such as the Police and HMRC have units 
dedicated to this role. These are distinct from the role of the Crown Prosecution 
Service whose equivalent in West Berkshire is Legal Services. This is clearly not 
practical for local authorities or the Fire and Rescue Service therefore traditionally 
we have tended to rely on individuals to provide this function. Often described as a 
single point of success it is also potentially a single point of failure.

4.3 There is then the issue of developing and implementing robust systems to ensure 
that investigations are conducted in an appropriate manner and the due process is 
followed. This requires standardised processes and more importantly competent 
and informed investigators. For this reason areas such as training, case file 
standards and quality assurance will also be one of the benefits and efficiencies to 
be derived from this arrangement.  

4.4 The parties to this proposal share a common purpose in that they are services with 
enforcement roles that have community protection at the heart of delivery whether 
that be fire safety, food safety or rogue trading. For trading standards cross border-
working is desirable as it is not unusual for offending to transcend borders and we 
share a significant border with Oxfordshire. For RBFRA the enforcement work 
around business premises and houses of multiple occupation or licensing matters 
share many aspects with the environmental health service.    

4.5 A recent retirement at the Fire and Rescue Service combined with the increasing 
demands from the public protection shared service arrangement and a recognition 
of the benefits of setting up a larger more sustainable unit have led to discussions 
with potential partners. It is considered that a single unit to provide a range of case 
management functions is desirable. This would include ensuring investigative legal 
requirements are met, assessment of evidence and advising officers and managers, 
considering and advising on procedural applications and instructions, disclosure etc. 
along with associated matters such as overseeing competence and training 
frameworks, maintaining file standards and proceeds of crime procedural matters. 
The proposal allows for the building of expertise, resilience, an ability to deal with 
peaks and troughs and provides economies of scale through avoiding duplication.

4.6 Going forward the proposal also offers benefits in that it provides scope for the 
further development of joint working on specialist enforcement functions such as 
Road Traffic or matters associated with enforcement such as proceeds of crime 
investigations and support for vulnerable witnesses. For both Trading Standards 

Page 178



Joint Case Management Unit

West Berkshire Council Executive 20 October 2016

and Environmental Health there are distinct advantages of working much more 
closely in the sharing of intelligence and identification and protection of vulnerable 
residents. Common file standards and shared oversight will ultimately assist all the 
parties, improve knowledge and consistency.

4.7 At the time of writing RBFRS have indicated that subject to reaching agreement on 
the terms they wish to proceed as soon as possible as they have an immediate 
need for the reasons set out above. Oxfordshire County Council has indicated that 
they wish to explore the development of the joint case management unit to cover 
elements of both the trading standards and fire authority case management 
functions of the County Council.            

5. Appendices

5.1 Appendix A – Equalities Impact Assessment

Background Papers:
None.

Subject to Call-In:
Yes:  No:  

The item is due to be referred to Council for final approval
Delays in implementation could have serious financial implications for the Council
Delays in implementation could compromise the Council’s position
Considered or reviewed by Overview and Scrutiny Management Commission or 
associated Task Groups within preceding six months
Item is Urgent Key Decision
Report is to note only

Strategic Aims and Priorities Supported:
The proposals will help achieve the following Council Strategy aim:

MEC – Become an even more effective Council
The proposals contained in this report will help to achieve the following Council Strategy 
priority:

MEC1 – Become an even more effective Council

Officer details:
Name: Sean Murphy
Job Title: Trading Standards & BC Manager
Tel No: (01635) 519840
E-mail Address: sean.murphy@westberks.gov.uk

Page 179



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 180



Appendix A

Equality Impact Assessment - Stage One

We need to ensure that our strategies, polices, functions and services, current 
and proposed have given due regard to equality and diversity.  

Please complete the following questions to determine whether a Stage Two, 
Equality Impact Assessment is required.

Name of policy, strategy or function: Joint Case Management Unit 

Version and release date of item (if 
applicable):

Owner of item being assessed: Steve Broughton

Name of assessor: Sean Murphy

Date of assessment: 11th October 2016

Is this a: Is this:

Policy No New or proposed No

Strategy No Already exists and is being 
reviewed No

Function Yes Is changing Yes

Service Yes

1. What are the main aims, objectives and intended outcomes of the policy, 
strategy function or service and who is likely to benefit from it?

Aims: To develop a Joint Case Management Unit with 
Oxfordshire County Council and Royal Berkshire Fire 
and Rescue Service.  

Objectives: By developing the existing function to provide 
sustainability of the service and improve its 
effectiveness and derive efficiency by working with 
partner authorities

Outcomes: The setting up of a high quality and effective case 
management unit.

Benefits: A strong and effective high quality service.

Page 181



2. Note which groups may be affected by the policy, strategy, function or 
service.  Consider how they may be affected, whether it is positively or 
negatively and what sources of information have been used to determine 
this.
(Please demonstrate consideration of all strands – Age, Disability, Gender 
Reassignment, Marriage and Civil Partnership, Pregnancy and Maternity, Race, 
Religion or Belief, Sex and Sexual Orientation.)

Group 
Affected What might be the effect? Information to support this

Further Comments relating to the item:

None

3. Result 

Are there any aspects of the policy, strategy, function or service, 
including how it is delivered or accessed, that could contribute to 
inequality?

No

Will the policy, strategy, function or service have an adverse impact 
upon the lives of people, including employees and service users? No

If your answers to question 2 have identified potential adverse impacts and 
you have answered ‘yes’ to either of the sections at question 3, or you are 
unsure about the impact, then you should carry out a Stage 2 Equality Impact 
Assessment.

If a Stage Two Equality Impact Assessment is required, before proceeding you 
should discuss the scope of the Assessment with service managers in your 
area.  You will also need to refer to the Equality Impact Assessment guidance 
and Stage Two template.

4. Identify next steps as appropriate:

Stage Two required No

Owner of Stage Two assessment:

Timescale for Stage Two assessment:

Stage Two not required:

Page 182



West Berkshire Council Executive 20 October 2016

Berkshire Community Equipment Service Contract 
Award
Committee considering 
report: Executive

Date of Committee: 20 October 2016
Portfolio Member: Councillor Rick Jones
Date Portfolio Member 
agreed report: 29 September 2016

Report Author: Trish Guest
Forward Plan Ref: EX3162a

1. Purpose of the Report

1.1 To inform the Executive of the intention to award a 5 year contract for the provision 
of the Berkshire Community Equipment Service commencing April 2017, with West 
Berkshire Council acting as Lead Authority under an existing S75 (NHS Act 2006) 
agreement on behalf of the 6 Berkshire Unitary Authorities and the 7 Berkshire 
Clinical Commissioning Groups.

2. Recommendation

2.1 Executive note the intention to award a contract for the provision of the Berkshire 
Community Equipment Service to commence on 1st April 2017.

3. Implications

3.1 Financial: The funding for this contract is via a pooled fund 
arrangement with all of the 13 S75 partners.  
This contract is paid on actual usage, ie partners are only 
charged for the service they actually use and there is no 
block funding or retainer paid to the service provider.  The 
result is that the spend is completely in the control of each 
of the respective partners and how much of the service 
they use throughout the year.
Throughout the life of the existing 5 year contract no 
inflationary uplifts have been awarded to the provider in 
respect of service activity and it is likely this will have a 
small impact on the activity cost which will rise.  However it 
is expected that the cost of items of equipment will be more 
competitive reflecting volume purchasing and therefore the 
anticipated financial impact will be balanced.  

In addition drivers to increase recycling have been built into 
the new contract which will help to control overall spend.

Page 183

Agenda Item 10.



Berkshire Community Equipment Service Contract Award

West Berkshire Council Executive 20 October 2016

3.2 Policy: No policy changes are required as a result of this contract 
award.  The contract provides a low cost option helping to 
deliver the overarching strategy to support people to live 
independently in their own homes.

3.3 Personnel: There are no West Berkshire personnel issues arising from 
the award of this contract.  

3.4 Legal: The Contract has been competitively procured in 
accordance with the Open Procedure as defined within the 
Public Contracts Regulations (PCR) (2015).

3.5 Risk Management: As all the 6 Berkshire Unitaries and the 7 Clinical 
Commissioning Groups use this contract and provide 
equipment to circa 16,000 individuals each year failure to 
provide continuity would have a significant impact on the 
population of Berkshire, both for service users and their 
carers.  It would also impact on the statutory duties for both 
Health & Social Care to provide equipment for those with 
assessed needs.

The existing 5 year contract expires in March 2017 and 
preparation for the tender began in September 2015 with 
all the S75 partners.  The award of this contract is the 
outcome of that tender.  The intention is to ensure there is 
continuity of service.

3.6 Property: None

3.7 Other: The Berkshire Community Equipment Service is an 
established and successful partnership of the 6 Berkshire 
unitary authorities and the 7 Berkshire Clinical 
Commissioning Groups.  It has been running in its current 
format under the S75 agreement for 5 years and the award 
of this contract will take it into its next 5 years of 
partnership.

4. Other options considered

4.1 The previous 5 year contract expires on 31st March 2017 and procurement 
regulations and the value of the contract meant that a full competitive procurement 
process using the Open Procedure as defined within the Public Contracts 
Regulations (2015) was the most appropriate option for ensuring continuity of 
service.

4.2 Economies of scale, and government guidance in terms of providing an integrated 
community equipment service, mean that this service is most cost effectively 
delivered as a single shared service and therefore it is not feasible to bring it in-
house.  The service is shared between the 13 S75 partners in Berkshire and is 
centrally located at a depot in Theale, serving all areas of Berkshire.

Page 184



Berkshire Community Equipment Service Contract Award

West Berkshire Council Executive 20 October 2016

5. Executive Summary

5.1 The current contract for Berkshire Community Equipment Service expires on 31st 
March 2017 concluding a 5 year term.  

5.2 West Berkshire Council is the Lead Authority under the S75 Partnership Agreement 
between the 6 Berkshire Unitary Authorities and the 7 Berkshire Clinical 
Commissioning Groups.

5.3 West Berkshire Council receives a management fee from the other 12 S75 partners 
to carry out the Lead Authority function, which includes this tender.  

5.4 The S75 partners agreed that they wished to continue to commit to a new 5 year 
contract and that the service is vital to their infrastructure, strategic objectives and 
meeting their statutory duties.  

5.5 The contract covers the whole population of Berkshire and provides a wide range of 
community equipment for health and social care clients, preventing hospital 
admission, facilitating discharge and maintaining people in their own homes.

5.6 The S75 partners, both strategic and operational, have worked collaboratively to 
create the new service specification and this has included client consultation.

5.7 The contract operates in such a way that each partner organisation can order 
equipment to be installed by the service provider and is only charged for the 
elements of the service they use.  There is no provider retaining fee or block 
contract payment.  All costs are based on actuals.  This means that expenditure is 
completely in the control of each of the respective S75 partner organisations and 
how they wish to operate their budgets.

5.8 West Berkshire Council monitors the contract on behalf of the partners as well as 
budget forecasting and actual spend for each, reporting monthly.  

5.9 A full competitive procurement in accordance with the Open Procedure of PCR 
(2015) has been carried out which has involved all the partner organisations as 
evaluators and has followed a rigorous evaluation process of both price and 
quality/technical capability.

6. Conclusion

6.1 The Executive Board note the intention to award the contract for Berkshire 
Community Equipment Service to the winning bidder in the OJEU tender from 1st 
April 2017.

7. Appendices

7.1 Appendix A - Supporting Information

7.2 Appendix B – Equalities Impact Assessment

Page 185



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 186



West Berkshire Council Executive 20 October 2016

Appendix A

Berkshire Community Equipment Service Contract 
Award – Supporting Information

1. Introduction/Background

1.1 The current 5 year contract for Berkshire Community Equipment Service expires on 
31st March 2017.  

1.2 The contract is for the supply of community equipment to the population of 
Berkshire on behalf of the 6 Berkshire Unitary Authorities and the 7 Berkshire 
Clinical Commissioning Groups under a S75 (NHS Act 2006) partnership whereby 
West Berkshire Council is the Lead Authority on behalf of the partners.

1.3 The service provides a wide range of community equipment for health and social 
care clients, preventing hospital admission, facilitating discharge and maintaining 
people in their own homes.

1.4 The S75 partners, both strategic and operational, have worked collaboratively to 
create the new service specification and this has included client consultation.

1.5 The contract operates in such a way that each partner organisation can order 
equipment to be installed by the service provider and is only charged for this usage.  
There is no provider retaining fee or block contract payment.  All costs are based on 
actuals.  This means that expenditure is completely in the control of each respective 
partner to the S75 and how they wish to operate their budgets.

1.6 West Berkshire Council is the Lead Authority under the S75 agreement and 
receives a management fee from the other partners to carry out this role, which 
includes this tender as well as contract management, budget forecasting and 
monitoring of spend.  West Berkshire Council invoices each partner quarterly in 
advance for this charge and for the service usage.

1.7 The tender exercise itself has involved all the partner organisations as evaluators 
and it has followed a rigorous process evaluating both price and quality/technical 
capability.

2. Supporting Information

2.1 The Berkshire Community Equipment Service S75 Partnership represents a 
cohesive and strong example of joint working across health and social care 
organisations in Berkshire.  The partnership came together in its current format in 
2012 following Government guidance encouraging the creation of integrated 
community equipment services (ICES) in order to achieve economies of scale in 
terms of equipment provision.

Page 187



Berkshire Community Equipment Service Contract Award – Supporting Information

West Berkshire Council Executive 20 October 2016

2.2 The service provides not only the supply of equipment but also installation, 
collection, recycling, maintenance and servicing as well as support for prescribers in 
the form of training in equipment.

2.3 The service is for the whole population of Berkshire, both clients and carers, 
children and adults, and also works closely with hospitals in neighbouring counties 
where clients may be patients who are returning to their homes in Berkshire.  It also 
offers retail options and advice for clients who may wish to access equipment as 
self funders rather than through the statutory route.

2.4 The equipment itself is wide ranging including items such as simple aids to daily 
living, eg walking frames, raised toilet seats and grab rails, through to more complex 
items such as hoists, patient turners and dynamic mattresses.  It also offers a well 
established range of assistive technology and sensory needs devices.

2.5 Equipment is ordered by qualified prescribers (such as Occupational Therapists, 
Community Nurses etc) following an assessment of a client’s need.  The order is 
then fulfilled by the service provider who will contact the client to arrange delivery 
and installation at a convenient time.  Likewise a similar process is followed when 
the client no longer needs the equipment, it is collected and the recycling process 
begins.

2.6 The service provider holds a range of ‘core stock’ items which are those items the 
partners have agreed they want to be on the shelf as part of the equipment 
available to order.  All such equipment attracts recycling credits once it has been 
through the recycling process and is back on the shelf.  This has the effect of 
reducing spend dramatically as can be seen in the figures illustrated below, as well 
as being environmentally beneficial.

2.7 The information below illustrates the scale of the service.  The figures represent a 
single year of service delivery (2015/16) and demonstrate that the service offers a 
value for money option in terms of maintaining people in their own homes.

2.8 15,580 individual clients in Berkshire received equipment from BCES (more people 
than receive any other single provider service in Berkshire in health and social care 
and a 3% increase on the previous year)

2.9 94,285 items of equipment were delivered (an increase 7% (6000 items) from the 
previous year)

2.10 11,667 clients had equipment collected and as a result 69,966 items were recycled 
(an increase of 5% from the previous year)

2.11 Average number of items delivered per client – 6

2.12 1332 unique prescribers across all partner organisations ordered equipment 
throughout the year using the online ordering system

Page 188



Berkshire Community Equipment Service Contract Award – Supporting Information

West Berkshire Council Executive 20 October 2016

3. Options for Consideration

3.1 The current contract has been in place for 5 years and both the length of the 
contract and the value over the contract period means that a compliant procurement 
process using the Open Procedure as defined within the Public Contracts 
Regulations (2015) was the most appropriate procurement strategy to ensure 
service continuity and a new contract awarded for a further 5 years.

3.2 Economies of scale, and government guidance in terms of providing an integrated 
community equipment service, mean that this service is most cost effectively 
delivered as a single shared service and therefore it is not feasible to bring it in-
house.  The service is shared between the 13 S75 partners in Berkshire and is 
centrally located at a depot in Theale covering the whole county.

4. Proposals

The Executive Board notes the intention to award the contract for Berkshire 
Community Equipment Service to the winning bidder as identified through the 
tender evaluation process to commence on 1st April 2017.

5. Consultation and Engagement

 Strategic and Operational Representatives from the 6 Berkshire Unitary Authorities 
and the 7 Clinical Commissioning Groups

 Berkshire Community Equipment Service Users
 Shiraz Sheikh – WBC Solicitor
 Mike Sullivan – WBC Procurement
 Cynthia Salami – WBC Solicitor
 Karen Felgate – Service Manager, Contracts, Commissioning & Systems

Subject to Call-In:
Yes:  No:  

The item is due to be referred to Council for final approval
Delays in implementation could have serious financial implications for the Council
Delays in implementation could compromise the Council’s position
Considered or reviewed by Overview and Scrutiny Management Commission or 
associated Task Groups within preceding six months
Item is Urgent Key Decision
Report is to note only
Strategic Aims and PrioritiesSupported:
The proposals will help achieve the following Council Strategy aims:

P&S – Protect and support those who need it
MEC – Become an even more effective Council

The proposals contained in this report will help to achieve the following Council Strategy 
priorities:

P&S1 – Good at safeguarding children and vulnerable adults

Page 189



Berkshire Community Equipment Service Contract Award – Supporting Information

West Berkshire Council Executive 20 October 2016

HQL1 – Support communities to do more to help themselves
MEC1 – Become an even more effective Council

Officer details:
Name: Trish Guest
Job Title: Commissioner (BCES)
Tel No: 01635 503141
E-mail Address: trish.guest@westberks.gov.uk

Page 190



Berkshire Community Equipment Service Contract Award – Supporting Information

West Berkshire Council Executive 20 October 2016

Appendix B
Equality Impact Assessment – Stage One

We need to ensure that our strategies, polices, functions and services, current and 
proposed have given due regard to equality and diversity.  

Please complete the following questions to determine whether a Stage 2, Equality 
Impact Assessment is required.

Name of policy, strategy or function: Award of contract for Berkshire Community 
Equipment Service

Version and release date of item (if 
applicable): Contract to commence 1/4/17

Owner of item being assessed: Trish Guest, Commissioner (BCES)

Name of assessor: Trish Guest, Commissioner (BCES)

Date of assessment: 27/06/16

Is this a: Is this:

Policy No New or proposed No

Strategy No Already exists and is being 
reviewed Yes

Function No Is changing No

Service Yes

1. What are the main aims, objectives and intended outcomes of the policy, 
strategy function or service and who is likely to benefit from it?

Aims: To deliver a community equipment service to the 
population of Berkshire on behalf of the 6 Berkshire 
Unitary Authorities and the 7 Berkshire Clinical 
Commissioning Groups.  
The service covers anyone who lives in Berkshire who 
has been identified either by a health or social care 
professional as having a need for some type of 
community equipment.  There is no barrier to who 
receives the equipment and there is no charge for it to 
the client – the only stipulation is that they live in 
Berkshire and have an assessed need.

Objectives: To provide a comprehensive equipment service for the 
delivery, installation, maintenance and recycling of 
community equipment to people who have an assessed 
need.  The service stretches across both social care 
and health clients and the whole county of Berkshire.  
Equipment will be prescribed by a health or social care 

Page 191



Berkshire Community Equipment Service Contract Award – Supporting Information

West Berkshire Council Executive 20 October 2016

prescriber specifically to meet the need of that client.  
The service provider will then deliver and install the 
equipment and demonstrate it to the client, this may be 
done in conjunction with the health or social care 
professional if required for more complex items.
The service will also provide an option for self funders 
who wish to purchase equipment themselves or 
arrange for a private assessment, thereby not requiring 
the local authority or health to be involved.
The equipment provided covers a wide range of needs 
from simple daily living aids such as commodes, 
walking frames etc to more complex items such as 
hoists, pressure care mattresses, risers, recliner chairs, 
as well as assistive technology devices.

Outcomes: Timely delivery and installation of equipment to clients 
as prescribed by health and social care professionals 
and collection when no longer needed.
Clients are enabled to remain in their own homes with 
the aid of the provided equipment, perhaps alongside 
other services they may be receiving or simply with the 
use of the equipment itself.
To enable the population of Berkshire to purchase 
equipment directly if they wish and receive appropriate 
advice about the best equipment for their needs.

Benefits: Enables people to remain living independently in their 
own homes and to manage their own conditions in 
some cases.  It also compliments the delivery of other 
services and may reduce the need for some.
It is a relatively low cost service, but equipment can 
provide a significantly beneficial impact on people’s 
lives.
Broad range of equipment available to meet different 
needs.  The core list of equipment is reviewed 
continually to ensure it is fit for purpose and remains 
dynamic and responsive.

2. Note which groups may be affected by the policy, strategy, function or 
service.  Consider how they may be affected, whether it is positively or 
negatively and what sources of information have been used to determine 
this.

(Please demonstrate consideration of all strands – Age, Disability, Gender 
Reassignment, Marriage and Civil Partnership, Pregnancy and Maternity, Race, 
Religion or Belief, Sex and Sexual Orientation.)

Group 
Affected What might be the effect? Information to support this

Anyone who 
lives in 

Benefits from the provision of 
the equipment into their homes 

This is a retendering of an 
existing 5 year contract which 

Page 192



Berkshire Community Equipment Service Contract Award – Supporting Information

West Berkshire Council Executive 20 October 2016

Berkshire who 
has an 
assessed 
health or social 
care need for 
equipment (or 
their carers) or 
who wishes to 
purchase it 
directly if they 
choose.  This 
includes both 
adults and 
children and 
there are no 
age 
restrictions.
This also 
extends to self 
funders who 
wish to receive 
a service 
directly without 
the need for 
social care or 
health 
intervention.

on a loan basis to enable them 
to maintain independence 
through the use of daily living 
aids, assistive technology and 
complex equipment.

The equipment can also be 
provided in other locations 
outside the home for example in 
a school or work setting where it 
can be used to support them or 
their carers.

It also supports carers who can 
benefit indirectly from the 
provision of the equipment, for 
example assistive technology 
which can alert carers to 
respond when needed, thus 
providing peace of mind

is well established and which 
reaches a wide section of the 
Berkshire population.  

There are no barriers to who 
receives it, the only criteria is 
that they have a social care or 
health assessed need.  In the 
last financial year over 15,000 
unique individuals have 
received equipment in 
Berkshire – approximately 
90,000 different items of 
equipment were issued

The service provider is required 
to ensure it meets the Council’s 
Equalities Standards as a 
minimum.  This is a stipulation 
of the contract and it is 
monitored monthly by the 
Council’s officers as well as at 
quarterly contract review 
meetings.
The demographic information 
about who is receiving the 
service is shared monthly with 
all partners who have been 
prescribing equipment so they 
can themselves then also 
monitor who they have been 
prescribing for.

BCES is overseen by a 
Steering Group made up of all 
the partner organisations and 
the Steering Group oversee 
and drive the strategic direction 
of the service – this also 
ensures that the service is 
adhering to the principles.  

Further Comments relating to the item:

Page 193



Berkshire Community Equipment Service Contract Award – Supporting Information

West Berkshire Council Executive 20 October 2016

3. Result 

Are there any aspects of the policy, strategy, function or service, 
including how it is delivered or accessed, that could contribute to 
inequality?

No

The service is open to anyone with an assessed need and therefore there are no 
barriers to who can receive equipment.  The only stipulation is that they are a 
Berkshire resident with an assessed need or a self funding Berkshire resident.

Will the policy, strategy, function or service have an adverse impact 
upon the lives of people, including employees and service users? No

The service is aimed at improving and supporting people with an assessed need and 
therefore has no adverse impact.  Assessments are carried out by social care and 
health professionals to ensure the equipment provided is appropriate to meet those 
needs.

If your answers to question 2 have identified potential adverse impacts and you 
have answered ‘yes’ to either of the sections at question 3, or you are unsure about 
the impact, then you should carry out a Stage 2 Equality Impact Assessment.

If a Stage Two Equality Impact Assessment is required, before proceeding you 
should discuss the scope of the Assessment with service managers in your area.  
You will also need to refer to the Equality Impact Assessment guidance and Stage 
Two template.

4. Identify next steps as appropriate:

Stage Two required No

Owner of Stage Two assessment:

Timescale for Stage Two assessment:

Stage Two not required:

Name: Date:

Please now forward this completed form to Rachel Craggs, the Principal Policy 
Officer (Equality and Diversity) for publication on the WBC website.

Page 194



West Berkshire Council Executive 20 October 2016

Contract Award – Complex Needs Service for 
Clients with a Learning Disability

Committee considering 
report: Executive

Date of Committee: 20 October 2016
Portfolio Member: Councillor Rick Jones
Date Portfolio Member 
agreed report: 29 September 2016

Report Author: Karen Felgate
Forward Plan Ref: EX3175a

1. Purpose of the Report

1.1 To inform Executive of the intention to award a contract for the complex needs 
learning disability service at Blagden Close Newbury.

1.2 Contract award has been approved at Procurement Programme Board.

2. Recommendation

2.1 That Executive notes the intention to award the contract for the complex needs 
learning disability service at Blagden Close Newbury

3. Implications

3.1 Financial: A 2.5% saving has been achieved on the previous contract

3.2 Policy: N/A

3.3 Personnel: N/A

3.4 Legal: Award will be in line with contract rules of procurement

3.5 Risk Management: This service is highly specialised and caters for a cohort of 
clients with complex needs. Without this service there will 
be no provision for this client group

3.6 Property: N/A

3.7 Other: N/A

4. Other options considered

4.1 Do nothing – this is not an option due to complex nature of client group and 
increased pressure to ensure that services in the community are available for this 
complex needs group in light of the  Transforming Care agenda

4.2 Bring service in house. However the Council does not currently have the skill set to 
deliver a complex needs service for clients with a learning disability

Page 195

Agenda Item 11.



Contract Award – Complex Needs Service for Clients with a Learning Disability

West Berkshire Council Executive 20 October 2016

5. Executive Summary

5.1 Introduction

(1) The current contract supports clients deemed to have the most 
complex Learning Disability needs of all comparable schemes 
operating in the District.

(2) This service is integral to the Transforming Lives agenda which is a 
government initiative to ensure that people with a complex learning 
disability can live fulfilling lives in the community.

(3) WBC purchases five beds (maximum occupancy) who all have assured 
tenancy agreements with the Registered Social Landlord (Sovereign 
Housing.)

(4) The existing contract is nearing expiry (December 2016) and cannot be 
extended further. A replacement service is required.

(5) Following a previous competitive process a three year fixed price 
contract was let in December 2011 and subsequently extended by a 
further two years under the agreed terms.

(6) The existing contract with Choice Care Group expires on 4th December 
2016. Choice Care group currently have an outstanding rating with 
Care Quality Commission (CQC)

(7) Contracts & Commissioning have completed a consultation exercise 
with clients and clients’ families in order to inform the updated 
specification.

5.2 Nature of Services

(1) The service provides 24/7 domiciliary care and support including two 
waking night staff for adults who have autism/complex needs and 
present challenging behaviours.

(2) Bidders will be invited to supply a price per hour fixed for the duration 
of the contract.

(3) The number of required hours per week will be reviewed annually by 
Care Managers during the lifetime of the contract. The contract is 
flexible which means we only pay for the hours of care delivered.

5.3 Performance monitoring and outcomes 

(1) The new service will be an outcome based contract and monitored by 
the Contracts and Commissioning Team according to agreed West 
Berkshire Council terms. A copy of the outcomes is attached with the 
supporting information

(2) The new service will also be monitored for quality assurance by the 
West Berkshire Council Care Quality Team.

Page 196



Contract Award – Complex Needs Service for Clients with a Learning Disability

West Berkshire Council Executive 20 October 2016

(3) The new service will also be independently monitored by the Care 
Quality Commission (CQC)

5.4 Value for money (including bench marking and comparators)

(1) The intention is to award the most economically advantageous contract 
which will also deliver quality service to clients following a full 
procurement exercise. 

(2) A 2.5% saving on the previous contract has been recognised over the 
lifetime of the new contract 

(3) Procurement Programme Board have agreed the contact award

(4) TUPE may be applicable to any new contract

(5) A longer contract term of five plus three years will potentially help with 
value for money (VFM) as contractor will be able to spread the costs 
over the whole life of the contract

(6) A consultation exercise has been completed with residents/families. A 
market research exercise has also been completed with potential 
providers

6. Conclusion

6.1 Executive  notes the intention to award the contract for the complex needs service 
for clients with a learning disability and the resulting saving which results in a 2.5% 
annual saving on the current contract price

7. Appendices

7.1 Appendix A - Supporting Information

7.2 Appendix B – Equalities Impact Assessment

Page 197



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 198



West Berkshire Council Executive 20 October 2016

Appendix A

Contract Award – Complex Needs Service for 
Clients with a Learning Disability

1. Introduction/Background

1.1 The current contract supports clients with complex Learning Disability needs. This 
service is integral to ensuring the Council meets its requirements through the 
national Transforming Care agenda. Transforming Lives is a government initiative to 
ensure that people with a learning disability do not remain in hospital and are able 
to live meaningful lives out in the community. The Council is working with the CCG 
and other Berkshire authorities to understand the needs of this client group and 
ensure adequate provision is in place.  As a result, WBC is likely to need more of 
this sort of accommodation rather than less in the future as a clearer picture of 
future needs emerges.

1.2 West Berkshire Council purchases five beds (maximum occupancy) who all have 
assured tenancy agreements with the Registered Social Landlord (Sovereign 
Housing.)

1.3 The existing contract is nearing expiry (December 2016) and cannot be extended 
further and a replacement service is required. The service provider, Choice Care 
Group, the landlord, Sovereign Housing and the current residents and families, 
have been advised of the Council’s intention to undertake a new tender exercise 
leading to the award of a new contract.

1.4 The existing contract with Choice Care Group expires on 4 December 2016.  
Choice Care group currently have an outstanding rating with Care Quality 
Commission

1.5 Contracts & Commissioning have completed market research via an early supplier 
involvement exercise with potential providers in order to inform the updated 
specification.  There are five learning disability clients resident at Blagden Close 
and they, along with family members, were approached in May 2016 via a face to 
face consultation exercise in order for commissioners to get a better understanding 
of the strengths and weaknesses of the current service. The comments received 
have been used within the updated specification document.

2. Supporting Information

2.1 Nature of Services

(1) The service provides 24/7 domiciliary care and support including two 
waking night staff for adults who have autism/complex needs and 
present challenging behaviours.

(2) Bidders will be invited to supply a price per hour fixed for the duration 
of the contract.

Page 199



Contract Award – Complex Needs Service for Clients with a Learning Disability

West Berkshire Council Executive 20 October 2016

(3) The Contract hours are flexible and can go up or down dependent upon 
the needs of the clients. The number of required hours per week will be 
reviewed annually by Care Managers during the lifetime of the contract

2.2 Performance monitoring and outcomes 

(1) The new service will be an outcome based contract and monitored by 
the Contracts and Commissioning Team. A copy of the required 
outcomes is attached below

(2) The new service will also be monitored for quality assurance by the 
West Berkshire Council Care Quality Team.

(3) The new service will also be independently monitored by the Care 
Quality Commission (CQC)

2.3 Value for money (including bench marking and comparators)

(1) This tender exercise has recognised a 2.5% annual saving on the 
existing contract price

(2) Procurement Programme Board have agreed the contract award

(3) TUPE may be applicable to any new contract

(4) A consultation exercise has been completed with residents/families. A 
market research exercise has been completed with potential providers

3. Options for Consideration

3.1 Do nothing – this is not an option due to complex nature of client group and 
increased pressure to ensure that services in the community are available for this 
complex needs group in light of the  transforming care agenda

3.2 Bring service in house. However the Council does not currently have the skill set to 
deliver a complex needs service for clients with a learning disability

4. Conclusion

4.1 Operations Board notes the intention to award the framework contract for the 
complex needs learning disability service and the resulting saving which results in a 
2.5% annual saving on the current contract price

5. Consultation and Engagement

Shiraz Sheikh – Principal Solicitor
Mike Sullivan – Contracts and Performance Officer
Tandra Forster – Head of WBC Adult Social Care
Roz Haines - Business Manager Adult Social Care
Procurement Programme Board
Blagden House residents and families

Page 200



Contract Award – Complex Needs Service for Clients with a Learning Disability

West Berkshire Council Executive 20 October 2016

Subject to Call-In:
Yes:  No:  

The item is due to be referred to Council for final approval
Delays in implementation could have serious financial implications for the Council
Delays in implementation could compromise the Council’s position
Considered or reviewed by Overview and Scrutiny Management Commission or 
associated Task Groups within preceding six months
Item is Urgent Key Decision
Report is to note only
Strategic Aims and PrioritiesSupported:
The proposals will help achieve the following Council Strategy aim:

P&S – Protect and support those who need it
The proposals contained in this report will help to achieve the following Council Strategy 
priority:

P&S1 – Good at safeguarding children and vulnerable adults

Officer details:
Name: Karen Felgate
Job Title: Service Manager Contracts Commissioning and Systems
Tel No: 01635 519586
E-mail Address: karen.felgate@westberks.gov.uk

Page 201



Contract Award – Complex Needs Service for Clients with a Learning Disability

West Berkshire Council Executive 20 October 2016

Appendix B
Equality Impact Assessment – Stage One

We need to ensure that our strategies, polices, functions and services, current and 
proposed have given due regard to equality and diversity.  

Please complete the following questions to determine whether a Stage 2, Equality 
Impact Assessment is required.

Name of policy, strategy or function: Contract award complex needs service for 
people with a learning disability

Version and release date of item (if 
applicable): 1.0

Owner of item being assessed: Karen Felgate

Name of assessor: Karen Felgate

Date of assessment: 22/8/16

Is this a: Is this:

Policy No New or proposed No

Strategy No Already exists and is being 
reviewed Yes

Function No Is changing No

Service Yes

1. What are the main aims, objectives and intended outcomes of the policy, 
strategy function or service and who is likely to benefit from it?

Aims: Provide a complex needs service for people with a 
learning disability

Objectives: Supported housing for people with a complex learning 
disability

Outcomes: Contract award 

Benefits: Provision of a bespoke service

2. Note which groups may be affected by the policy, strategy, function or 
service.  Consider how they may be affected, whether it is positively or 
negatively and what sources of information have been used to determine 
this.

(Please demonstrate consideration of all strands – Age, Disability, Gender 
Reassignment, Marriage and Civil Partnership, Pregnancy and Maternity, Race, 
Religion or Belief, Sex and Sexual Orientation.)

Page 202



Contract Award – Complex Needs Service for Clients with a Learning Disability

West Berkshire Council Executive 20 October 2016

Group 
Affected What might be the effect? Information to support this

Age N/A

Disability

Remaining in hospital longer – 
bed blocking. Stress for families 
dealing with relatives whilst 
suitable care is sought

Ongoing review of needs 
information from service area. 
This will be sourced from data 
collated through the 
Transforming Lives project with 
other Berkshire authorities

Gender 
reassignment N/A

Marriage and 
civil 
partnership

N/A

Pregnancy and 
maternity N/A

Race N/A

Religion or 
belief N/A

Sex and 
sexual 
orientation

N/A

Further Comments relating to the item:

Service will have a positive impact upon the lives of people with a learning disability 
equipping them with the ability to live more successfully in the community rather than 
in a hospital setting.

3. Result 

Are there any aspects of the policy, strategy, function or service, 
including how it is delivered or accessed, that could contribute to 
inequality?

No

Please provide an explanation for your answer:

Will the policy, strategy, function or service have an adverse impact 
upon the lives of people, including employees and service users? No

Please provide an explanation for your answer: This service will deliver a 
complex needs service for people with a learning disability. There is a 
requirement to ensure there is a range of provision for this complex needs 
group within the community in light of the governments Transforming Care 
agenda. Transforming Care programme aims to reduce long stays in hospital for 
this client group and ensure they have a rich and fulfilling life in the community. 
WBC is working with CCG and other Berkshire West Authorities’ to promote and 

Page 203



Contract Award – Complex Needs Service for Clients with a Learning Disability

West Berkshire Council Executive 20 October 2016

achieve this agenda. 

If your answers to question 2 have identified potential adverse impacts and you 
have answered ‘yes’ to either of the sections at question 3, or you are unsure about 
the impact, then you should carry out a Stage 2 Equality Impact Assessment.

If a Stage Two Equality Impact Assessment is required, before proceeding you 
should discuss the scope of the Assessment with service managers in your area.  
You will also need to refer to the Equality Impact Assessment guidance and Stage 
Two template.

4. Identify next steps as appropriate:

Stage Two required No

Owner of Stage Two assessment:

Timescale for Stage Two assessment:

Stage Two not required:

Name:Karen Felgate Date:22/8/16

Please now forward this completed form to Rachel Craggs, the Principal Policy 
Officer (Equality and Diversity) for publication on the WBC website.

Page 204



Document is Restricted

Page 205

Agenda Item 14.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 209



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 217

Agenda Item 15.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 221



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2. Minutes
	6. Library Service Proposals (EX3181)
	6a  Library Service SupportingInfo
	6b. 2016-09-13 RedQuadrant West Berkshire Libraries needs assessment report

	7. Adoption of the Temporary Accommodation Strategy (EX3166)
	7a. TA Strategy Supporting Information Sep16

	8. Adoption of the Decant Policy (EX3168)
	8a. Decant Policy Supporting Information Sep16

	9. Joint Case Management Unit (EX3184)
	9a. Joint Case Management Unit - Appendix A

	10. Berkshire Community Equipment Service Contract Award (EX3162a)
	10a. Part 1 - Berkshire Community Equipment Service Contract Award - Appendix A  B

	11. Contract Award – Complex Needs Service for Clients with a Learning Disability (EX3175a)
	11a. Blagden supporting information Part I

	14. Berkshire Community Equipment Service Contract Award (EX3162b)
	14a. Part 2 - Berkshire Community Equipment Service Contract Award - Appendix A  B

	15. Contract Award – Complex Needs Service for Clients with a Learning Disability (EX3175b)
	15a. Blagden supporting information Part II


